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Death of a

el-seller

# ohnny? Is this Johnny?" Ellery said
into the phone.

1yas.” He was hauling the breath
from his lungs as if it had weights ai-
tached. “El . . . ?"

Yes, yes, what’s wrong?”’

IlDying.ll

“You? Wait! 1 mean, I'll be right
over.”

“M-m-m . . .” He stopped. There

was a gurgly sob. Then Benedict said,

“Murder,” in quite an ordinary way.
Eillery said swiftly, “Who, Johnny?

Tell me. Who did it?"

This time the dragged-out breath, in-
terminable.

And Johnny Benedict vttered his final
word, “Home,” and stopped again.

~
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And so Ellery stood there, watching the BOAC jet take the
Scot away

He was still standing alone on his island when 2 hand
touched his

He turned around and it was, of all people, Inspector
Queen.
“BL” his father said, squeezing his arm. “Come on, I'll
buy you a cup of coffee ”
_The old boy always comes through, Ellery thought over
his second cup n the dirport restaurant
“Son, you can’t monkey around in this business without
once m a while Tunning mto the back of your own hand,”
the Inspector said “It didn’t have to happen this way. You
let yourself get mvolved with the guy. If I allowed myself
that kind of foolishness I'd have had to toss my shield in
years ago Human flesh can’t stand it.”
Ellery raised his hand as if the other were on the Bible,
“So help me Hannah, I'll never make that mistake again ”
Having said this, he found his glance coming to rest on
Benedict and Marsh, 1n man-to-man conversation at the other
side of the diming room
All men, Shaw said, mean well

Not excludmg Ellery. What was this but the familar
Chance Encounter? Time lines converging for the moment, 2
brief nostalgia, then everyone on his way and no harm done?

Had he but known

It began, as such apparently meaningless reunions do,
with grips, grins, and manly warmth. The pair immediately
accepted Ellery’s mnvitation to move over to the Queen table
They had not laid eyes on him, and vice versa, since Harvard.

To Inspector Quecn, Marsh was just a citizen named Marsh.
.But he had certamly heard of Benedict—Johnny-B to the
Sorld of jet, a charter member of Raffles, fixed star of the

i ¢ columnists, crony of nobility, habitué of Monaco, Kitz-

*,¢l, and the yachting isles of Greece January mught find

dict at the wmter festival in Mélaga; February in

9



10 THRE LAST WOMAN IN IS LICT

Garmisch-Partenkirchen: March n I!im:mform i for the m:
tional games, April at the Songkran Testival (mh;fmgmﬁ’:
May in Copenhagen for the royal hallet; June " EP‘*;‘M
Downs for the English Oaks and at Ne, port and Cork for g
transatlantic yacht races, July at Henley and Bayreutn,
August at Mystic for the Outdoor Art Féstival; September
in Luxembourg for the wine, October in Tunn for the auto
show; November at Madison Square Garden for the horee
show; and December at Muakaoha Beach for the surfing
championships. These were only typical, Johnny-B had a
hundred other entertamnments up his sleeve. FEllery had always
thought of him as a run-for-your-life man without the patho-
logical stopwatch,

John Levering Benedict NI toiled not (tod, he hked to
argue, was man's silliest waster of time), neither did he
Sp except in the soctal whirl He was charming withowt the
obvious streak of rot that ran through his set, a fact that
Dever palled on the press assigned to the Beautifuf Pcople.
He was even handsome, a not common attribute of his class
(n whom the vintage tended fo sour)—on the slight side,
below-average tall, with fine fair hair women adored stroking,
and delicate hands and feet. He was, of course, sartomally
1deal, year after year he sauntered onto the Ten Best-Dressed
List. There was something anciently Grecian about him, a to-
the-bone beauty as fine as the texture of his hair

Oobnny-B’s paternal grandfather had staked out a stout
chunk of the Olympic Penmsula and the timberlands around
Lake Chelan to become one of the carliest lumber barons of
the Pacific Northwest, His father had nvested in shipping,
piling Pelion on Ossa—that Is to say, according to the possip,

of es to
Yohnns, In Johnay e, spending the resultant rich

ly 15 a matter of public record.
Ony apparently made mere dents, only enough to bruise;

he had 11ust 1c‘hvorced his third wife,
d b on the Tunaway tendencies of Johnny Benedict
Zrﬁ ?Jaéd to ?e Al Marsh Marsh, too, came from a socety {ree,
he grev;w I Frrriously nested 1 his own right from birth But
was not auguecs)t ;o ! an SPIN, from choice. With Marsh 1t
worked, gaid thésn of avarice or anxiety over his wealth; he

e
Of his world boreq 1':513 kgﬁ:{ hun well, because the Iife-style

t
He had takep top hono 1SM 1n vacuo had no appeal

P to a United States Supreme
» a0d emerged into the cynical realitieg of Ingstsh-
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ington and New York to found 2 law firm of his own that,
with the aid of his family's mnfluence and connections, quietly
acquired a sterling clientele and a hallmark reputation He had
offices 1n both cittes.

Experts in such matters nominated Marsh one of ﬂ;e
matrimonial catches of any season whatever. He was unfail-
ingly attractive to women, whom he handled with the same
tact he brought to his practice of law, and not only becausc
he was elusive. He was a bigger man than Benedict, darkly
rugged, with a smashed nose from his college wrestling days,
a jaw that looked as if it had been muned in Colorado, and a
naturally squinty set to the eyes—*"the Marlboro type,” Johnny
called hum affectionately~—who seemed born to saddle horses
and foreign cars. He had a fondness for both which he 1n-
dulged when he could find the time, and a passion for flyng;
he piloted his own plane with a grim devotion that could
only be explained by the fact that his father had died mn one

As 5o often happens in the case of men to whom women
respond, other men did not take to Marsh easily. Some called
it his aloofness, others his reserve, others his “standoffishness”;
whatever it was, 1t caused Marsh to have a very small circle
of friends Johnny Benedict was one of the few.

Therr relationship was not altogether personal. Johnny had
inherited from his father the services of an ancient and
prestigious law firm which had handled three generations of
Benedict investments, but for the management of his personal
affairs he relied on Marsh.

“Of course you just flew 1n from the moon,” Ellery said.
;ICt’s about the only place, from what I hear, you've never

en ”

“Matter of fact, I got off the jet from London fifteen min-
utes ago, and Al here got off with me,” Benedict said “We
had some business in London, and th-then there was that
auction at S-Sotheby’s ”

“Which of course you had to attend »

“Please,” Marsh said in a pained way. “Amend the auxiliary

verb I know of no law that compels 2 man to drop what
. Johnny just dropped for that Monet.”

Benedict Jaughed “Aren’t you always lecturing me about
spending my m-money so I've a fighting chance for a profit?”
He not only stammered, he had difficulty with his r’s, giving
his speech a definite charm It was hard to see a rapacious
capitalist 1n 2 man who pronounced 1t “pwofit.”

“Are you the guy who bought that thing?” Inspector Queen
exclaimed. “Paid all that loot for a hunk of old canvas and
a few francs’ worth of paint?”

“Don’t tell us what you got it for, Yohnny,” Ellery said.
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i 're going to con-
«Y can’t retain figures like that I suppose youre g
vert it mnto a dartboard for your game room, Orf something
ally kicky?” )
eqlll\/Ial}‘]sh sxg}llnaled for the waiter, “You've been listening 10
Johnny’s detractors Another round, pleasc. He really knows
art bb)

“I really do,” Benedict said, pronouncing it “weally.” “So
help m-me Rupley. I'd like you to see my c-collection Some-
time ” He added politely, “You, too, Inspector Queen. (

“Thanks, but mclude me out,” the Inspector said “My
son calls me a cultural barbarian, Behind my back, of course.
He’s too well brought up to say 1t frontwards.” .

“As for me, Johnny,” Ellery said, scowling at pater, “I
don’t believe I could bear it. I've never quite adjusted to the
unequal distribution of wealth.” ., )

“How about the unequal distribution of brams?" Benedict
retorted “From what I’ve read about you and the Glory Guild
case, not to m-mention all those other mental miracles you
bring off, you're a second cousin of Emstem’s » Something
m Ellery’s face drove the banter from Benedict’s voice. “Have
I said s-something?”

“Bllery’s fagged,” his father said quickly. “The Guild case
was a tough one, and just before that he’d been on a round-
the-world research trip i some far-out places where there’s
no charge for the bedbugs or trots, and that took the starch
out of his hude. As a matter of fact, I've some vacation time
commg, and we were thinking of taking off for a couple of
weeks of peace and quiet somewhere ”

“Ask Johnny,” Marsh said “He knows all the places, espe-
cially the ones that aren’t listed ™
“No, thanks,” Ellery said. “Not Johnny’s places”

“You've got the w'ong idea about me, Ellery,” Benedict
protested. “What's today?”

“Monday.”
‘“No, the date "
“March twenty-third.”

“Well, just before I flew to London-—on the nineteenth, if
you want to check——I was m Valencia for the Festival of St

Joseph. W-wild? Before that I attended the Vienna Spring
Pair, and before that—the t

hird, I think—I w. Tokyo f
the dollie festival. How’s ldo oedo 1o

that? C-cultural, wouldn’t you say?
Non-wastrel? Al, am I bra

1 gging agamn?”
Brag on, Johnny,” Marsh said

“That kind of self-puff

he%sl your mag}': ec?,Od knows it can use help ” P
€ry remar “Dad and I t

less, ah, elaborate ” were thinking of somethng

“Fresh air, long walks, fishing,” Inspector Queen said.
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“Ever go fishing, Mr. Benedict? I mean 1n a mountamn stream
all by your lone, with a rod that didn’t cost three hundred
dollars? The simple pleasures of the poor, that’s what we’re
after.”

“Then you may call me Doc, Inspector, because I have just
the prescription for you both.” Benedict glanced at Marsh.
“Are you with it, A1?”

“Ahead of you,” Marsh chuckled. “A rowboat gets you a
cabin cruiser Ellery doesn’t know.”

" “Kpnow?” Ellery said “Know what?”

“I own a place up 1n New England,” Johnny Benedict
said, “that very few people are aware I h-have Not a bit
doggy, plenty of w-woads, an unpolluted stream stocked with
you name it—and I've fished 1t with a spruce pole I cut and
trimmed myself, Inspector, and had splendid luck—and a
guest cottage about a quarter of a mile from the mam h-house
that’s as private as one of d-dear Arr’s deals It’s all terribly
heimisch, Bllery, and I know you and your f-father would
enjoy it. Youre welcome to use the cottage for as long
as you like I give you my oath no one will bother you.”

“Well,” Ellery began, “I don’t know what to say. . ..”

“I do,” the Inspector said promptly. “Thank you!”

“l mean, where ;n New England?”

Benedict and Marsh exchanged amused glances again
“Smallish town,” Benedict said “Doubt if you've heard of
it, Ellery Of no c-consequence whatsoever W’ightsville ”

“Wightsville?” Ellery stopped, “Wrightsville? You, Johnny?
Own property up there?”

“For years and years.”

“But I never knew!”

“Told you. I've kept it top-hush Bought it through a
dummy, just so I could have a place to let my hair d-down
when I want to get away from it all, which 1s oftener than
youw'd think.”

“‘I'm sorry, Johnny,” Ellery said, beating his breast. “T've
been an absolute stinker.”

“It’s modest—bourgeois, m fact Down my great-grand-
father’s alley. He w-was a carpenter, by the way.”

“But why Wrightsville, of all places?”

Benedict grinned. “You've advertised it enough ”

“Well, I swan. Wrightsville happens to be my personal
prescription for what periodically ails me ”

“As if he didn’t know,” Marsh saxd “He’s followed your
adventures, Ellery, the way Marcus Antonms followed
Caesar’s Johnny’s especially keen on your Wrightsville yarns.
Ke‘eps checking them for mistakes ”

“This, gentlemen, is gomng to be the resumption of a beau-
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tiful friendshup,” Ellery sasd “You sure we wouldn’t he put-
ting you out, Johnny?”

They went through the time-honored ritual of pmitc‘%linﬂ“g
reassurance, shook hands all around, and that cvenming

. ’ e a
messenger brought an envelope that contained two keys and
scribbled note.

“Dear Sour-Puss, The smaller ey 15 to the guest ho‘tjsfr;
The other unlocks the main house, 1n case you want to g¢ ai-
there for something—grub, booze, clothing, whatever, “Snot
vays stocked (So 15 the guest house, by the way, though ther
go bountifully ) Use anything you neced or v.ant.from ctk !
placc Nobody’s up there now (I have no lhive-in careta eﬂ;
though an old character named Morris Hunher comes out fro
town occasionally to leep an eye on things), and judging from
the foul mood you were 1n today you necd all thc heahng
solitude my retreat in Wnghtsville can provide. Bonne chance,
and don’t grouch your old man—he looks as if he can use
some peace, too.

Fondly,
Johnny

PS I may come up there soon myself. But I won't bother
you Not unless you want to be bothered.”

The Queens set down at Wrightsville Airport a few minutes
Past noon the next day.

The trouble with Wrightsville—and Wrightsville had devel-
oped trouble, n Ellery’s view—was that 1t had perfidiously
kept step with the twentieth century.

Where his favorite small town was concerned Ellery was
a mossback conservative, practically a reactionary He was
all for Thursday might band concerts i1 Memorial Park, with

est, and Saturday the marketing day,
with the black-red mills of Low Village shut down and High
Village commerce swiging
He felt a special attachment for the Square (which was
E‘emcll-%c’) lmthHloti %)en%lhieiy of two-story buildmngs (except for
: el, which towered fi
House, a three-and-attic Revoluti yoera oy, ood Upham

onary-era mn), imn 1ts mathe-



THL FIRST LIFE 15

sculpture, and at 1ts feet a trough which had watered healf a
dozen generations of Wrightsville horseflesh. The Square was
like a wheel with five spokes leading from 1ts hub State
Street, Lower Main, Washington, Lincoln, Upper Dade; the
grandest of these being State with its honor guard of century-
old trees, the repository of the gilt-domed red-brick Town
Hall and the County Court House buillding (how many times
had he walked up the alley to the side entrance that opened
into the Wrightsville police department'), the Carnegie Li-
brary across the street (where it was still possible to find
books by Henty, Richard Harding Davis, and Joseph Herges-
heimer!), the Chamber of Commerce building, the Wrights-
ville Light & Power Company, and the Northern State Tele-
phone Company; and far from least, at the State Street
entrance to Memorial Park, the Our Boys Memoral and the
American Legion bandstand About the Square 1n those days
had been displayed some of the finest fruit of Wrightsville’s
heritage—the tny gold John F. Wright, Pres on the dusty
windows of the Wrightsville National Bank, the old Bluefield
Store, the “Mimuikin Road” on the street marker visible from
the corner window of the Bon Ton, and half a dozen other
names passed down from the founding families.

Upper Whistling Avenue, which crossed State Street a block
northeast of the Square, led up to Hill Drive, where some of
the oldest residential properties had stood (even older ones,
great square black-shuttered clapboard affairs, most gone to
pot even mn Ellery’s earliest acquaintance, occupied the farther
reaches of State Street). Upper Dade ran northwest up to
North Hill Drive, which had been taken over by the estates
of Wrightsville’s nouveaux riches (a nouveau riche, in the
view of the Wrights, Bluefields, Dades, Granjons, Mmuikins,
Livingstons, et al , being anyone who had made his pile after
the administration of Rutherford B Hayes).

Most of this was gone The store fronts of the Square were
like the facades of the commercial buildings fronting Ventura
Boulevard in the San Fernando Valley running out of Holly-
wood, one of Ellery’s favorite abominations—lofty modern-
1sms in glass, stucco, redwood, and neon absurdly dwarfing
the mean little stores that cowered behind them The Hollis,
which risked a new marquee just before World War II, had
Tecklessly undertaken a complete face-lift, coming out con-
temporary and (to his mind) disgusting The New York
Department Store and the High Village Pharmacy had van-
ished, and the Bon Ton had taken over the entire plinth
between Washmgton and Lincoln Streets and rebuilt from the

ground up what to Ellery’s sickened eye was a mumature
Korvette’s. The Atomic War Surplus Outlet Store was of
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course no more, and the eastern arc of the Squarc was almost
W
all(;lg the Tugh ground to the north, matters,swere even worse.
befl the invading de
Lovely old Hill Drive had fallen before hich
velopers (a few houses had been saved, after a }asl—n, e
battle by the Landmarks Commussion of the Wr;ghtsgx :
Historical Society, as “historic sites™); the old Hiil granded
was today a solid rank of high-mise apartment pmldmgq,
frowning down on the town below like concentration camg
guards Many of the extensive estates on North Hiill Drive haf
been sold and the section rezoned for one-acre stands ©
middle-income private homes Wrightsville’s humbler suburbs
mushroomed to beyond the awrport, where whole new com-
munities with regional monickers like New Village angd Ma-
hogany Acres had sprouted. At least thirty-five farms Ellery
had known and cherished were extinct There were new fac-
tories by the dozen, chiefly neat little plants by the waysgdc
making electronic parts on subcontract to the giants Working
for the Department of Defense Even Twin Hills and Sky
Top Road, to which the well-to-do had inevitably fled, were
begmning to grow tentacles
And most of the old families had withered away, or the
culls of thewr descendants had given up, hacked off their roots,
and rerooted elsewhere
Stll, to Ellery 1t was Wrightsville The cobbled streets of
Low Village remamned, the poor bemg America’s last care-
takers of old things. The Willow River that serviced the muills
ran as yellow and red and turquoise as ever without noticeable
effect on the immortal old willows and alders on 1ts banks
that sucked on 1ts poisonous brew Al Brown’s Ice Cream
Parlor and the refaced Wrnightsville Record building on Lower
Main off the Square stood their ground And the surrounding
hillsides still beamed benign, with the muscular Mahoganies
beyond promusing to withstand any onslaught of man except
a saturation attack by hydrogen bombs, which was unlikely,
Wrightsville being too unimportant (the town kept reassuring
itself) in the scheme of things
So, to Ellery's eye, Wrightsville with all 1ts flaws was a
still-viable Shangri-la
He hired a Cougar at the car-rental agency in the airport
and the Queens, gladly gulping lungfuls of genuine aw, drove
out to Benedict’s hideaway.

From the way Benedict had talked Ellery expected a dilet-

tante twenty or thirty acres They found mstead a two-
hundred-acre spread of timber, water,

and uncut pasture
halfway between Wrightsville and Shwnn Corners, 1 a farmed-
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out section of the valley where it began to creep up mto the
northwestern hills, The property was barred off by tall steel
fencing and posted agamnst hunting, fishing, and trespassing
generally, mn large and threatening signs bolted to the fence

“Used to be all dairy farms out this way,” Ellery com-
plamed as he got out to open the mamn gate “The sweetest

herds you ever saw.”

“Well, don’t blame Benedict,” his father said. “They were
probably given up before he bought them out. Small farms
are gomg out of busmess all over New England ”

“Stdl,” Ellery carped, and he got back into the car with
a slam.

The dirt road took them past the mamn house, which was
a few hundred yards in from the entrance, apparently one of
the original farmhouses of the property, a spready old two-
story clapboard, with half a dozen chimneys, that appeared to
house twelve or fifteen rooms A quarter of a mile farther in
they came to the guest house, a five-room Cape Cod-type
cottage with a recent look. It lay deep mn the woods, o a
glade that bad been hacked out to let the sun through. As
they got out of the Cougar they heard a brook that seemed to
be m a hurry and was making a great deal of noise about it.

“Sounds as if we could cast a line night out of the bedroom
window,” the Inspector said “Man, what a way to livel”

“If somebody else bakes the bread,” Ellery said sourly.

“Ellery, what mn hell 1s the matter with you?” his father
cried “If you think I’'m going to put up with a prima donna
for two weeks .. | We’'d better have this out right now It
was plam damn decent of your friend to offer you this place.
The least you can do if you feel like bellyaching 1s keep it
to yourself. Or so help me I'll take the next plane back to
New York!”

It was a long time smce Inspector Queen had talked to
him that way, and 1t so astounded Ellery that he backed off
and shut up.

They found the mside of the cottage as hewmrnisch as Bene-
dict had advertised No Park Avenue decorator had been
at work here The furmiture—Ellery checked the labels—

came from A. A Gilboon’s in High Village, and the house-
hold fixtures and hardware had been purchased at Clint Fos-
dick’s or Hunt & Keckley'’s, or both “Bon Ton” was written
all over the rest It was a homely, cheerful hittle place that
was long on chintz, “peasant” ware, and rag rugs, and had a
fireplace 1 the living room that made his palms itch for the
poker. The shelves held books; there was a sterco and a col-
lection of cartridge tapes, and, tucked away n a corner as if
to say there was no law requiring its use, a portable color TV.
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The Inspector volunteered to unpack and get them settled
while Ellery drove down mto town to supplement the larder.
They had found plenty of steaks, chops, and poultry mn the
freezer and 2 generous supply of canned goods, but they
needed perishables—milk, bread, butter, eggs, fresh frmt and
vegetables. «

“Pick up something, too, son,” the Inspector said, “at
what’s-his-name’s, Dunc MacLean’s, Rye, Scotch, vodka, any-
thing to warm the bones.”

“Unnecessary ” Ellery waved “You mussed that retract-
able bar m the living room, dad, It’s stocked with everythng
from absinthe to Zubrovka ”

He passed up Logan’s Market on Slocum between Upper
Whistling and Washmgton—he was known there—in favor of
the supermarket across the street, where he mught expect t0
go unnoticed As 1t was, he had to avert his face to avord
two women he thought he recogmized The trip mto town
depressed him further, the changes were too numerous and,
to his eye, all for the worse He was glad to get back to the
cottage, where he found his father in slacks and an open-
ﬁlescl;i:.hm loling before a fire with a glass of brown waters 1

t.

“Yes, swree,” the Inspector said happily, “this 1s the bfe.”

The old man gave Ellery his head He nesther pushed
nor pulled, contenting humself with a suggestion here or there

and saymg nothing if Ellery begged off. On Wednesday the
Inspector spent most of the day fishing (1n spite of Benedict’s
boast about cutting his own spruce pole, the old man found a
roomful of sporting equipment that included some superb
rods) and hauled 1n a mess of gorgeous trout for thewr dinner.
Ellery spent that day on hus spine’s end, listening to Mozart
and Bach, with a fillip of Tyuana Brass, and occasionally
snoozing off. That might he slept the might through without
benefit of sleeping pill or a dream he could recall on awaken-
ing—his first unbroken sleep in weeks, he had been Living on
nightmares. On Thursday the Queens explored the property, .
trampmng over most of Benedict’s two hundred acres and
coming back ravenous, they devoured a couple of prodigious
steaks Ellery charcoal-broiled on the backyard barbecue along
with some husky baked potatoes topped with his favorite
sour crcam and chives The Inspector pretended not to notice
that Ellery polished his plate—the old man had not seen him
finish 2 dinner for wecks
Ellery had just turned on the dishwasher when he was
startied by a jarring buzz It scemed to come from what
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looked like an intercom He snatched the receiver and said,
“Who the devil 1s this?”

“Johnny.” Benedict’s voice said “How’s the patient?”

“Johnny? I'm just beginming to unlax ” Had Benedict fol-
lowed him up? “Oh, I see, this thing is hooked up to the mam
house Two-way?”

“Yes. Ellery, I know I promised not to b-bother you—"
.“When did you get in?”

“Late this afternoon Look, there’s s-something I have
to tell you Is 1t all right if I walk down and palaver for
a mnute?”

“Don’t be a horse’s patoot ”

Ellery hung up and went to the bedroom the Inspector
was using The old man was just getting into his pajamas

“Dad, Benedict’s here Wants to talk to us Or to me
He’s coming over from the mam house now Do you want to
sit in on this?” -

They looked at each other.

“You sound mysterious,” Inspector Queen said

“I'm not lookmg for trouble, you and God believe you
me,” Ellery said “But there’s a smell about this ”

“All night But I hope you're wrong, son ”

Ten mmutes later Ellery admitted a preoccupied Johnny-B
—preoccupied, and something more Worried? Whatever it
is, Ellery assured himself, I'm staymng out of it with both feet.

“Come m, Johnny ”

“Forgive the pajamas and robe, Mr Benedict,” the In-
spector said “T had a strenuous day pacing off your property.
Iwas just going to bed ”

“Drmnk, Johnny?”

“Not just now, thanks ” Benedict sank into a chair and
looked around His smile was perfunctory Something was
wrong, all right The Queens did not glance at each other.
“Like 1t up here?”

“l want to thank you properly, Johnny. I'm really be-
holden This 1s exactly what I needed.”

“Ellery and me both,” the Inspector said

Benedict’s fine hand fluttered. Here 1t comes, Ellery
thought “Euery?”

“Yes, Johnny ”

:i‘What I want to tell you. I’'m h-having guests this w-week-
en ”

“Oh?”

“No, no, I'm not booting you out! They'll all stay at the
maimn house Acres of room there. Al Marsh is due up to-
morrow, and Al’'s secretary—girl pamed Susan Smith—is

-
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It
coming Saturday evening Also duec tomorrow—'" Benedict

»
hesitated, made a face, and shrugged “—my three cxes.
“Bx-wives?”

“Ex-wives " .

“Excuse me for gawking, Johnny What 1s this, Home-
coming Week?” . “T'ye
The Inspector decided to mmprove on the light note q
always read what an interesting life you lead, Mr. Benedict,

but this 15 ridiculous!” L

They all laughed, Benedict weakly “I wish it were :115
funny as that Well The pomnt 1s, I don’t want you pcople
to be mn any way discombobulated There'’s nothing social or
nostalgic about this get-together. Strictly b-busiess, if you
know w-what I mean »

“I don’t, but that’s all right, Johnny, You don’t owe us an
explanation,”

“But I can’t have you thinking I'm an Indian giver. You
won’t be disturbed, I give you my w-word

It all seemed so unnecessary that Ellery had to fight down

his curiosity They were a long way from the Harvard Yard,
and he realized suddenly that

Johnny-B that mattered He had
me But had Benedict had an ulterior purpose 2
Having given his word, Benedict stopped talking He

m The sience became de-
pressing

“Something wrong, Johnny?” Ellery asked. And cursed
himself for having opened the door

“Does 1t sh-show that much? T think Yl take that drink
now, Ellery No, I'll make 1t myself **

Benedict jumped up

ruptly, “I have a favor to ask
favors, 1 don’t know why . ..
but this one I have to »
“We’re under obligation to
spector said, smiling, “not the
“There’s hardly anyth

You, Mr Benedict,” the In-
other way around »
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table “T'll sign this and date it, and I ask you b-both to
w-witness Will you?”

“Naturally ”

“Of course, Mr. Benedict.”

They noted how he concealed the holograph text with his
forearm as he wrote When he was finished he flapped the
sheet over so that only the bottom lay exposed He indicated
where the Queens were to sign, and they did so He returned
Ellery’s pen, produced a long envelope, folded the will, slipped
it into the envelope, sealed 1t, hesitated, and suddenly offered
it to Inspector Queen

“Could I ask you to k-keep this for me, Inspector? For a
short w-while?”

“Well . sure, Mr Benedict”

“I don’t blame you for looking kind of puzzied,” Benedict
said iz a hearty way “But there’s no big deal about this.
Marsh is going to draw up a formal will for me over the
weekend—that’s why his secretary s commng—but 1 wanted
something down on paper in the meantime ” He laughed, 1t
seemed forced “I’m getting to the age when life looks more
and more uncertain., Here today and here tomorrow—
m-maybe Right?”

They laughed dutifully, and when Benedict finished his
Scotch he said good might and left He seemed relieved.

Ellery was not He shut the front door carefully and said,
“Dad, what do you make of all that?”

“A lot of question marks” The Inspector stared at the
blank envelope m his hands “With the money he’s got—and
lawyers like Marsh—it’s a cinch he’s had a formal will prac-
tically from birth So this thing he wrote out in longhand
that we just witnessed supersedes the previous one ”

“Not merely supersedes it, dad,” BEllery saild “Changes it,
or why a new will at all? The question 1s, what does it change
it from, and what does it change 1t t0?”

-“Neither of which is your business,” his father pointed out.

“This obviously involves his ex-wives,” Ellery murmured,
he was back at his pacing, the Inmspector noted uneasily.
ﬂﬁuimess weekend . No, I don’t care for the smell of

S

“I can see I'll have to put off that shuteye for a while”

The Inspector went to the bar. “I think you can use one,
son  What'll it be?”

“‘I‘;J(;;Lhmg No, thanks >
o are the lucky ladies?”
:‘Vv’hat?” Y
:I'he women he married Do you know?”
Of course I know The Benedict Saga’s always fasciated
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me His first wife came out of a chorus line mn Vegas.w:s
bosomy redhead named Marcia Kemp, a sexpot w l0 i
thick with some really tough characters until Johnny p ue
her out of the state and made an honest woman of her.
“Marcia Kemp ” The old man nodded *I rcmcmbcrﬂnow.
That one lasted—how long was 1t? Three months?
“Closer to four Mrs Benedict number two was Audrey
Weston, a blonde with acting ambitions who didn’t have the
talent to make 1t on Broadway or in Hollywood. She gets ?:
small part now and then, mostly in TV commercials Bu

Johnny evidently thought she was Oscar or Emmy material—
for five or six months, anyway ”

“And number three?” the Inspector asked, sipping s
Chivas

“Number three,” Ellery said,
to recall ” He was still pacing
paid special attention to Alice
came from Wrightsville
that titillated me, although

“I have particular reason
“Alice Tierney The reason I
Tierney is that I'd read she
One of the columnists Naturally
the name Ti€rney was unfamiliar
to me Or maybe that’s why Anyway, 1t seems that this
Tierney girl—in her news photos a rather plain-looking
brunette—was a trained nurse Johnny ran his Maserat1 or
whatever he was driving then off a country road—it must have
been around Wrightsville somewhere, though the piece dxdn’g
Say—and was laid up for a long stretch at his ‘country home,

the story said, which I realize now must have been the main
house here If Wrightsville ever came 1nto the stories I missed
1, which is unlikely, my hunch is that Johnny paid one of
his patented quid pro

he married the Tierney gul

t—nine and a half months He was
a month or so ago

grl, a New York no-talent
-Jane small-town nurse,” the

Inspector mused nd as if they have much m

common *

““F(g%ey v Eh tc;]ugh %ey’re all huge women Amazons”
» One of those e Iittle for
Mount Everest M guy who keeps shootmg fo

ust grve- fellows like Benedict a sense of
power, like when they get b
car”

ehind the wheel of a souped-up

“Doesn’t sou

»" Ellery said with a grin  “I’ll have
to give you a couple of ex-and-psychiatry books appropri-
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ately marked .. And he’s asked all three up for the week-
end, along with his lawyer, for a change of will—or at least

he says so—and he’s kind of nervous about it all. You know
something, dad?”

“What now?”
“I don’t like 1t One bit”

The Inspector brandished his glass “And you know what,
sonny? Youre gomg to quit this Tacing up and down like that
road runner in the commercials and you’re going to sit down
here and watch the Thursday nmight movie—right now—and

this weekend you'll keep your schnozz strictly out of your
friend Benedict’s affairs—whatever they arel”

Ellery did his best, which faltered only once On Friday
evening after dmner he felt the healthful need to walk
Making an instant diagnosis, the Inspector said, “I'll join you ”
When they got outdoors Ellery turned m the direction of the
hunted like a yellow hound dog His father seized the quiver-
mg paw “This way,” he said firmly “We’ll go listen to the
music of the brook ” “Poetry really doesn’t become you, dad
If I'd wanted to communicate with Euterpe I'd have used
the stereo.” “Ellery, youre not gomg down to that house!”
“Now come on, dad I'm not gomg to barge m on them or
anything like that” “Damn it all to helll” shouted the old
man, and he stamped back mto the cottage

‘When Ellery got back his father said anxiously, “Well?”
“Well what, dad?”

:‘What’s gomg on down there?”
‘I thought you weren’t interested ”

. “1 didn’t say I wasn’t interested I said we oughtn’t to get
mvolved »

“House 1s lit up like Times Square No sounds of girlish
laughter, however It can’t be much of a party ”

The Inspector grunted “At least you had the sense to turn
around and come back ”

-

But they were not to remain uninvolved A few minutes
Past noon on Saturday—the old man was about to lie down
for a nap—there was a knock on the door and Ellery opened

it to a very tall blond girl with the bony structure and
empty face of a fashion model

(1% o)
I'm Mrs Johnny Benedict the Two,” she said in a drawl
that sounded Method-Southern to Ellery’s ears

“Of course You're Audrey Weston,” Ellery said

That’s my professional name May I come m?”

Ellery glanced at tus father and stood aside The Inspector
;ame forward quickly “I'm Richard Queecn,” he said. He

ad always had an eye for pretty guls, and this one was
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prettier than most, although in a blank sort of wayk Hm;l é lql?se
looked as if 1t had been stamped out of a mold, lke N

“Inspector Queen, 1sn't 1t? Johnny's told us you ttwoknock
staymg at the guest cottage—practically threatened ? xnoc
our heads together if we didn’t leave you alone So, of ¢ '

here T am ™ She turned her gray, almost colorless, e}(}rﬁs on
Ellery “Aren’t you gomg to offer me a drink, dahling had
She used her eyes and hands a great deal. Somconc

evidently told her that she was the Tallulah Bankhead type,
and she had never got over 1t.

< he leaned
Ellery gave her a Jack Dansel and a chair, and s ]
back vlv?;h her Jong legs crossed and a long cigarct smoldering

m the long fingers with the long fingernails that held the glass
She was dres

sed 1 a floppy sk blouse 1n fashionably wild
colors and a calfskin skirt that was more mini than most, }10
ber cost, for 1t revealed shanks rather than thighs A match-

Ing leather jacket was draped over her shoulders “And aren’t

you wondering why I disobeyed Johnny?” she drawled.
“I was sur

e you'd get around to it, Miss Weston,” Ellery
said, smiling “I ought to tell you right off that I'm here with
my father at Johnny’s kind mvitation to get away from prob-
lems This 1s a problem, 1sn’t 1t7”

“If 1t 15— the Inspector began

“My evenmg gown 15 missing,”

Audrey Weston said
“Missing?” the Inspector said “A dress?”
“What do

you mean mussing?” Ellery said, leaning mnto
the wind “Mislaid?”

((Gone ”
“Stolen?”

“You want to hear about it, dahling?”
“Oh Well As long as you’re here ”
“That gown set me back a bundle It

an Ohrbach co

py of a Givenchy origmal, with an absolutely
legal back and a V-front open to the be

l—navel And man,
I want 1t back! Su

Te it was stolen You don’t just mislay a
gown like that. At least I don’t ”
Her speech had

been accompanied by so many vehement

that Ellery felt tired for her

“It probably has the simplest explanation, Miss Weston
eén did you see 1t last9”

“I wore it to dinper last night—Johnny Iikes formality
with women around, and when 1n Rome, y’know Even if
the Roman 35 your ex
So she expecte

d to get something out of J -B this
weekend Probab g s Hiloohany

Ellery tucked the
ay Asif he were on the case Cage? Which case?
DO case Or was there?

s all black sequins,
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“] hung 1t 1 my closet when I went to bed last night,
and I noticed 1t hanging there this morning when I dressed.
But when 1 came up from brunch to change my outfit the
evening gown wasn’t hanging there any more I ransacked
the room, but it was gone ”

“Who else is staying at the house?”’

“Al Marsh, Johnny, of course, and the two other exes,
that Kemp tramp and Miss Yokel from Wrightsville here,
Alice Tierney, and what he ever saw in her—! Oh, and two
characters from town who make like a maid and a butler,
but they went home last night after they cleaned up. They
were back this morning and 1 asked both of them about my
gown They looked at me as if I were out of my everloving
mimd ”

If one of them is Morris Hunker, baby, Ellery chuckled to
himself, you ain’t seen nothin’ yet

“Dhd you ask any of the others?”

“Where do you think I’'m from, Dumbsville? What good
would that have done, dahling? The one who lifted it would
only deny it, and the others. . oh, it’s just too embarrassing!
Do you suppose I could impose on you to, well, find it for me
without ramising a fuss? I'd go poking around Marcia’s and
Alice’s bedrooms, but I'd be sure to get caught, and I don't
want Johnny getting, I mean thinking, well, you know what
Imean, Mr Queen”

For the sake of the amenities he was willing to concede
that he did, although in truthhe did not As for the Inspector,
he was watching Ellery like a psychiatrist observing if the
patient would curl up i fetal position or spring to the attack.

“Nothing else of yours was taken?”

“No, that was it. Just the gown ”

or“lSéems Tto me,”blnspecté)r Queen said, “either Miss Kemp
155 Tierney borrowed it for som i K

st aap ey, e reason, and if you'd

“I can see you don’t know anythin i

g about Paris

gowns, Inspector,” the model-actress drawled

Rembrandts or something The , :
couldn’t w W
gving themselves aw : : nt wear 1t without

1t's such a mystery » ay. So why take 1t? Y'know? That’s why
‘%:i about the maid?” Bllery asked
hundreg "tub? She’s five-foot-two and must weigh two

S%l’lel S(;e What I can do, Miss Weston,” he said.
tion mfr) ayed her exit scene seductively and with much emo-
oo ]gzpmg out at last after half a dozen more “dahlings”
scent of hg trailing goodbye arm, and leaving him with the
fadame Rochas Perfume for Ladies The moment

-typ e
“They’re like
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« ’ t gomng
she was gone the Inspector barked, “Ellery, youre no
to start poking around for some stupid evening gown and
spoil your vacation—and minel”
“But I just promised—"

“So you're unrehable,” the Inspector snorted, setthng down
with the Wrightsville Record Ellery bad picked up n High
Vilsee g otk 1p

“] thought you were going to take a nap

“Who gc?ul?i sleep now? That phony knocked it all out of
me Now that's that, Ellery Understand?”

But that was not that At thirtecn mmutes past one the
door called agam, and Ellery opened to a vision 1n flesh,
curves, and genuine red hair—a rather large vision, to be sure.
She was almost as tall as Ellery, with the build of a back-row
showgirl long-muscled legs, long dancer’s thighs, and a bust
of Mansfieldian proportions She was dressed for the greatest
effect, m briefs and a halter, with a coat loosely open over all;

it showed a great deal of her. Her flaming hair was modestly
bound 1n a scarf.

“Marcia Kemp,” Ellery said

“Now how m Chrst’s name did you know that?” The
redhead had a deep, coarse, New York voice—from the heart
of the Bronx, Ellery guessed Her green eyes were ghttery with
anger

“I’ve had an advance description, Miss Kemp,” Ellery said
with a grm  “Come mm  Meet my father, Inspector Queen
of the New York City police department ”

“Grandpa, fuzz 1s just what I need,” the Kemp woman
exclaimed “You’ll never guess what’s happened to me In
Johnny-B’s own house, mind youl”

“What was that?” Ellery asked, ignoring his father’s look.

“Some creep heisted my wig”

“Your wig?” the Inspector repeated involuntarily.

“My green onel That piece of shrubbery set me back a
whole hundred and fifty bucks I go down to breakfast this
mornmg, or lunch, or whatever the hell 1t was, and when I
got back .. no wig!/ Can you tie that? It left me so goddam
uptight . I need a shot. Straight bourbon, Queeme baby,
and lean on it.”

He poured her enough bourbon to make a Kentucky
colonel stagger She tossed 1t down as 1f 1t were a milk shake

and held the glass out for more He refilied it. This one she
nursed 1n her powerful hands
““You last saw this wig of yours when, Miss Kemp?”
1 wore it last might to dinner along with my green lamé
gzmﬁg gown Johnny likes his women to do the dress-up

was still on my dressing table when I went downstairs
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rning. When I come back it’s gone with the wind, If
tlhlihgg’)t kn%w how Johony hates a rumble I'd tear those
bitches’ luggage limb from limb! Could you find 1t ’:ior me,
Ellery? Hush-hush, hke? Without Johnny knowing?

“There's no chance you mislaid 1t?” The Inspector asked, -
hopefully.

“Gramps, I ask you, How do you mislay a green wig?”

“A dress and a wig,” Bllery yapped after he got rid of the
redhead. “Something mussing from each of the first two
ex-wives Is 1t possible that the thard—?"

“Son, som,” -his father said i not entirely convincing re~
proof “You promised ”

“Yes, dad, but you'll have to admit....”

And mdeed Bllery was looking more like his old self, with
a near-jaunty bounce to his step and at least a half sparkle in
his eye that for some time had been mussing altogether. The
Inspector consoled himself with the thought that it was likely
one of thase pesky little problems, with the simplest of ex-
planations, that would keep Ellery harmlessly occupied while
time and river washed away the stams left by the Glory
Guild case.

So, when at midafternoon Ellery suddenly said, ‘“Look,
dad, if there’s any logic in all this, the third one ought to be
missing something, too. I think I'll stroll over .

. ,” the In-
spector said simply, “I'll be down at the brook with a rod,
son.”

Benedict had had a sixty-foot swimmng pool built behind
the mam house It was still covered by a winter tarpaulin,
but summer furniture had been set out on the flagstoned
terrace at the rear of the old farmhouse that he had had laid
down m the reconstruction, and there Ellery found Alice
Tiemney stretched out m a lounging chair, sunning herself,
'11;‘131: i{;}l‘;ﬂgﬂ afternoon was warm, with a gusty Iittle breeze, and
for ohe : tlm::{ere reddened as if she had been lying there
The moment he laid eyes on her Elle gnized
Ty Teco her.
gof?& ong of hus trips to Wrightsville he had had to visit the
sheph T1 n that occasion, attendmng the object of his visit
. e a?th €L mn a nurse’s cap and uniform—a large girl with
plan y&utt, a tors:a of noble dimensions, and features as
L 1asss ; W Village's Eobbles and as agreeable to the eye.
DT s i L e
Eﬂery Quee God’ JIIME Up » “Youre the great
o dox?’} h;’c‘las gift to Wrightsville

to be ”
mtg a Wrought-iron nasty about i,

chair. Ellery sad, slippmng
youtl mean it.”
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“You do? Who calls me that?”

him-

“] ots of people around here” Her cool blue eyes SDil
mered m thg sxfn “Of course, I've heard some say thg gaf’t'
comes from the devil, but you'll find sour-pusscs everyw Cfcce

“That’s probably because of the risc m th'a’: cnime rate sin
1 began comimng here Smoke, Miss Tierncy? futzl

“Certainly not And you oughtn’t to, t:lth?l’. ”Oh, u
There I go agamn 1 can never forget my tramming &

She w%s mg mousy slacks and jacket that did nothing ﬂl)r
her, and he thought her long straight hair style was exgcctﬂy
wrong for her face and size But it all tended to dwin g
away agamst her general air of niceness, which he suspecte .
she cultivated with great care, He could understand whad
Jobnny Benedict, with his superficial view of women, ha
found so appealing about her. .

“I'm so pgll)ad yogﬁ decided to come out of your shell, Ahcﬁ
Tierney went on anunatedly “Johnny threatened us Ellth a
sorts of punishment if we didn’t let you strictly alone

“Im still not diving back imto the drink As a matter of
fact, 1 came here for only one reason* to ask what may strike
you as a peculiar question ” .

“Oh?”" She did seem puzzled “What's that, Mr Queen?

Ellery leaned toward her. “Have you missed anything
today?”

“Missed? Like what?”
“Something personal Say an article of clothing ”
CKNO 1

“You sure?”

“Well, I suppose something could be . . . I mean I haven't

taken inventory ” Alice Tierney laughed, but when he did not
laugh back she stopped. “You really mean it, Mr. Queen!”

“I do  Would you mind going to your room right now—
quietly, Miss Tierney—and checking over your things? I'd_
rather no one m the house knows what you’re about.”

She rose, drew a breath, smoothed her jacket, then launched
herself toward the house rather like an oversized mussile

Ellery waited with the patience of a thousand such inter-
ludes, when a puzzle loomed which gave off no immediate
meaning, only a promise for the future.

She was back 1 ten minutes “That 1s queer,” she said,
plumping back mto the 1

I a ounge chair. “A pair of my gloves ™
Gloves?” Ellery looked at her hands They were big and
capable-looking “What kind of gl

‘ oves, Miss Tierney?”
wn%ong”evenmg gloves White The only such pair I had
me )

::You're sure you had them.”
I wore them to dinner last night.” The red in her cheeks
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deepened “Johnny prefers his women to look, oh, untouch-
able, I suppose it's what it 1s at bottom He hates slobby-
gobs

“White evening gloves, Is anything else of yours missing?”’
“Not that I know of.”

“You checked?”

“I looked through everything Why m the world should
someone steal a pair of gloves? There’s not much use for
evening gloves in Wrightsville. Among the class of people
who'd steal, I mean -

“That, of course, is the problem. Miss Tierney, I'm gomg
to ask you to keep this to yourself About the theft, and about
the fact that I've been asking questions.”

“If you say so, of course ”

“By the way, where is everybody?”

“They’re getting ready to drive over to the airport to pick
up Al Marsh’s secretary, a Miss Smith. She’s due in at the

field at five . Annie and Morris are starting dinner
the kitchen.”

“Morris Hunker?”

“Is there more than one?” Alice Tierney grmned., “You
know Morris, I take 1t.”

“Oh, yes But who’s Annie?”

“Annie Findlay.”

“Pindlay . ., 7"

“Her brother Homer used to run the garage down on Plum
Street. You know, where High and Low sort of meet.”
“Homer Findlay and his Drive Urselfl For heaven’s sake.
How is Homer?”

_“Peaceful,” Miss Tierney sad. “Cardiac arrest I closed
lsEeyes m the Emergency Room at WGH six years ago ”

i lery left, shakng his head at Old Mortality, And other
ings

Inspector Queen had taken the Cougar down into town
and came back chorthng over a find He had stumbled on a
store, new to Ellery, which sold fresh fish and shellfish—"not
frozen, mind you, son, you frecze fish, shellfish especrally,
and you wind up losing half the flavor Wait till you sce
what I've got planned for the menu tonight.”

“What, dad?”

1 snid wait, didn’t 1? Don't be so nosy ™' .

bat his father scrved that cvening was he said, an
“Irish bouillabaisse,” which Ellery found ndistinguishable
from the Mediterrancan variety except that it hafi bc?n mnde
by an Inshmun who left out the saffron—- can't abide zih;:'
Yellow stuff," the chef declared. It was delicious and Elle
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gave 1t 1its duc  But after dinner, when the Inepctor ::ug'-'
gested they go nto town to sec “onc of those nab ed movies

(Wrightsville had acquired an art cmema), Ellery grew fess
communicative,

“Why don't you go scc it, dad? I dont feel much like a
movie tonight, even a naked one.”

“Sometimes I wonder! What'll you do?”

“Oh Listen to some music Maybe pet potted on Johnny's
slivovitz or akvavit or something "

“May I Iive to see the day,” his father grumbled; and, sur-
prisingly, he took off.

There’s libido in the old boy yet, Ellery thought, and
blessed it

He had no intention of communing with Mozart or the
three Bs, or the international contents of Benedict's bar. As
soon as the sound of the Cougar died, Ellery shipped a dark
jacket over his white turtlencck, rousted a flash from the tool

room, left several lights burning 1 the cottage and a sterco
cartridge playing, and stole outside

ere was a new moon, and the darkness was as dark
only as dark can be m Wrightsville’s woods He kept his hand
over the hight as he walked up the path toward the mamn
house. There was a rawness to the night; he would have
welcomed a symphony of peepers, but apparently the season
was too early or the weather discouraged them, cven though
spring was officially a week old If the Inspector had bcen
present to ask him what he was domg, Ellery could not
honestly have answered He had no idea what he was about,
except that he could not get the three thefts out of his head

And since they had taken place in Benedict’s house, he was
drawn there like a flower child to a pot party.

There was something maddeningly logical about the thefts
An evening gown, a wig a la mode, and evening gloves They
went together like pieces of a jigsaw. The difficulty was, when
they were assembled they Tepresented nothing The three
articles had some value, of course, and, value bemng relative,
theft for a material reason could not be dismissed as a pos-
sibility, although the monitor who sat deep m Ellery’s brain
kept shaking 1ts infallible little head. The obvious reason, that
?ﬁgytg?ec% lliegnbstolen to be worn, was even less appealing 1if
ad bee -
ey oad be Eex?%e of the ex-wives, 1t meant that she had

wn things i
area, an absurd co gs in order to spread the guilty

mplexity considering the peculiar nature of
gxlft thefts, and 1f the thief had not been one of the ex-wives
out :grgsevgaiﬁof;g? Wrightsville, where could she wear the
ecomng susp
Morris Hunker h v .

e eliminated without a doubt, the old
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Yankee would not have taken a crust from a sparrow if he
were dying of hunger. Annic Findlay, of course, was an un-
known quantity to lum, and the simple answer might be that
the roly-poly sleep-out “maid” had been unable to resist the
ghttery gown, the fantastic wig, and the—to her—unusual
gloves But Ellery had understood that, like Hunker, Annie
hired out for her livelsthood to special employers like John
Benedict, 1n a small town like this she could hardly bave
mdulged a regular weakness for other people’s belongings
without long since bemg found out. Besides, lightfingered
hired help were practically unknown in Wrghtsville, No,
Annge as the culprit just didn't scan.

Then who? If it had been a prowler, surely he could have
found far more valuable and negotiable pickings in the Bene-
dict house than a second-hand gown, a green wig, and a
parr of women’s evening gloves (undoubtedly soiled). Yet
the three women had reported nothing else missing And
certamly if Benedict or Marsh had suffered a loss, he would
have heard by this time

It was the kind of trivial-seeming puzzle that always drove
Ellery to distraction.

He circled the house, choosing his path with stealth. The
front and the side where the kitchen and pantry must lie
showed no lights; evidently Hunker and the Findlay woman
had cleaned up after dinner and gone home But lights blazed
onto the terrace through the French doors Benedict had had
nstalled 1n the living room’s rear wall during his reconstruc-
tion of the farmhouse.

Ellery edged onto the patio, keeping to the shadows
beyond the lighted area. He chose a position under the
branches of a forty-year-old pink dogwood tree very near the
house, from where he could see into the living room without
being seen ‘The room must be warm- one of the French doors
Was ajar. He heard their voices clearly

They were all there: Benedict, his ex-wives, Marsh, and
a gir]l who could only be Marsh’s secretary, Miss Smuth. The
secretary was seated at the edge of a sofa, to one side, legs
crossed, with a pad on her knee and a pencil poised, she
wore a no-nonsense navy blue skirt of medium length, a
tailored white blouse, and a white cardigan thrown about her
shoulders and buttoned at the neck. There was nothing youth-
ful or even womanly about her, her mechanical makeup
gave her horsy face a circus precision, she was, m fact, quite
masculine-looking aside from her legs, which were shaped
well and surprismgly feminine She told Ellery something
about Marsh A man who would select a Miss Smith for
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private secretarial chores could be relied on to reserve his
office hours for business purposes exclusively.

Two of the ex-wives seemed dresseq for a race, 1n evening
getups that evoked the yachtman’s starting gun

Audrey Weston’s blond beauty was offset by black evening
pajamas and a black crepe tunic, with a broad red satin sash
tied high above the waist that underscored her breasts, and
needle-heeled red satin shoes that added inches to her main-
mast height, she wore a bracelet of gold links that looked
heavy enough to secure an anchor, and gold coil earrings.

The generally flappy, full-canvas effect of Audrey’s outfit,

exciting as it was, barely held its own with Marcia Kemp's.
The redheaded expatria

te from Las Vegas had trimmed down
to the bare poles;

her turquoise evening sheath was so painted
to her body that

Ellery wondered how she was able to sit
down without cracking her hull . . . and, as a corollary,
whether Benedict’s

wives numbers two and one had put their
heads together m planming their racing strategy, Was the
contest fixed?

By glontrast, Alice Tierney’s coloring showed darker against
the whait

eness of her gown and accessories; she looked pure
and chaste in 1

t, and very nearly striking. It was as if she
realized that sh

e could not by natural endowment outshine
her predecessors and so

had shrewdly employed a tactic of
simplicity.

But if Audrey’s and Marcia’s calculated art and Alice’s
calculated artlessness were d

esigned to stir old passions in
Benedict’s libido, the effects were not visible to the Queen
eye Outwardly, at least, he was as unmoved by their bountiful
charlqs as a eunuch. If proof of his general contempt for
trio » Ellery found it in Benedict’s attire. The
millionaire bemng so

finical about his women, one would ex-
pect consistency, or at least noblesse oblige, in the form of a
dmner jacket; but whil

e Marsh was surtably m black tie, Bene-
dict was wearmg an ordmn

ary brown swt—as if, being
Johnny-B, he could afford to flout
of his ex-wives

the conventions he expected
v, It made Bllery see his old friend 1n a newish

eavesdropping; he never did when
CUriosity was engaged. He had long

since had this out
t regognmend 1t as a general practise,
© of bugging—when performed by
experts for lawful purpos
to place himag ) purposes, 1 which category he felt entitled
What they had been talk

ing ab
gathered, was “the fluge ﬂ.lg"aBOUt before his arrival, Ellery

! enedict was having Marsh
aw up for um “tomorrow.” (So he had not told the ex-Mrs
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Benedicts of the holograph document he had signed in the
Queens’ presence Thursday night, and which lay in the
Inspector’s pocket at this moment )

“But that’s nothmg but fraud,” Audrey Weston snarled.

“Fraud?” The redhead from Vegas uttered a four-letter
word with great sincerity. “It’s murder!”

Alice Tierney looked pained.

“You know, Marcia, your vulgarity is so lacking in
originality,” Marsh said from the bar, where he was replenish-
ing his drink. “T'll give you this, though. people know just
where they stand with you at all times ”

“You want me to give you a personal reading right now,
Al?n

ha‘S‘Heaven forbid, dear heart!” He enveloped his drink
tily

Ellery found himself bound to his dogwood. Fraud?
Murder? But then he decided it had been hyperbole

“Leeches!” Benedict’s sang-froid was gone “You know
damn w-well what our marriages were. Strictly business Con-
tracts with a m-mattress thrown 1n ” He stabbed at them with
his arms  “Well, ’m finished with that kind of stupidity}”

“Down, boy,” Marsh said

“You know our d-deal! The same in each c-case, a thou-

sand a week, payable till your remarriages or my death, then,
on my death, each of you under my will, if still not m-mar-
Tied"—which will>—*gets a settlement 1n a lump sum of one
m-million dollars ”
. “Yes, but look what we signed away,” Alice Tierney said
m a soft and reasonable voice. “You made us sign prenuptial
agreements m which we had to renounce all dower and other
claims to your estate *

“Under the threat, if I recall correctly—and, brother, do
I'—" Audrey Weston said caustically, “that if we didn’t
sign, the marnage was off »
st}:l‘St’Yeetle,” Marcia Kemp said, “that’s the great Johnny-B’s

e

Marsh laughed “Still, girls, not a bad deal for leasing
Johnny the use of your bodies, impressive as they are, for a
few months ” He had made too many trips to the bar, there
was the shightest slur to his speech and a stiffness to his smile

Impressive is as impressive does—right, Al?” Benedict
b’randlshed a hand graceful as a dagger. “The p-pont is, pets,
I've been thinking a great many things over, and I've decided
that with you three specimens I didn’t get my m-money’s
worth So I've changed my mind about the whole bit Be-
sides, there’s a new clement 1n the plot I'll get to m a m-min-
ute I'm having Al write my new w-will tomorrow, as I told

-
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you, and you can be n-nice about 1t or not, it’s all the s-same
to me” , « ' hange a
“Hold on, dahling!” Tallu was back “You can't c
settlement just Iike that, y01!1 know A girl scorned has some
in Uncle Sam country!” .
rlg‘lgics do believe you didn’t read the f-fine print, Audrey,” Ben-
edict said “The agreements 1n no case made your renuncia-
tion of dower rights and other claims against my estate c-con-
tmgent on what I chose to leave you 1n my will Read 1t’agam,
Audrey, will you? You’ll save yourself an attorney’s fee.
t, Al?”
Rl‘g‘llliight,” Marsh saild “Also, the agreements and the Wﬂ’l’
they’re attached to were in no way affected by the decrees
“And 1f I want to change my mind about those thrse mul-
lions, there’s not a b-bloody thing you can do about 1:‘. Ben-
edict displayed his teeth “I assure you that what we’re plan-
nig 18 p-perfectly legal Anything that might be ﬁy——well,,’
I'll match my beagle against yours on any track m the land
“Wuff,” Marsh said

“In other words, buster,” and the redhead showed her teeth,
‘“you’re gomg to the muscle.”
“If T must ”

“But you promised,” the ex-nurse said *J ohnny, you gave
me your word .. .”
“Nonsense ”

Marcia had been thinkmg She It a cigaret., “All right,
Johnny, what’s the new deal?”

“T'll contmue to p-pay each of you a thousand per week
until you remarry or I d-die, but the million-apiece lump-sum
payoff on my death, that’s out.”

Marcia spat one word “Why?”

“Well, 1t’s really none of your b-business,” Benedict said,
“but I'm getting married agam.”

“You've got to be kidding,” Audrey cried “You catch a
case of marriage every spring, J ohnny, like a cold What's
getting remarried got to do with anything?”

“You couldn’t be that mean,” Alice wailled “A million
dollars 1s no joking matter.”

“So you'll be hitched to this broad for a few months,”
Marcia growled, “and then—

“This time 1t’s d-different,”

time,” and he stopped smiling, “I’'m 1 love ”

It was Audrey, the blonde, who shrieked, “Love? You?”
but the meredulity might have been sounded by any of them
Then they all burst nto laughter
“Al, get him to a

he drops what’s lef

Benedict said, smiling “This

shrink presto,” the redhead said, “before
t of his marbles Listen, bubby, the last
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thing you were m love with was your mama’s titty What do
you know about love?” )

Benedict shrugged “Whatever 1t’s called, I've c-caught 1t
1 want to settle down—go ahead and snickerl—breed a flock
of kids, lead a normal l-life No more chick-chasing or mar-
riage quickies My next wife 1s gomg to be the last woman
m my life.” They were roosting there like three birds on a
perch, bills gaping “That’s the m-mam reason behind this
move. If Pm going to be the f-father of chidren, I want to
secure ther future And ther mother’s. I'm n-not gomg to
change my mind about that ”

“[ gtill say it's fraud,” the blonde snapped “Or was that
will you showed me prior to the divorce proceedmg, leaving
me a million dollars—was that another con?”

“If it was, he conned me, t00,” Marcia barked “And I say
it again Its plam murder to cut us off after we’ve given
you___”

“] know, Marcia—the b-best months of your life ” Bene-
dict grmned “You three never would let me finush a sentence
I was about to announce that this isn’t gomng to be a total
1-loss to you What’s m-more, you’ll have till tomorrow noon
to decide How f-fair can a fairy god-husband get? Al, d’ye
mind? A Black Russian.”

It was a new one to Ellery, and he watched Marsh busy -
himself at the bar Marsh blended what appeared to be vodka
and some coffee liqueur over ice

‘Decide what, Johnny?” Alice asked in a defeated voice
“Tell you 1n a minute, The pomt is, if you three do agree,
Al makes out my new w-will and that will be that ”

“What—is—the—deal?” Audrey as Audrey. No stagey
nonsense now.

. “A thousand a week as at p-present, with the usual hedge
In case of remarriage, and on my death each of you receives
one hundred thousand dollars And that’s the end of the
g-game as far as our foursome is concerned Granted a hun-
dred th-thonsand 1sn't a million—thank you, Al—but it’s not”
exactly b-birdseed, either Even for three rare birds hike Yyou

“So think 1t over, ladies. If you decide to
fight of 1t, I tell you now beforeyw-mtnesses ﬂl:?aaizwa;-(\:f]ﬁlt
tomor}-ow won't leave you a red c-cent! I might even change
my mind about the thousand a week Nighty night.”

And Jobn Levering Benedict I dramed his Black Russian
wagcd it m their general direction, set the empty glass down:
‘;lx?g :;:;D‘t upstaus to bed as if he had had an active but reward-

Benedict left belind hum an atmosphere of anger, frustra-
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tion, and curiosity, with curiosity dominant on a field of gold.

“Who 1s this babe Johnny’s going to marry?”

“Do you know? You know, goddam 1t!”

“Tell us, All Comeon ..”

The Amazons surrounded Marsh, pushing their soft plens-
tude at him

“Please, girls, not before Miss Smith We run a proper ship
in the home waters, don’t we, Miss Smuth? That’s 1t for to-
might, by the way. You're on your own Perfectly free to raid
the kitchen if you want a snack ”

“I'm on a diet,” Miss Smith said unexpectedly, and the
lawyer looked surprised Ellery gathered that the personal re-
mark was not characteristic of Miss Smith’s professional be-
havior She shut her stenographic book over the penci with
a Iittle snap “Good might, Mr. Marsh,” she said emphatic-
ally, and marched upstairs as if the ex-wives had gone back
mto a bottle She had taken down every word uttered n the
room during Ellery’s surveillance

“I know you know who she 1s, Al,” Audrey said, shaking
him playfully N

“Is 1t that hatcheck broad they say he’s been giving the
treatment to lately?” big Marcia wanted to know.

“He wouldn’t dream of making a mistake like that again,
dear,” Alice said sincerely.

“At least I never sucked blood like you did when he picked
you up m this outhouse they call a town,” the redhead re-

torted “Bat Girl! Is there anything lower than a blood-
sucker?”

“Look who’s talking]”

“Come on, Al,” the blonde whinnied, “stop hogging the
sauce I want a drink, dahling And shovel us the dirt ”

Marsh shook them off and walked back to the bar with
his glass “Mine not to shovel, mme but to do as I'm told
My advice to you, offered absolutely free, 1s to accept John-
ny’s offer and be damned to him Turn it down and you’ll
wind up like the call girl 1 the gay bar—I mean to say, girls,
with 2 bandful of nothing That hundred thousand per ex 1s
the most you’ll ever get out of Johnny, and you've got about
twelve hours to grab for it Think it over You can verbalize
your pretty hittle decisions to me 1 the morning ”

“You go to hell, dahling,” Audrey said “What about my
drink?”

“Why don’t you go to bed?”

“I'm not desperate enou Q) s '
The blond ac . gh. Oh, all right, I'll get 1t myself.

o tress got up and sauntered to the bar
ou know what you are?” Marcia said to the lawyer
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an even voice. “You're a Jousy brown-nose Mix me a Gib-
son, will you, Audrey?”

“Mix it yourself ”

“Yowre a charmer Don’t think I won’t.” The redhead
jomed the blonde at the bar

“Al . ,” the brunette from Wrightsville began.

“You won't get any more out of me than they did, Alice.
Good night ”

“You can’t dismiss me as if I were Miss Smuth! Or a child ”
Alice gave him a cold and thoughtful look on her way to the
bar

Ellery was more intent on observing Marsh. Marsh had
evidently had enough alcohol for the moment, the glass he
set down was more than half full But he was continuing to
smoke full blast He had been chainsmoking menthol cigarets
ever since Ellery began to eavesdrop, and he was chainsmok-
ing them still Well, Ellery thought, being legal eagle as well
as companion and confidant to a man like Johnny-B did not
exactly make for an untroubled existence The Marlboro man
sitting his faithful steed mught well develop, along with cal-
luses, a neurosis or two Even agoraphobia

Ellery studied the heavy male features and the big and
sensitive hands, and he wondered if Marsh had any notion of

the can of peas his friend and client had so blithely opened
Marsh’s intelligence had been systematized by hus legal tramn-
ing, surely he must be able to analyze the possibilities Well,
perhaps not surely He hasn’t had my conditioning in murder,
Ellery thought. It takes experience and a soiled mnd to think
of a thing like that.

He slid off the terrace, and on his way back to the cottage
—using the flashlight sparingly—Ellery let conditioning take
charge His thoughts did not provoke, amuse, or engross him
The exercise, as usual, was futile The trouble with foresee-
ing homicide on the sole ground of past performances was
that there was no profit 1 1t. The victim was never con-
vinced before it was too late for convincing, and warnmg off
the potential murderers either spurred them to a more cunning
crime or planted an unsocial thought where none had been
The victim, like all mortals, assumed that he was immortal,
and fhe murderer, like most murderers, that he was nfallible.
Against these diseases there was no specific

It was all very sad and discouraging, and Ellery was gram-

bling away in his sleep before Inspector Queen got back from
his movie

It came off on schedule almost as if Ellery had planned it.
He groped for the light-chain at the eruption of the tele-
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phone, found 1t, dragged it, blinked at his watch and noted
the time as 3 03 A M, fumbled about for the phone and found
that—all before he was really awake But the gasp and heave
mn his ear were like a wash of seawater.

“Who 1s this?”

((]’_]'—J' »

“Johnny? Is this Johnny?” .

“Yes” He was hauling the breath from his lungs as if it
had weights attached “El ?”

“Yes, yes, what’s wrong?”

((Dymg 13

“You? Wait! I mean, I'll be right over.”

“No .time?”

“Hang on—"

“M-m-m ” He stopped There was a gurgly sob Then
Benedict said, “Murder,” 1 a quite ordmary way it s

Ellery said swiftly, “Who, Johnny? Tell me Who did it?

This time the dragged-out breath, mterminable

And Johnny Benedict said distinctly, “Home,” and stopped
agaimn

Ellery found himself irrtated Why does he want me to
know where he 15?7 I know where he 315 Or must be At the
maimn house Using the extension It made no sense He was
making no sense If he could call me, he could be lucid

He had no right to be out of his head—to go this far only
to tell me he was calling from home

“T mean, who attacked you?”

He heard some meaningless sounds It was exasperating

“Hold on, Johnny, hold on! Who did jt?” It was like trymg
to coax a recalcitrant child “Try to tell me ” He almost said
“daddy” nstead of the pronoun

Johnny tried, according to his lights He was on the “home”
hick again  He said 1t three times, each time less distinctly,
less assertively, with more of a stammer Finally he stopped
trying and there was nothing but a defeated thunk! at the
other end, the phone hitting something, as if Johnny-B had
flung 1t away or, what was less pleasantly probable, had
dropped it

“What 15 it, son?”

Ellery hung up To his surprise, he found himself yawning
It was s father, in the doorway The Inspector did not sleep
well any more  The Jeast interruption 1n the rhythm of his
cavironment disturbed hum

‘Cllery?n

He told the Tn

+

g e spector what Johnny had said
wn what are you standing h ”
«nd dived for by bedroom, s hiere for?” the old man yelled,
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There’s no hurry, Ellery thought as he hurriedly puiled on
his pants  Johnny’s gone with the wind be sowed
Wrightsville strikes again

The Cougar covered the quarter mile in nothing flat The
main house was dark except for two windows upstairs which
they took to be m Benedict’s room, the master bedroom
Ellery jumped out, and the Inspector cried, “Did you remem-
ber to bring that key Benedict gave you?” to which Ellery
replied, “Hell, no, I forgotit Who ever used a key mn Wrights-
ville?” and was immediately vindicated, because the front
door, while 1t was closed, was not locked

They ran upstairs The master bedroom door stood open

Benedict was m puce-colored silk pajamas, a milk-choco-
late~striped silk kimono, and Japanese slippers He lay m a
heap on the floor beside the bed and he looked hike a cake
just out of the oven, decorated, and set aside to cool The
cradle of the telephone was on the nightstand, the receiver
dangled to the floor There was amazingly little blood, con-
sidering the wounds 1 Benedict’s head

The weapon lay on the floor six feet from the body, be-
tween the bed and the doorway It was an oversized, heavy-
looking Three Monkeys sculpture 1 a modern elongated style,
cast 1n won Both the material and the stylistic distortion gave
its familiar “see no evil, hear no evil, speak no evil” homily
an wony terribly grotesque Neither man touched it.

“He’s dead, of course,” Ellery said.
*What do you think?”

"E;)r the record ” Ellery’s lips were tight, “Wed better
verify

The Inspector squatted and felt Benedict’s carotid

‘He’s dead What I can’t understand 1s where he found
the“strength to pick up a phone ”

He obviously found 1t,” Ellery said coldly “The point is*
?ﬁ:lnngl‘g” found 1t, what did he do with 1t? Not a damned

And in an aggrieved way he wrapped i
pped a handkerchief
:éround s right hand, picked up the Tecewver, punched the
Ultton on the cradle for an outside line, and from too, too
S;;l ;c:-t gnemory dialed the number of Wrightsville police head-
Is

“It’s gomg to be some time before Newb ”
: y gets here,” Elle
i‘&marked o is father, replacing the phone g“thch is proll;}:
e 1fhe’dead ’]‘\/Iaybc we’d better check their carotids, too ™
el 'em be,” the Inspector growled “Their time 15 com-
ably just as well

By the way, these guests of Johnny's sl
ng What do you mean just as well’?”gu ye e
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~I'm betting
“The night desk man, a fellow named Peague—I'm 8
he’sT::alate% to Millard Peague, who used to have }:h% 3’33;
smith shop on Crosstown and Foaming—says the ¢ ;;: e
to a Red Man blast tonight and just got info the sﬁc .S o
won’t appreciate having to get up and come out mi: gfiold
three radio cars on the graveyard tour are all over at .
Gunnery School-—some students got high on speed or son;t,s
thing and they're wrecking the admimstration building Bl
developed nto a full-scale engagement-—state police, pa Ii)c
cars from Slocum as well as Wrightsville—the Iocal‘s won’t
able to get here for hours, Peague says While we're waiting
for Newby we may as well make ourselves useful ) o
The Inspector looked doubtful. “I hate cutting in on a
ther cop’s turf ” ,
° 13‘NeWIIJ)y won’t mmd The Lord of battles k,nows we've
charged shoulder to shoulder often enough Let’s see 1f we

can find any writing materials.”
“What for?”

“Superman or not, Johnny’d have written someth,mg Ig
preference to phonmg—if he could. My hunch 15 we'll fin
nothing ”

They found nothing It gave Ellery a small satisfaction

One mystery was solved On the opposite side of the room

om the windows, helter-skelter on the floor as if th,rown
there, they found the three articles of clothing Benedict’s ex-
wives had reported missing. Audrey Weston’s black sequined
gown, Marcia Kemp’s green wig, and Alice Tierney’s white
evening gloves

Ellery examined them eagerly. The evening gown was long
enough to trail on the floor, the wig was not only absurdly
green but distended—it Jooked like an excited hedgehog, the
gloves were of high-quality kid None of the three showed
€ven a pmpoimnt of bloodstain

“So they weren’t being used at
the Inspector mused “A plant?”

“Three plants,” Ellery said, squmting “Otherwise why
leave all three? If Johnn

y’s assailant had wanted to implicate

Marcia, he’d have left just the wig Or Audrey, just the gown
Or Alce, just the gloves By leaving all three he implicates
all three ”

“But why?”

“That 1s the question.”

“But I don’t get 1t, Ellery.”

“I'wish I could enlighten you I don’t, either ”

“Somethmg tells me we should bave stood mn Manhattan,”
the Inspector said gloomily

The bed had bee

the time of the assault,”

0 slept mn; the spread had been neatly
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folded at the foot, the bottom sheet was wrmkled, and the
pillow still showed the depression made by Benedict’s head.

“He certamnly didn’t go to bed with hus robe on,” Ellery
said. “That means something woke him up, and he jumped
out of bed and shipped into his robe and slippers So the next
questton is. what disturbed him?”

“No sign of a struggle,” the Inspector nodded “It’s as if
the killer didn’t want to spoil the neatness of the room.”

“You're getting whimsical, dad ”

“No, 1T mean 1t. No clothes thrown about, chair as naked
as a jaybird, and I'l bet if you look m that hamper you’ll
find, . . .” Inspector Queen darted into the bathroom and
yanked up the cover of the laundry hamper, which was just
visible from the foot of Benedict’s bed He exclaimed imn tri-
umph, “What did I tell you? Shirt, socks, underwear—neatly
deposited before he went to bed.”

The ector came out and looked about. “He must have
been left for dead, Ellery—on the bed or floor—and when the
killer was gone, Benedict somehow found the moxie to crawl
to the phone and call you.”

“Agreed,” Ellery said. “Also, from the absence of a strug-
gle I'm tempted to conclude that Johnny knew his assailant.
Although, of course, it could have been a housebreaker or
other stranger who jumped him and got in an mcapacitating
blow just after Johnny got out of bed and put his robe and
shippers tém. That's one of those alternatives you mever quite
ehmlna .1’

“But what did he kill him for?” The Inspector was going
through the elephant-ear wallet lying on the mightstand The
wallet was fat, like the craw of a Strasbourg goose. The Rolex
watch with the matching bracelet beside the wallet was an 18-
carat gold, 30-jewel affair that must have set Benedict back
over a thousand dollars.

“For money, that’s what for,” Ellery said. “But not the kind
of goose feed you tote around. I went to bed worrying about
exactly that What's this?”

. This” was a walk-in wardrobe closet The Queens walked
in and routmely took inventory. Hanging on racks, with the
neataess of a tailor’s shop, were a dozen or so custom-made
suits i fabulous fabrics and numerous shades of blue and
gray, two summer dinner jackets, one white, the other bur-
g‘l};lidy, a variety of pastel-hued slacks and sports jackets; a
IV;V te yachting uniform, hound’s-tooth golf togs, a brown plaid
ﬁ‘;]l;mg and fishing outfit; four topcoats, in charcoal gray,
blackg:ggfl garbardine tan, and chocolate; three overcoats, one

a velvet collar, another navy blue double-breasted,
the third 2 casual tan cashmere The shoe racks held dozens
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airs of shoes—conventionals, cordovans, alligators, suédes,
?vfzg-tones, an assortment of boots and athletic shoes, blacks
and browns and grays and tans and oxbloods On an uppB;
shelf lay ten hats and caps, from a black homburg t9 a sever
dark brown fedora, through the well-dressed man's Alpine,
woodsman, and other sporty styles. An enormous revolving
rack offered a selection of four-in-hand necktues, ascots, bow
ties, and scarves m all the basic solid colors, 1n combinations,
and in a range of materials and designs that would not have
disgraced Sulka’s, P

The Inspector marveled “Why in God’s name did he nee
all these duds? In Wrightsville, of all places?” .

“And this is just a hideaway,” Ellery pomted out, “where
he apparently did Iittle entertaining and no visiting Imagine
what the closets m his New York, Paris, and other apartments
must look like.” ,

‘The bureau was a built-in affair with haberdasher’s draw-

ers stacked with custom-made shirts of every description:

broadcloths, Pimas, siks, synthetics; in whites, blues, browns,

tans, grays, greens, piks, even lavenders, in sohds and m pin-
stripes, with button cuffs and French cuffs; with dress coilars
and buttoned-down collars; including a collection of plaids
and flannels and other outdoorsy jtems, and another of frilled

and lacy as well ag conventional summer dress shirts. Several
drawers turned up a selection of knitwear. Others held T-
shirts and shorts by the

dozens, chiefly of silk, and handker-
chiefs functional and ornamental And 1 one lay a shop-sized
stock of hose, in woolens, hsles, nylons, siks; in blacks,
browns, grays, blues; in solids and in combinations And, of
course, a jewelry drawer for a collection of tie clasps, tack-
. Pms, cuffinks, and other essentialg of the bureau.
The Inspector kept shaking his head Ellery’s remamed at
res]?E all but his eyes, which reflected a puzzle of some sort.
was as if

he had mislaid something, but could remember
neither what it wag no,

I where he had muislaid 1t.

Waiting for Chef Newby, the Queens went about rousing
Benedict’s guests

" > Ireason for the undisturbed sleep of
the ex-wives and Marsh wag detectable at once by anyone with
less than a severe cold The air in the bedrooms was sour
with alcohol, evidently the three drvorcees and the lawyer
had done some seroug extracurricular drinking after Ellery’s
departure from hyg eavesdropping post on the terrace, They
Wwere a Ittle stubborn about waking up
As for Miss Smith, Ma

tsh’s secretary, she had locked her
, and E]lery had to
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sleep like the dead,” Miss Smith said—a figure of speech she
clearly regretted a moment later when he told her why he
had roused her From the noises immediately emanating from
her bathroom, Miss Smith was paying the price the three other
women should have paid but had not. Ellery left her to for-
tify her rebellious stomach

As far as he and his father could make out, Marcia Kemp,
Audrey Weston, and Alice Tierney greeted the news of Bene-
dict’s violent death with stupefaction They seemed too
stunned to grasp the implications; there were no hysterics and
very few questions. As for Marsh, he gaped at the Queens
from a graying face, his big hands trembling. “Are the police
here yet?” he asked, and Ellery said, “On their way, AlL”
whereupon the lawyer sat down on the bed mumbling, “Poor
old Johnny, what a stinking deal,” and asked 1f he might have
a drink. Ellery brought him a bottle and a glass; Inspector
Queen warned the quintet to remain where they were, each
m his own room, and took up a sentry post at the door of
Benedict’s bedroom, and that was all.

Ellery was downstairs wartmg for Newby when the chief—
’geless, a topcoat thrown over his uniform—stalked into the

ouse,

Anselm Newby had succeeded Chief Dakin, who personi-
fied law and order in Wrightsville for so long that only the
thinning ranks of oldtimers remembered his predecessor, a fat, -

__spittoon-targeting ex-farmer named Horace Swayne Dakin,
who always reminded Ellery of Abe Lincoln, had been the
old-fashioned small-town incorruptible policeman, Anse
Newby was of the new breed, young, aggressive, and scien-
tifically tramned on a city-sized police force. He was a ball of
fire where Dakin had been a plodder, yet he had had to prove
himself a dozen times over before the town would grudgingly
grant that he might be able to fill part of old Dakin’s size-13
Shoes. Newby’s fate it was to be a small, delicate-appearing
man mm a community where any suspicion of effeminacy was
hated rather than despised, and in a police chief was consid-
ered a cnime mn utself He soon disabused the town on this
Score When the rumors reached his ears he tracked them to
th?n' source, shucked his uniform jacket, and administered a
scientific beating to the offender~—who had a six-inch height
and thirty-five-pound weight advantage—that was the talk of
anhtsvﬂle'gbars for many years. With this demonstration
of his masculinity Newby had no further trouble with rumor-
mongers And with his stinging voice and eyes of inorganic

blue, unwinkin g as mineral, he
; > tended to
always pleasantly, grow on people, not
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“Sorry about this, Chief—" Ellery began, not altogether
humorously.

- 9 (‘I!m
“You’re always sorry about this,” Newby snapped.
suggesting to th}é First Selectman that he haul arse on up 1}:;3_
the capital and see 1f he can’t talk our assemblyman into lp;gjs1 -
ing a bill through the legislature putting Wrightsville off
to anybody named Queen Can’t you set foot in this town
without causing a homicide? I didn’t know you were vmltm‘%,
or I'd have put out an AP B on you! How are you, Ellery

“I feel as rotten about 1t as you, Anse,” Ellery said, PumP;
mng the delicate hand. “Rottener I purposely kept our Vist
quiet—"

“Our? Who’d you come up with?”

“My dad. He’s upstairs keeping an eye on Benedict’s room

and the body We’re here on a rest cure. On Johnny Bene-
dict’s mvitation.”

“Father or not, he probably doesn’t know your Wrights-
ville record as well as I do, or he’d never have come. For a
cop to take a vacation with you 1s a busman’s holiday for

sure And look what Benedict’s invite got Arm. Well, tell me
about this one, you hoodoo ” -

“Let’s go up.”

Upstawrs, the Inspector and Newby shook hands like ad-

versaries, they had never met But when the old man said,

“I hope you don’t mind our poking around while we waited
for you, Chief I don

't care much myself for police officers
who stick their noses nto other men’s territory ” Newby
warmed perceptibly “Mighty lucky for me you were here,
Inspector,” he said, and Ellery let his breath go

It took the best part of forty-five mimutes to brief the
Wrightsville chief o

n the marital and testamentary situations
that had presumably led to Benedict’s

murder, while Newby
examined the body and the premises -

“I left orders to get my tech men out of bed,” Newby said
“Where the hell are they? Ellery, d’ye mind? Fetch those
five people down here while I notify the coromer’s doc to
chimb out of his sack and bring his tail over here We just
don’t have the kind of setup and manpower you're used to,
Inspector,”

he said in what sounded like an apology, and
he made for the telephone 1n the foyer.
“He seems to think he

has to put a show on for me,” the
Inspector remarked to Elle
Ellery grinned, “I didn’t Teahize Anse was that human,” and
hurried upstairs
The five trooped into the living room in a symb £
ymbiosis of re-
luctance and relief. Nope of them had been told more than
the unembellished fact of Benedict's murder, each having been



THE FIRST LIFE 45

isolated .from the others, they had bad no opportunity to ex-
change speculations or recriminations or to compare storics;
they were all, 1n the flamboyant word of the times, uptight.
Even more interesting, the ex-wives tended to cluster together

where before Benedict’s death they bhad staked out inde-
pendent territories m the living room.

As for Miss Smuth, not unexpectedly after her exhibition
of secretarial aloofness, she showed signs of strain The bout
with her stomach had left her pale and 11 She mewed for a
brandy, at which Marsh, even 1n his precccupation, looked
astonished And she kept babbling away in a complaming
vorce, principally to Marsh, as if the predicament mn which
she found herself was all her employer’s fault At least four
times she whmed, “I’ve never had anything to do with a
murder before,” as 1f he had dragged her into something very
common in his set, until Marcia Kemp tossed her red locks
and said grimly, “Oh, for chrissake, shut up,” at which Miss
Smith looked frightened, clutched her brandy, and subsided

*“Now look, folks,” Newby said when the Inspector had
identified the five. “I know darned little about this setup,
though I guarantee you I'll know a lot more about it before
Tm through But as of this munute I have no notion who
killed Mr Benedict So that’s our first order of business.
Anybody here got anything to tell me that’s gomg to cut our
work down?”

No one seemed able or prepared to do so Until finally
Marsh said in a voice as gray as his face, “Surely, Chief, you
%an’tthbeheve anyone here had anything to do with Johnny’s

ea 2b}

“All right, that formality’s out of the way Anybody hear

anything after getting to bed? An argument, a fight? Or even
just footsteps?”

No one had Deep sleep had been the order of the might

during the period of the murder (they claimed
the mam induced b o e ot o

] y bourbon and vodka. Except, again, in
Miss Smith’s case (Miss Smith did not “drink”—she placed
audible quotation marks around the word The brandy mn her
clu%% was I&c;g restorative purposes ) i
e ex- Benedicts, it seemed, had origmnally found slee
eh%s.lxve Freshly bedded, they said, they had beezn wakeful. ?
]f tossed and tossed,” {f&udrey Weston said “So I thought
herrn::ybedI d:}d some ,r’eadmg You know.” (Ellery warted for
Chlefo Igegrbyd%% btuia}{he&%r;de seemed to realize fhat
no e ki 1o th “
came downstairs and got a book » Y © endearment) "I
‘gvh}]ere downstairs, Miss Weston?” Newby asked
1s Toom. From those bookshelves there.”
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“Was anybody down here while you were?”

(‘N O 3

“How long did you stay?”

“Just long enough to pick out a book.”

“Then you went back upstairs?”

“That’s right

“How long did you read, Miss Weston, before you tried to
get to sleep again?”

“I found I couldn’t The type began swimming before my
eyes ”

“Which book was 1t?” Ellery asked B

“T don’t recall the title,” the blonde said haughtily. “Some-
thing—the latest—by that Roth person.”

“Philip Roth?”

“I think that’s his Christian name ” ,

“Harry Golden will be delighted to hear 1t The title wasn't
Portnoy’s Complaint, was it?”

Miss Weston grew haughtier “I’d forgotten ” ,

“Miss Weston, if you'd begun Portnoy’s Complaint, I don’t
believe the type would have swum before your eyes The fact
1s you read for some time, didn’t you?”

“The fact 1s, dahling,” Audrey Weston spat, “I was so ab-
solutely revolted I threw the disgusting thing across the room!
Then I went downstairs for another book, and I got one, and
started to read that, but that was when the sauce hit me and
I got very sleepy all of a sudden, so I put out the light and
the next thing I knew I was out of this world And don’t ask
me what the other book was, Mr Queen, because I haven't
any recollection It’s still in my room if you think it’s mm-
portant.”

"So you made two trips downstairs during the might ”

:‘If you don’t believe me, that’s your problem ”

It may well be yours,” Ellery said thoughtfully, and

stepped back with a wave to Newby “Didn’t mean to mo-
nopolize, Anse Go ahead ”

“What time was 1t, Miss Weston, when all this happened?”
I haven’t the foggiest » i

“No idea at all?”

“I wasn’t watching clocks *
*Not even your wr

istwatch when you und d?”

“T yust didn*t.” you undressed?

Can't you make a guess what time 1t was? Ope? Two?
Three?”

. ‘;I‘dd?g‘n‘t know, I tell you Marcia, what time did I go up

¥ v
., YOU answer your questions, decarie,” Marcia Kemp said,
and 'l anw er mine
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“I'l tell you what time it was when you went up to bed,”
Alice Tierney said suddenly. “It was just about two ”

“Tt couldn’t have been that late!” Audrey cried.

“Well, it was”

“You tossed and tossed,” Newby said, “then you went
<1:10wnsta1rs for Portnoy’s Complaint, which you read for how
ong?”

“Really,” the blonde said *“I wasn’t counting A short
while ”

“Fifteen minutes? A half hour?”

“Maybe I don’t know.”

“Or an hour?” Ellery murmured.

“Nol Closer to a half hour ”

“In other words, Mr Roth’s opus revolted but held you
for a half hour or more. I got the impression from what you
said before that you’d hardly begun reading when you flung
the book aside 1n disgust. You're really not making very re-
sponsive answers *’

“Why are you after me, Mr. Queen?” the blonde cried
“What are you, out fo get me or something? All right, I read
that foul book a good long time, and the second one I hardly
glanced at. But it all comes out the same at the end, because
i];ai fast asleep long before whoever killed Johnny killed

Newby_ pounced “How do you know when Benedict was
killed, Miss Weston? No one here mentioned it ”

She was stricken. “Didn’t ... ? Well . .. I mean, Ijust
assumed ...”

He let 1t go. “Did you happen to see anyone on your trip
do’z?vnstalrs or on your way back up? Either time?”

‘Nobody. The bedroom doors were all shut, by the way,
as far as I could see I naturally thought everyone but me
was asleep ”

Newby said suddenly, “How about you, Miss Kemp?”
?ut she was ready for him “How about me?”

“Dld you fall right asleep when you went up to bed?”

‘I wish I could say I did,” the redhead answered, “but
something tells me when you’ve got nothing to hide m a case
like this 1t’s better to tell the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth T'd had a real snootful down here and I
didn’t think I'd make 1t to the hay, I was so rocky But Ino
sooner hit the bed than I was wide awake—"

“Hold it. What time was 1t when you left to go to bed?”

“I was 1n no condition to tell time, Chief. All I know is
it was after Audrey went upstairs ”

“How long after?”
Marcia Kemp shrugged
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“I can tell you,” Alice Tierney said “It was close to two
b b2}

“You Ir'l ol’ timekeeper, you,” the redhead growled “Any-
way, my head was splgnmg, and I thought food might settlg
my stomach down, so I went downstairs to the kitchen rzﬁk
made myself a dry chicken sandwich and a cup of warm .
and brought them back up to my room Grandpa there S%Dn
ted the plate with the crumbs on 1t and the dirty %lass whe
he woke me up a while back Tell ‘’em, Grandpa

“I saw the plate and the glass, yes,” Inspector Queen Siitclle
He had been standmg by the French doors overlooking
terrace, keeping himself out of the way

“See?” Marcia said She was wearing a shortie nightgown

under her negligee, and the negligee kept coming apart. Ellery

found himself wishing she would fasten 1t so that he cctnlllljlic:
keep his mmnd on the testimony. Under the translucent s
she appeared like a giant flower about to burst mto blossom

‘The warm mik must have done it because after a while I

corked off I didn’t know a blessed other thing until old fuzz
there woke me up

“Did you happen to see anyone during your trip to the
kitchen and back?”

“NO bl 4 f

“I suppose you didn’t hear anything around the time o
the murder, either?”

“You’re not catching me, buster. I don’t know when the
time of the murder

was. Anyway, I didn’t hear anything any
ﬁme »

Alice Tierney's difficulty had been the alcohol, too. “I'm
ot much of a drinker,” the Wrightsville ex-nurse said, “and
T'd had a few too many Jast night. I went up to my room
after Marcia, and when I couldn’t fall asleep I crawled to the
bathroom for something for my head I couldn’t find aspirin
or anything in the medicme chest, so I went to the downstairs
iced some Bufferin during the day I
Swall,owed a couple and

and that did 1t T went out cold » Like

I » Alice had seen no one and heard nothing
Funny,” Chyef Newby remarked “With all that cross traf-
fic up and down the starrs last night, yow'd think somebody
would have run nto somebody How about you, Mr. Marsh?
WI.J.at dud you go traipsing downstajrg for?”
I dudn’t. Opce § 8ot to my room I stayed there I had
more than my quota Jast might, too, especially after Johnny
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went up to bed. I don’t think I was conscious for two minutes
after my head hit the pillow The next thing I knew Ellery
was shaking me.”

“What time did you go up to bed?” ] .

“I don’t know exactly My impression is it was right after
Alice Tierney, but I’'m fuzzy about it ”

“No, that’s right,” the Wrightsville girl said.

“And you, Miss Smith?” .

Challenged by name Miss Smith started, slopping what was
left in her snifter “I can’t imagine why you should question
me at alll T don’t think I ever said more than a hello to Mr.
Benedict when he visited Mr. Marsh’s office ”

5 “Did you leave your room last night after you went to
ed?”

“I did not!”

“Did you hear anything that might help us, Miss Smith?
Try to remember ”

“l told Mr Queen before you got here, Chief Newby, I

sleep very soundly ” (“Like the dead,” Ellery reminded her
silently ) “I thought I might have a busy day Sunday and I
need my sleep if P'm to function efficiently, After all, I wasn’t
mvited to this house as a guest. I'm here only because I'm
Mr Marsh’s secretary »
- “Miss Smuth can’t have anything to do with this,” Marsh
said. He said it rather harshly, Ellery thought “I don’t mean
to tell you your busimess, Chief, but 1sn’t all this a waste of
time? Johnny must have been killed by some housebreaker
who got 1 durmg the night to steal something and lost his
head when Johnny-woke up and surprised- him.”

“I wish 1t were that simple, Mr Marsh ” Newby glanced
at Bllery Ellery promptly went out and came back with the
Sequined gown, the wig, and the evening gloves

JSmce you're all Mrs Benedicts,” Ellery said to the ex-
wives, “from here on m I'm gomg to make it easier on us by
addressing you by your given names Audrey, you came to
me yesterday afternoon to report the theft of a gown from
your room Is this the one?”

He offered the black dress to the blonde She examined 1t
Suspiciously. Then she got up slowly and fitted 1t to herself

“It looks Tike 1t . . . I suppose it 1s . . . Yes Where did you
find 177 PP +

?llery took it from her

‘Marcia, 15 this the wig you told me yesterday somebody
sto}e from your room?” .
- “You know it. If there’s another green wig 1n this town

+ 4 eat it.” The redhead slipped 1t over her boyish crop *This
Is1t, all nght
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“Alice, these evening gloves?”

“There was a shight nick m the forefinger of the left hand,
the brunette said “Yes, here 1t 1s. These are mine,
Queen. But who had them?” e

“We don’t know who had them,” Newby said, “but we
know where they wound up. We found them in Benedict’s
bedroom, near his body.” .

This remark produced an almost weighable silence.

“But what does 1t mean?” Alice exclaimed “Why should

somebody steal my gloves and then leave them practically on
Johnny’s corpse?”

“Or my evening gown?”
“Or my kook wig?”

“I don’t understand any part of this.” Marsh was back at
the bar, but he was paying no attention to the glass m his

hand “This sort of thing 1s your dish of blood, Ellery What’s
it all about? Or don’t you agree a burglar, or maybe a
tramp_?,, 1

“I'm afraid I don’t,” Ellery said “There is a bit of sense

to be made out of it, though, Al, and that’s where you come
1]1.”

(‘Me?!’
“Anse, do you mind?”

Newby shook his head “You know more about this setup
than I do, Ellery Forget the protocol ”

“Then let me shortcut this,” Ellery said “I was out on the

terrace listening when Johnny made that speech last might
about his mte

ntion to write a new will I assume, Al, that

since youwere the lawyer who drafted Johnny’s original will
—the one extant when he came up here the other day—and
the purpose of the weekend was to write a new will, you
brought a copy of the old one along with you?”

“Yes” Marsh’s tough Jaw was belligerent. “You were
eavesdropping, Ellery? Why?”

“Because I was uneasy about Johnny’s situation, and events
have borne it out I'd like to see the will 1n your possession ”

Marsh set his glass down on the bar. His jaw had not de-
clared a truce “Technically, Y can refuse—"
“We know what you can do, Mr Marsh,” the chief said
with a twitch of the whiplash. “But up here we aren’t so
formal in murder vestigations In my territory, Mr Marsh,
I;;I;;S:l;’ opens up a lot of doors Let’'s see Benedict’s will,

The lawyer hesitated, Fimally he shrugged “It’s in my at-
tac‘l‘:é case In myroom Miss Symith——-” 5 ¢
Never mund,” Tospector Queen said  “T11 get it ”
They had forgotten he wasg there. He was out and back
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in the same unobtrusive way. “For the record, Mr. Marsh, I
didn’t open 1t.”. :
Marsh gave him a queer look. He opened the case an
drew out a thick folded document in a parchment slipcase.
This he handed to Newby, who drew out the will, riffied
through 1ts numerous pages, and passed 1t to Ellery, who spent

rather more time on it. .
“I see that the basic will was drawn up a long time ago,

Al with supplementary sections added after each marriage
and divorce

“That’s right.”

“And according to the additions, the weekly payments to

each divorced wife of a thousand dollars stop on Johnny’s
death but the will leaves her, if unmarried at such time, a

principal sum of a million dollars as a final settlement.”
“Yes 1

“Then each ex-wife,” Ellery said, “had a million dollars’®
worth of vested interest in seeing that this will remained in
force until J ohnny died *

“That’s a rather funny way to put it, but I suppose so, yes.
What’s the point?”

"Oh, come, Al, I know a lawyer of your standing and
background doesn’t like to be mixed up in a nastiness like

this, but youre in 1t and you'd better face up to the fact.

What I overheard from the terrace last night, ic the light of

what subsequently happened, confirms every fear I’ve had.
Johnny’d survived the might, he intended to write a new

Ousan mere ten percent of what they could figure on
collecting if he didn’t of wasn’t able to write the new will.
And Yy contested, he warned them, he wouldn’t leave
them a cent. I agk you, Al- From Audrey’s, Marcia’s, and

ce’s standpomts, wasn’t 1t a lucky break that Johnny failed
to Iive through the night?”

Marsh gulped his drink. And the subjects of Ellery’s solil-
Oquy sat so very still they scarcely disturbed the flight of the
molecules 1n thejr vicinity.

“So the way 1t looks,” Chief Newby announced in the hush,
“you used-to-be-wives of Benedict’s had motive and opportu-
Nity—equal motive and opportumity. And, I might add, equal
access to the murder weapon.”

“I don’t even know what the weapon was!” Audrey Wes,-
ton, leaping “You didn’t tell us., For God’s sake, I couldn’t

commit murder. Maybe Alice Thierney could—nurses get used
to blood But 1t makes me sick. . . .
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“I'll remember that, Audrey,” Alice said mm a hypodermic
”
vo%C‘F‘eor nine hundred thousand dollars, Miss Weston, - IJi;he
chief remarked, “most anybody could commt most anyt ! gf
And oh, yes Your evening gown was found on the scen
e.”
th%‘]?&?l told Mr. Queen yesterday that it was stolen ’from
me!” she wailed “You found Alice’s gloves a,r’ld Marcia’s wig
up there, too, didn’t he say? Why pick on me? ]

“I'm not, Miss Weston. Whatever applies in this cas;ah ag;
plies to all three of you So far. I grant you, finding all ﬂge
articles in Benedict’s room doesn’t add up But there : y
were, and juries tend to go not by fancy figuring but by plam
facts ”

“There’s a fact in this case none of you knows,” Ellery said.
“Dad?”

Inspector Queen stepped forward. “On Thursday mghc;f—c‘i
that was before any of you people came up here—Benfdl
dropped in on Ellery and me at the guest house He to ﬂllls
that Marsh was gomg to write a new will for him over the
weekend, but that, wanting to protect himself in the mealil-
time, he’d drawn up the substance of 1t 1 his own hand an
he wanted us to witness it.”

The old man produced the long envelope Benedict had
consigned to his care .

“My son and I watched Benedict sign and date this holo-
graph » We signed as witnesses, he shipped it into thI,S’
envelope, and he asked me to keep it for him temporarily

“We don’t know what’s in the holograph,” Ellery said
“—he didn’t let us read it, or read 1t to us—but we assume
it sets forth the same provisions as the one he intended Al

Marsh to put in more formal language today Under the
circumstances, Anse, I believe you have every right to open
it here and now.”

The Inspector handed the envelope to Newby, who glanced
at Marsh Marsh g '

hrugged and said, “You've made 1t clear
where the local law stands, Chief,” and stepped over to the
bar to refill his glass

“Did Benedict say anything to you about writing out the
new Wil himself m advance of the weekend, Mr. Marsh?
Newby asked
. “Not a word” Marsh took a he-man swallow and flour-
ished the glass “Come to think of 1t, though, he did ask me
some questions about Phraseology and form m the case of a
?Olohgraphlfwm It didn’t occur t0 me he was seriously asking

or mmself »

ewby sht the envelope with his peaknife and withdrew
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the handwritten will. The Queens rubbernecked. As they

read, the three men looked increasingly surprised and puz-
zled,

The chief said abruptly, “You'd best take a look at this,
Mr. Marsh.”

Newby waved the crowding ex-wives back and offered
the document to Marsh, who handled the paper, his glass, and
a smoldering cigaret like a boy learning to juggle. Fnally he
set glass and cigaret down, and read.

He, too, looked puzzled.

“Read it aloud, AL” Ellery was watching Audrey, Marcia,
and Alice. The trio were craning like giraffes. “Just that
pertinent paragraph.”

Marsh frowned. “He revokes all previous wills—the usual
thing—and leaves his residuary estate quote ‘to Laura and
any children’ unquote. He goes on: ‘If for any reason I am
not married to Laura at the time of my death, I bequeath my
Tesiduary estate to my only living kin, my first cousin Leslie.’
That's the gist of it.” The lawyer shrugged. “It’s sloppily
drawn, but in my judgment this is a legal will.” He returned
1t to Newby and retrieved his glass and cigaret.

“Laura,” Marcia muttered. “Who the hell is Laura?”

“It couldn’t be that hatcheck number he’s been seen with
lately,” Audrey said. “From what the columns have been
spilling, her name is Vincentine Astor.”

ce said, “He’s never mentioned a Laura to me.”

“Or me,” Audrey complained. “Is it possible that two-
egged rat got married secretly before he came up here?”

“No,” Ellery said. “Because in that event he’d probably
have written that he was leaving his estate to ‘my wife Laura,’
the common form, rather than simply ‘o Laura’ If he died
before he married her, the phrase ‘my wife Laura’ on a will
predating the marriage might well invalidate the document
and toss a will case involving mullions into the surrogate’s
court for years No, Johnny was anticipating his marriage to
Laura—if for any reason I am not married to Laura,’ etcetera,

tells us that., Al, do you know who Laura is, or might be?”

“He never mentioned a woman of that name to me ”

“I agree with you, Bllery,” Chief Newby said. “He meant
fo marry this Laura right off and figured he’d jump the gun
by writing her into his interim will beforehand. He protected
himself by that if for any reason’ clause. He must have been
awfully sure of her ”

“I's a tough, tough world for poor old Laura,” Marcia
said with a laugh that was more of a bray “Whoever knocked

Johnny off did her out of a load of rice, Russian sable, square-
cut emeralds, and Paris originals
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b1 <c % 3 ‘t now’
“Absolutely correct,” Ellery said. “She won't inheri ¥
whoever she 1s The estate goes to Johnny’s cousmn Who 1s
Leslie, Al, do you know?”
“Leslie Cari;enter. Everyone else in both the Benedict ?];11(:
Carpenter families is gone. I'll have to notify Leshie about
right away.”

“Read the part about our hundred thousand dollars, Mr.
Newby,” Alice said

Newby glanced at the will in his hand. “I can’t.”
“What do you mean?”

“This will doesn’t mention you or Miss Kemp or Mlsg
Weston. There’s nothing in it about leaving you a hundrtl?(s
thousand dollars apiece. Or ten dollars ” After the shrie p
died the chief said, “It figures. He wasn’t gomng to cormén”
himself on paper to you ladies for one red cent beforehand.

“That was smart of Johnny,” Marsh said with a laugh

“Shrewd would be the word,” Ellery said “He meant f0
propose a deal, as he subsequently did, and he saw no reasczn
to settle his part of the bargain before you had a chance t0
settle yours Also, at the time he wrote this will out I 111:’1,ag1113
his only concern was the protection of Laura or Les‘he. ¢

“In other words,” said the Inspector’s dry voice, “if one 0f
you ladies knocked Benedict off, all you're going to get out O
1t is a choice of your last meal.”

Newby’s tech men and the coroner’s physician drove up
then, with the Lightening sky, and the chief sent the ex-Mrs
Benedicts, Miss Smith, and Marsh back to their rooms and
sought the phone to notify the Wright County prosecutor and
the sheriff’s office The Queens left for a few hours’ sleep

Driving slowly back to the cottage mm the damp dawmn,
Ellery said

with a scowl, “I wonder how right Marsh 1s about
that holograph will stand

m u »

“You told me he know§ hI;s business,” the Inspector said,
“so his opmion ought to be worth something But you know
how these multimillion will cases go, Ellery Those three aré
sure to find hungry lawyers who for 4 big contingency fee will
tie the case up for years.”

Ellery shrugged” “Marsh and that other law firm Benedict
had wished on him

wield an awful lot of clout Well, we have
to assume the holograph knocks out the earlier will and, as

hin This ks U
all the marbles * & Leshie Carpenter fellow picks up

“You can imagine how those vul
Especially the one who b

wrong, son?”
Ellery looked vague.

tures are feeling right now.
eat Benedict to death .. Something
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“Yc;u’re all of a sudden a hundred miles away »

“Oh Something’s been bugging me ever sice We left
Johnny's bedroom ”

“What's that?”
“] don’t know A feelmg That we've overlooked some-
tbmg ”

“Overlooked what?”

Ellery braked the Cougar in the carport and switched off
the 1gnition

“If 1 could answer that, dad, I wouldn’t be bugged. Out.
Sack time ™

Benedict’s cousm Leslie drove in during the early afternoon
of Monday

To the surprise of everyone but Marsh, it was a woman
who got out of the amrport taxi “It mever occurred to me
you'd assume the name Leslie meant a man,” Marsh said to
the Queens “I've known her through Johnny since she was
in deep orthodontia How are you, Les?”

She turned a glad smile on Marsh She was years younger
than Johnny-B, and the Queens soon percerved that she was
not only of a different sex from her late cousin, she was of a
different species. Where Benedict had been the child of for-
tune, Leshe had had to serimp all her life

“My mother, who was Johnny’s aunt—Johnny’s father’s sis-
ter—got the heave from my grandfather In the good old
Victorian-novel style, he dismherited her It seems that mother

was too much of a rebel and didn’t have the proper rever
ence for capital. And worst of all she insisted on falling
love with a man who had no money and no social standing '
Leshe smiled muschievously. “Poor grandfather, he couldn’t
understand mother, and he accused daddy to his face of bemng
—oh, dear—a ‘fortune hunter,’ Dad a fortune hunter! He
thou‘tht less of money than even mother did ”

“You paint a filial picture,” Ellery smiled. )

“ThanI])& you, sir. %ad was therytypical absent-minded pro-
fessor who taught in a country school at a starvation Saliryé
tyrannized by a school board who thought anybody Wi-l(: ﬁe
read more than two books was a dues-paying Communist k1
died at the age of forty-one of cancer Mother was sxgogi
had a theumatic heart . if this sounds like soap OP er?, work

lame me, 1t actually happened . . . and 1 had to go nlo when
to support us That meant leaviog school. Itwas O )éegrce
mother died that T was able to go back and geft n-g{fare and
In sociology Tve been working 1 the fields of ¥

cducation ever since

mother
“Johnny ewidently nursed a guit feclng because



56 THE LAST WOMAN IN HIS LIFE

had been kicked out, so that his father mherited everything
and passed it along to him. Poor old John. He kept IOOKH;g
us up and pressmng money on us Mother and dad Wgun
never take any. Me, I wasn’t the least byt proud I grate Uo¥
accepted John’s financial help after mother passed away,h f
I'd never have been able to go back to college at all, I ha g
too many debts to pay off The way I saw it,” Leslie si?lie
thoughtfully, “Johnny’s making it possible for someone g
me to complete her education was encouragmg him to
something useful with his money instead of throwing it aW%Z
on a lot of gimme girls And if that’s a rationalization, so
it ” And Leshe’s Iittle chin grew half an inch. ter
Inspector Queen (concealing a smile): “Miss Carpenter,
1d your cousin John ever indicate to you that he was gozlng
to make you the principal beneficiary of his estate under
certain circumstances?” ,
“Under no circumstances, never! I didn’t dream he’d leave
me so much as grandfather’s watch, We used to argue Ouﬁ'
social and politica] differences—remember, Al? Al will te
you I never pulled my punches with John ” ¢
“She certamly did not,” Marsh said “Johnny took a grea
deal from you, Les, more than from anybody He was crazy
abtzut you. Maybe n Iove with you ”

» come, Al T don’t think he ever even liked me._ I
of His superego. As far as I was concerned, John Level'ﬂglg
Benedict the Three was a nonproductive, useless, all-wrappe ﬂ;
up-m—hls-own-pleasures parasite, and I was the only one wi
the nerve to te]] him so

There’s so much he could have done
with his money!”
“Aren’t you overlooking something?” Marsh asked dryly.
“He has done 1t, Les Now.”

Leshe Carpenter looked amazed “Dg you know, I'd for-
gotten! That’s

true, 1s0’t 1t? Now I can do all the wonderful
things , . »

There wag something about the capsule autobiographer that

tickled Ellery, and he Surveyed her with an interest not alto-
gether professional Op

the outside she was a porcelamn bit
of femininsty, looking as f yoy could see through her if you
held her up to the light, but experience m reading character
told him she w tough materials There was a tilt

her, or thought he did, went
strength developed through the exercise of
poverty and the peed to fight back 1 a world that crushed
Pacifists There wag 2 womanliness in her, a sweet underlyng
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honesty, a lack of guile, that drew him. {And she possessed
that paradox of nature, blue eyes that were warm.)

He thought it wonderful, then, that Leslie :cumed to”Marsh
and asked abruptly, “How much am I inheriting, Al?

“The answer to that goes back to Johnny's father. Under
Benedict Senior’s will, on Johnny’s death his heir or 1}e1rs
would receive the entire income from the Benedict holdings.
Mind you, Leslie, I said income, not princmpal. Mr. Benedict
didn’t believe in distributing principal, even after he was
dead, The principal remains in trust and intact.”

“Oh,” Leslie said. “That sounds like a letdown. How much
will the income come t0?” )

“Well, you'll be able to do a few good works with it, Les,
and maybe have a few dollars left over for yourself. Let me
See . . . oh, you should be collecting an income of some three
million dollars a year,”

4

. My Godl” Leslie Carpenter whispered; and she fell, weep-
Ing, into Marsh’s arms,

The press and the networks had descended in clouds late
on Sunday, when the news of Johnny-B’s murder got out of
Wrnightsville. The invasion brought with it the usual orgy of
Sensationalism and slush. Newby and his small department,
groggy from coping with the riotous student mass-trip at Fy-
field Gunnery, had their hands overfull; in the end, the chief
haq to call on the state police for assistance, and a number
of importunate newsmen and slop sisters were escorted from
the grounds Order was restored when a news pool was agreed
upon, consisting of one representative each of the wire serv-
ices, the TV networks, and the radio people. A single round-
Tobm conference with the ex-wives and Leslie Carpenter was
authorized to take place 1n the living room of the main house,
a brouhaha that the Queens and Newby observed out of range
of the cameras, watching and listening for some slip or lapse,
00 matter how tiny or remote But if their quarry was one
of the dismherited women, she was too guarded to give herself
away The women merely contended for camera exposure and
had nothing but kind and grieving words for the passmg of
therr Lord Bountiful (The trio had evidently made a pact
Dot to malign Benedict in public for tactical reasons, at least
until they could consult counsel about the will trick and the
brestidigitation of their millions ) Leslie Carpenter Iimited
herself to an expression of surprise at her windfall -and the
statement that she had “plans for the money” which she would
disclose *at the proper time ” .

At this juncture Marcia Kemp was heard to say, “Which is
going to be never. baby!”—not by the press, fortunately for
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her, only by the Queens and Chief Newby. They qucstlom;d
the redhead about the remark later, when the news people
were gone. She explained quickly that she had been referring
to the coming contest over the holograph will, which she was
“sure” she, Alice, and Audrey would win, she had certamly
not intended the remark as a threat to Miss Carpenter.
(Newby thereupon assigned an officer to keep an eye on Miss
Carpenter.)

But that was the only note of discord

There followed the surprising episode of the hittle hill and
what stood upon it.

During the idyllic (pre-homicide) part of their stay, while
exploring Benedict’s property, the Queens had come acros.;
what looked Iike a Greek antiquity in minature, a sort 0
ancient temple for dolls, with a lhittle pediment and some more
than creditable frieze-figures of a bucolic nature, little Doric
columns, and for fillip two heavily stained-glass little WmeWSd
The tmy structure stood on the crest of a hillock surrounde
by meadow, a pleasant if mcongruous sight mn the New En-
gland countryside. .

The Queens, pére et fils, walked around the diminutrve con-
struction wondering what it was It did not look old, yet 1t
did not look new, either. Ellery tried the adult-sized bronze
door and found it as immovable as the entrance to SAC
headquarters

“A playhouse for some rich man’s httle girl?” the Inspector
ventured at last. .
If 5o, 1t was an expensive one This is genuine marble

It did not occur to either man that 1t mught have been

built by John Levering Benedict IIT to shelter his molderng
mortality

But that was what 1t proved to be, a mausoleum “Johnny
left a covering letter about 1t,” Al Marsh told them Monday
night. “He wanted to be laid away 1n it He had a horror of
being planted in the elaborate family vaults—there’s one in
Seattle and one 1n Rhinebeck, New York I don’f really know
why—in fact, T doubt Johnny did himself At heart he was a
rebel like his Aunt Olivia—T eslie’s mother—only he had too
much of his father 1n him, who mn turn was dommated all his
]f,’fe b}: the grandfather, Or, as Johnny put it, I mherited my

ather’s disease—ng guts’ It’s my opimion Johnny hated every-

thlf‘lg that had gone into Creating the Benedict fortune

Anyway, shortly after he purchased this property he de-

Slgnse;leglfei: n}(ausoleurn~rather, had an architect blueprint 1t to
cations—and hyred g

masons, practioaly oo couple of oldtimers, country

extinct breed, I understand, from
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around here to build it on that rise above the meadow. He
brought 1n a sculptor from Boston to do the figures in the
pediment, and the only reason he went to Boston for one 1s
that he couldn't find a local sculptor. Johnny loved this town
and the surrounding country. The marble comes from the
Mahogames up there, native stuff He left a special mainte-
nance fund in perpetuity, by the way. He said, ‘1 expect to
Lie here for a long time *

“But how did he finagle a cemetery permit?” Inspector
Queen asked curiously “Doesn’t this state have a law against
burial in private ground?”

“I had something to do with that, Inspector I rooted
around and found that the section of land where that hill and
meadow lie has been in dispute between Wrightsville and
Wright County for over a hundred and seventy-five years,
the result of a surveymng error m the eighteenth century.
Wrightsville’s always claimed that the meadow 1s withn the
town limits, with Wright County just as stubbornly maintain-
mg that it’s outside the disputed line The claims have never
been satisfactorily adjudicated; 1t’s one of those Biblical prob-

ems these old communities run into sometimes, with no
Solomon around to settle them I worked through a local law
firm, Danzig and Danzig, and we just stepped 1nto the legal
No Man's Land and presented the contending parties with

¢ accomplished fact The thing is 1 such a tangle that I
could assure Johnny he might count on resting in peace in
that minjature temple till the day after Armageddon So he
went ahead with his plans ”

On Wednesday, Benedict's body was officially released by
the coroner’s office (the jury, having little of evidential sub-
Stance to go on but the meager autopsy report, found that
the deceased had come to his death “by a homicide caused
by a blunt instrument hereunder described at the hand of per-
Son or persons unknown”); and on Frniday, which was the
third of April, Benedict was laid to rest 1 his meadow

There had been a fierce if hushed competition for the

usiness Wrightsville’s mortuary needs were served by three
establishments. Duncan Funeral Parlors (the oldest in town),
the Eternal Rest Mortuary, and Twin Hill Etermty Estates,

Inc They cuddled together on the east side of Upper Whis-
thng Avenue (across from The Nutte Shop and Miss Sally’s
Tea Room) like three cotyledons i a seed The notoriety of
the case, which in an earlier day would have caused the con-

servative gentry of the embalmmg fluid to shudder and shy,
only spurred their descendants to the chase, it was not every

day that a local undertaking parlor was called on to bury a
Benedict, and a murdered Benedict at that.
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The determmant in the selection of the Duncan establish-
ment was free enterprise The incumbent, Philbert Duncan,
had absorbed his art at the knees of the old master, his father,
whom envious detractors had called “the shickest people-
planter east of L A ” Johany Benedict’s letter of nstructions
on the subject of his interment had directed that his remains
be encased m a stainless-steel inner container of a solid bronze
casket of specified quality and design. No such magnificent
box being available at any of the Wrightsville parlors, there
was falk of postponing the funeral until the appropriate one
could be shipped up from Boston But Philbert Duncan drove
over to Connhaven in the middle of the night of Wednesda};
Thursday (presumably after moonset by the light of a dar
lantern) and returned in triumph at dawn carting the spect-
fied coffin, 1t turned out that he had a cousin, one Duncag
Duncan, who was m the business in Connhaven, a good-sizé
city in which demands for $5000 caskets, while uncommon,
were not unknown.

Benedict’s mstructions had also called for an Episcopal fu-
neral service, since he had been baptized and confirmed 12 thde
Anglican communion, and old Father Highmount was press€
into service for the occasion, having to come out of retirement
because his successor, young Reverend Boyjian (he was, t0
Ernest Highmount’s horror, not only Low Church but of Ar-,
menian descent!) was m the Bahamas with his wife on a vaca-
tuin financed by the vestry mn lieu of a much-needed rise 18
salary.

As the one and only next of kin, Leshie Carpenter decided
to bypass a formal service m the church because of the rowdy
press and the great curiosity of the public A delegation of
Benedict’s closest friends, selected by Leslie on Marsh’s advice,

came by invitation from south, east, and west. It was cal-
culatedly not large, so that the company assembled on the
meadow before the little Greek temple at two o’clock Friday
afternoon, even with the pool from the news media included,
was handled without difficulty by Chief Newby’s officers, with

the state police relegated to the b d f the property
to balk crank crash 5 oSy Moo o to

ers and just plamn nosy noonans from town
It could not be said that Father Highmount produced 2
snappy service He had always been a mumbler, a failing

proved with age, he was also suffering

, squeaks, snuffles, and
spit  About all the Queens heard with any clarnity were “res-
urrection and the life,” “Donunus i1

) uminatio The Lord 1s my
Light,”" “My soul fleeth” “St John fourteen one,” and a final

e e

q

|
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mighty “one God, world without end Amen!” which was mi-
raculously free of sludge.

But the day was lovely, the breeze ruffled the old man'’s
few fine silvery hairs in benediction, and no one seemed to
mind the unmntelligibility of his message to the dead man.
For there was a quality of sincerity in his performance, a de-
votion to what he was saying over the invisible stranger in
the casket (Leslie had wisely decided, 1n view of her cousin’s
wounds, not to put Philbert Duncan’s cosmetic artistry to the
test by having an open-coffin service), even though no one
understood the old man but himself—there was m thus quality
a somethmg that raised the flesh and brought a meaning out
of the mystery. In spite of himself, Ellery was impressed

He found himself reflecting that the whole bit—Benedict’s
valueless Iife, his dearth of accomplishment in spite of un-
limited means, his uncompensated guilts, his failure to con-
tribute anything but money to sad and greedy women who
prompily threw it away, and finally a brutal death on the
eve of what might have turned out to be his reformation—the
whole bit was out of the theater of the absurd Or, for that
mafter (thinking of the mausoleum), of Sophocles -

Stil, he had redeemed part of his worthlessness Aside
from the mysterious Laura, Benedict had thought to provide
for the far-out contingency—an act of incredible foresight,
when one thought about 1t—that he might not survive the
weekend In which case, he had decided, everything went to
little Lesle Carpenter, who had a very positive idea—as she

ad apparently told him so often to his face—of what could
be done with three million a year

0 his life had not been all wasteland

Ellery half expected the hapless Laura to put in an ap-
Pearance at the funeral—in a dramatic black veil surely—
Wweeping for sympathetic cameras and perhaps angling for a
Paid interview with LIFE or LOOK, or the slushier newspapers
But no mystery woman showed up in Wrightsville or sent a
telegram or a letter to Leslie or Marsh or the police, and no
unidentified funeral wreath arrived to pique the press, Newby,
or the Queens

Only Leslie, Marsh, a trapped Miss Smith, the three ex-
wives, Chief Newby, and the Queens remained while Duncan’s
assistants carried the bronze casket into the mausoleum, set
it precisely on the catafalque, arranged the many wreaths and
floral baskets artistically, and emerged to lock the door and
hand the key to Chief Newby. Who turned it over to Marsh,
a5 the attorney of record, for safckeeping until the estate
<hould be settled.

There was no conversation on the tramp back through
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the fields to the house. Glancing over his shoulder, Ellery
saw the stained glass n the little building glow in the sm(lj-
light, and he hoped that Johnny Benedict was comforted,

although—his unorthodox views bemng what they were—he
doubted it.

The fleet of taxis and private cars had all driven off, only
two state policemen were left guarding the road; m spite

of the sun and the breeze, there was a clammy feel to the air,
and not only the women shivered o

Waiting for them inside was young Lew Chalanski, an
assistant prosecutor of Wright County, the son of a popular
former prosecutor, Judson Chalanski Young Chalanski con-
ferred with Chief Newby aside, smiled his father's famous
vote-getting smile, and left

Newby’s poet's face was preoccupied . ,

“I understand everyone here except Alice Tierney, who S
local, lives in New York City. You’re all free to go home

“Meaning you haven’t got a damned thing on us,” Marcia

Kemp said, tossing her red head like a flamenco dancer. “Or
you’d never let us out of your state *

“Correction What 1t means, Miss Kemp,” the chief said,
“is that we haven’t enough evidence against any individual

to bring before a grand jury at the present time But I want
to emphasize

this is an open case, under active investigation,
and you three ladies are the hot suspects Do any of you havg
plans to leave New York State in the immediate future?
They said they did not. “That’s fine If the situation should
change, however, get

m touch first with Inspector Queen at
his office in Centre Street Th

’ d to act as
liaison man for us up here.” © Inspector’s agree

“How cosy,” Audrey Weston sniffed

“We cops stick together—sometimes,” Newby said. “Well,
ladies and gentlemen, that’s it for now. This house, as the
scéne of a homicide, is gomg to be under seal, so I'd appre-
ciate 1t 1f you left as soon as possible ”

On the plane out of Boston the Inspector said, “Why so
close-mouthed, Ellery?” '

“I can’t decide whether to admire the cleverness or marvel
at the stupidity.”

“Of whom? What are you talking about?”

“Of whoever left those three things in John -
along with his body.

Each one points to a Mrs,
Benedict ” Si?

“We've been all through © ~ cinch
them ” ‘ L

“It certamnly looks that -~

4

s
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“The thing is, though—what would the point be of fram-
ing three different women for the murder? And aside from
that A frameup has to make sense on the face of it—t has
to look legitimate 1f 1t’s to fool the cops What investigating
officer in his right mind would believe that three women
visited that bedroom, presumably at different times, and each
one dropped an article of her clothing on the scene, presum-
ably m her exzcitement or by accident, and so mplicated
herself? Anyone who'd expect a ‘frameup’ like that to work
would have to be AWOL from the cuckoo house *

llery stared out the window at the flooring of cloud they
were gliding over, and he nodded “If's much likelier we’re

dealing with Miss Smarty Pants Who lifted something be-
i;Jngmg to the other two and deliberately left all the articles—

T own included—on the scene in order to spread the m-
;‘g’tagle suspicion and so, so to speak, distribute her guilt.
e

ew that she and the other two ex~-wives were the natural
—n fact, the only viable—suspects. Swce all three had
ientical motive, opportunity, and access to the weapon—in
effect, making herself one-thurd of a suspect instead of a
standout indyvidual *

"Unless it was a conspiracy,” Inspector Queen mused.
The three of them, recognizing they were all i the same
boat, gangmg up on Benedict »

“That’s the one situation in which they wouldn’t have left
clues to themselves at all,” Ellery retorted. “No, 1t was just
one of them "

“But you aren’t satisfied.”

“Well, no,” Ellery said, “I’'m not.”

“What’s bugging you?”

“The whole thing

The plane hummed along
“And another thing,” the Inspector said “Why did I let
you con me into promismg Newby I’d follow through on this

ura woman? God knows I carry a heavy enough case load
as it 1s| And suppose we find her—so what? I can’t see how
she could possibly be implicated

“Unless J ohnny told her something * -

“Like what? Spell 1t out for an old illiterate ™

“You also weren’t cut out to be a comedian! She has to be
found, dad, you know that, long shot or not. It shouldn’t be
too hard. He must certainly have been seen with her 1 pub-
Lic Marsh can tell you Johnny's favorite haunts ”

“Newby also asked me to check out the three exes,” his
father grumbled.

“Noblesse oblige Some day Anse may be able to help you
out on a tough Manhattan homicide



64 THE LAST WOMAN IN HIS LIFE

«“And youre the lousy comic’s son,” the Inspector said
tartly, after which they flew in silence. q

But not all the way Because ten minutes out of Kennedy
Ellery suddenly said, as if they had never stopped talking,
“Of course, this 1s all on the assumption that Johnny V,faﬁ
slugged by Marcia, or Audrey, or Alice Suppose he Wa§11tu

“You suppose,” his father retorted. “My supposer 15 2
tired out Who else could 1t have been?”

“Al Marsh ” 4

The Inspector swerved in his seat. “Why in hell shoul
Marsh have knocked Benedict off?”

“I don’t know ”

“He’s independently wealthy, or if he’s mn financial troubl,e
he certamnly didn’t stand to gain anything under Benedict’s
wills He was also Benedict’s personal attorney, confidant,
closest friend—what earthly reason would Marsh have to
splash Benedict’s brams all over the place?”

“I told you, I don’t know But we do know he had the
same opportumty and access to the weapon that the three
women bhad So all he lacks is motive to be as suspect a3
they are If youre gomg to lend Newby a hand, dad, I sug
gest you dig into Marsh and see if you can come up with

a possible motive My offhand guess would be women.”
“Laura?” the Inspector said nstantly.
Ellery looked out the window.

_ “I'love the way you assign the work,” his father said, sink-
ing back “Any other little thing?”

“Yes” Ellery’s nose wrmmkled “And this one makes me
feel like a heel ”

“No kidding Let me in on it.”

“Leslie Carpenter It’s a thousand-to-one shot, but . . -
check out her alib: for last Saturday night.”

And so, with the jet touchmg down on a runway mn the

Borough of-—by comncidence—Queens, their vacation came
to an end and one of Ellery’s queerest cases began









WRIGHTSVILLE, April 9 (APD)—
The nationwide search for “Laura
Doe” has turned up 48 Laura Does
who claim to be the mysterously
muissing fiancée of the late John Lev-
ermng Benedict III, millionaire play-
boy murdered on the night of March
28-29 on his hideaway estate 1n New
England

Anselm Newby, chief of police of
Wrnightsville,
where the crime took place, behev&
that there has been a mmsunderstand-
ing on the part of the public. “Doe is
a name given by the law to people
whose last names are not known,”
Chief Newby said 1n a statement 1s-
sued today “We do not know the
missmg Laura’s family name It 15 al-

most certamly not Doe That would
have to be a muracle ¥
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EXCERPT FROM TRANScCRrIPT, N.Y.P.D.:

Sergeant Thomas Vehle* Your name is?

Claimant. Laura-Lou Loverly.

Sgt V.: Beg pardon?

Cl! Ttusedto bc‘:? Podolsky. But it’s Loverly now.

Sgt V * Address

C% It’s that big apartment house on West 73rd and Amster
dam. I can never remember the number.

Sgt V New York City.

Cl.- Where else?

Sgt. V.- Your letter claims youre the Laura that John Lever-

ing Benedict the Three promised to marry. Tell me the €I
cumstances, Miss Podolsky.

C! Loverly. Notice how close it is to Leverning?

Sgt. V.: How long you been calling yourself Loverly?
Cl Since way before, don’t worry.

Sgt. ¥V - Since way before when?

Cl . Before I met this john.

Sgt 'V - Okay. The circumstances of your meeting

Cl: Well, this particular evening he was up m my apartment,
see?

Sgt V Doing what?

CI - What do johns usually do 1n a girl’s spartment?

Sgt V.. You tell me, lady.

Cl.. I don’t believe I care for your tone of voice, Officer. You
can’t talk to me like P’'m some ten-dollar trick.

Sgt V. How did he happen to be in your apartment?

Cl A girl can have relationships with people, canm’t she?
Johony phoned me For like an appoimntment.

Sgt. V.: Did he identify himself as John Levering Benedict
Three?

Cl - Are you kidding? Who Listens to names in my set?

Sgt V. Where did he get your phone number?
Cl We had mutual friends P

Sgt. V.. Like for instance
Cl. Oh, no You ain’t got—haven’t some pigeon here I don't
drag my friends into fuzzyland

Sgt. V. All right. Describe this Yohnny,
Cl.: Dressed?

Sgt V.. I'm not interested in his wardrobe I mean color of
eyes, hair, height, weight, bumld, scars, birthmarks, and etcetera-
Cl+ To tell the truth, it’s kind of hazy With all the men-
friends I got. I mean, but 1t was the same john, believe you
me I recognized him right off from the news photos Look,
Sarge, he was sloshed to the eyebrows that night. So he wants
to know—1like they do—how I got mnto the hfe You know. SO
I give um the usual 'sob story and, so help me, he starts cry-
ing on my bozoom “You poor, poor Lid,” he says, “what a
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lousy bitch of a break. You deserve better Every girl ”does.
S0 you know what, Laura-Lou? I'm going to marry you ” Just
like that, so help me Of course, I didn't take him serious, you
understand, Not until I read-——

Sgt. V. Date

Cl. What?

Sgt. ¥V What date did this proposal of marriage happen on?
CL. 1 jotted it down m

my little book somewhere. Here. See?
March 2214,

8t V.. No, I can’t touch it. Refer to it if you have to. Was
that March 220d of this year, Miss Podolsky—I mean, Loverly?
I this year.
Sgt. V.. Thank you. Don’t call us, we'll call you.
Cl You gving me the brosh? Just like that? What are you,
a fuzz wisenheimer?

Sgt. V.. One more lying peep out of you, sister, and TIl book

you for wasting a city employe’s time On March twenty-two
Mr Benedict was in London, England. That way out.

Vincentine Astor? She don

’t work here no more Just didn’t
Show one night, and not

even a postal card since That'’s
© Way most of these broads are, you can’t depend on them
worth a damn, The best ones are the marrieds who are sup-
Porting some bum and a couple kids, they can’t afford to walk
out on the Management. Why she quit? How do I know why?
Who knows Why they do anything? Maybe she didn’t like the
color of the hatcheck room No, I don’t remember him. Not
O his photo, anyways Sure I've seen other pictures of him
in the Papers, TV, you don’t have to get sore. I know they
32y he came into my club a few times, I'm not saying he didn’t.

I'm only Saymg I don’t remember seeing him Kickbacks to
the what? Oh, tn

e mob. What are you talking about? I don’t
know what yow i

ait a minute while I look it up Yeah,
®re  She quit me 1t was Sunday, March twenty-ninth Yeah,
Yeah, her home address MHere Say, Officer, you wouldn’t

happen to know of a stacked broad wants a job? Reliable?
You know?

No, Miss Astor moved out the

end of the month, let’s see
Dow, yeah, as of the thurty-first 1t was Yes, sir, paid up right
to the day she Jeft. No, these are furnished, so she didn’t have
to call a mover or anything, just packed her bags and called
2 cab No, I don't know a thing about her private life I
don’t stick my nose 1n my roomers’ keyholes like some land-

~e,
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ladues around here I could mention As long as they're quict
I always say. And don’t give my house a bad name -
man? Oh No, sir, can’t say I ever did. I mean, I pever S T
him m this house Though his picture does look sort of V{’arlrll .
iar, you might say Say, isn’t this the playboy who—7 Yrel,
never. Il be No, she didn’t leave no forwarding addre,ss,b "
asked her for one but she said it's not necessary, 1 won'
petting any mail Was that girl mixed up with him?

Excerpt INTERVIEW, N.Y P.D:

Detective Piggott Name, Madam?
Claimant Miss

Det P Miss what?

Cl Laura De Puyster Van Der Kuyper

Det P Hold it. Are they like one word, or—?

Cl De—Puyster—Van—Der—Kuyper. P-u-y K-u-y

Det P. Yes, ma’am Address?

Cl Definitely not.

Det P Pardon? ver
Cl I do not have to tell you my place of residence I ne

give that imnformation to anyone A girl never knows
Det P Miss Kuyper—

Cl - Miss Van Der Kuyper ddress
Det P Miss Van Der Kuyper I bave to put your 2
down on this report. It’s regulations

CI - Not my regulations You claim you’re a police officer— i
Det P What else would I be? Sithng here at this table
police headquarters asking you questions?

Cl.. Tve heard of that kind of smooth talk before It's the W&y
they get mto your apartment and attack you.

Det P- If you were attacked, Miss Van Der Kuyper, that’s
a different department.

Cl T'm not gomng to tell you about it. Or anyone You'd like

me to, wouldn’t you? Splash me all over the filthy Dews
papers

Det P: Age?

Cl - You may put down I am over twenty-one .

Det P (begins to speak, changes his mund, writes, “Over 50")
Look, Miss Van Der Kuyper, we have this confidentzal com-
munication from you clairming yvou hnow or rather knew John

L. Benedict Third and you are the Laura he allegedly PYOPOSCd
marmmage to Is that correct?

Cl.. That s precisely correct.

Der. P Now. How long were you acquainted with this John
L. Benedict Third?

Ct.: For ages and cons Ventably

Det. P.. Could you be hie more eract, Miss Van Der Kuyper?
.- Exact about what?

Der P.; About the tme you made his acquantance,
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Cl Ts there time in Paradise? Our marriage plans were mur-
mured 1 Heaven 1 am not ashamed to proclaim our affection

to the universe We met 1n a secret Persian garden
Det P Where, where?

Cl: It 1s so crystal in my memory. That soft, immoral—im-
mortal evening The moon great as with child., The drunken
scent of frangipani sweet in our quivering nostris, and of
divine cinnamon, and anise, and thyme.

Det P Yes, ma’am This secret garden was in Persia, you
5ay? Just where in Persia?

Cl. Persia?

Det P, 1 should think that does it, Miss Van Der Kuyper.
Fine, fine, it's ohay You'll hear from us i due course No,
ma‘am, that’s our job. If you'll Lindly follow the matron. . . .

’%"IP sheets for when did you say? Tuesday, March thirty-first.

0§t a mmute Hey, Schiockie, I got to talk to you; look

cer, if you'll give me a few seconds We got nothing but
kooks roll out of this shop

Oh, say, you still checking the air pollution in here? I'm
Sorry, Officer, you can’t take this life if you don’t make a
funny once m a while, excuse me. These hackies are gomg to

© my death, to listen to them they got beefs not even the
Mayor heard of Yeah, certainly. Tuesday, March three-one
Here 1t 15, Joseph Levine. You want his license number?
Picked up the fare at that address as of ten thirty-four A M,
discharged passenger at Grand Central No, Joe won’t be
pulling 1n till four forty-five, five this afternoon Think noth-
g of it. Always glad to do the P D. a favor. Yeah

Finally, there’s the story out of Wash-
mgton, where rumors grow thicker
than cherry blossoms at Japanese
festival time, that a subcommittee of
Congress may launch an mvestiga-
tion into the search for the mysterious
Laura i the John Benedict murder
case, on the alleged ground that there
18 no Laura and never has been, that
it’s all been some sort of press agent’s
plot to promote something or other, a
movie or a new TV series or some-
thing, as such constituting a fraud on
the public imnocence, and therefore
bemng the legitimate concern of the
nation’s lawmakers, who clearly have

nothing more important to do. Good
might, Chuck.

My dear fellow, 1 knew Johnny-B as well as any man alive—
even though Al Marsh didn’t have the elemental good manners
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to mvite me to the obsequics—and I swear to you 0f my :
honor, and you may print this, that when Johnny wrote that
clause 1 his will about some “Laura” or other and how he
was gomg to marry her, he was simply pulling the leg of the
whole mother-frugging world. He told mec mn absolute cpn;
fidence that he was through with the marriage bit, It was gusit
after his final decree from that country R N. from-——whatsul
called? Titusville? Dwightsville? something rarc and wondertf
likke that, “Muzzie,” Johnny said to me, “just between you,
me, and the ncarest pub I've had it Up to here No mOlI't’«’
wedding marches for Johnny-B From now on I'm §}1'l°‘3
tone-deaf, fancy-free, and staying away from asles. His
exact words And you may quotc me No, not Mussie Muz-
zie, with a double z

The jet set continues in a busy-buzzy-
tiz over the Johnny Benedict tragedy.
There has been hardly any other
topic of conversation among the BP
for weeks and weeks, or at least 1t
seems weeks and weeks Everyone
wants to know who Laura i1s—Laura,
now known among Johnny-B’s cronies
as “the last woman in his Ife ” Com-
pounding the mystery is the fact that
no one can recall anyome named
Yaura in or out of Johnny’s circle

This column can now reveal that
Jackie and Ar1 ...

Yeah, I'm Levine Joseph W What fare? Now, how the hell
do you expect me to remember some dame I picked up GO
knows how far back? I know, I know, I can read the date o
the trip sheet Okay, so she was a big platnum-type broad
with a built You got any 1dea how many dames like that a2
New York hackie picks up m a day? Look, Mac, I'd like t0
help you out but I just amn’t with 1t on a hooha like this
hack I figure three out of every ten fares to some termmnal,
and what I do at Grand Central 15 I dump them at the bottom
of the ramp, pick up another fare, and away I go If they

start telling me the story of their lives and why they're leaving
New York and where they’re going I blow mj}; earZ out like 2
whale or something and I

let 1t 0 right e uld
worry why they’re leavin go right on through—I sho

1 g and where they’re off to? Sorry,
Officer, I'm such a drip-dry on this ILet me tell you 1n cop-

fidence, though, I don’t think there’s enough police brutali

Some of the creeps I run 1nto m my line of wol?rk you couldgt
beat therr brains out with a stainiess-steel jack handle, they
am’t got any Thanks? For what? Did I tell you something?

U -
— N
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Look, Sidney, we're supposed to be keepmg our mouths shut
about the Benedict case—orders straight from Inspector
Queen Iknow I owe you. Okay, but for chrissake protect
‘our source  We just put out a flyer on this Vincentine Astor.
Vo, we haven’t got a thing on her. Except what’s likely 2
:omcidence that she quit her job at the Boy-Girl Club March
twenty-ninth No, I'm telling you, Vincentine sn’t wanted
except for routine questioning. We have no hard evidence
that Benedict ever knew her except to check his hat with
Yeah, we know he visited the Boy-Girl Club a number of
times within the past few months. If Vincentine was the hat-
check girl Benedict was giving the rush to lately, he sure
changed his M.O , because he must have met her strictly on
the g t. away from his regular hangouts. The general feeling
around here s that the reason she quit at the club and
left town two days later had not a damn thing to do with
Benedict Tl grve you a little bonus, Sidney, and then I got
0 g0 The word 1s that the brass upstairs are sore as hell
at Inspector Queen for getting New York mixed up in this
Benedict brawl, T mean to the extent of carrying the ball for
this jerk-town police chief As if we haven’t got enough
c‘eadaches around here. Who? No, I haven't seen Ellery for
ays 1 guess he heard the rumor, too, and doesn’t want to
get hus old man 1n worse dutch than he 1s already.

MEMORANDUM
70

Inspector Richard Queen, NYP D
FROM " Anselm Newby, Chief, Wrightswille

I wish 1 could report progress of some sort. I can’t.

The only fingerprints we found in Benedict's bedroom
Wwere s, Morns Hunker’s, and Annie Fmdlay’s, and Morris’s
and Anme’s had perfectly good reasons to be there The stains
on Benedict’s robe and pajamas and 1 the room generally
are all of the same blood-type as his The iron of the weapon
15 a rough welding job and would normally take poor prnts,
Our tech man says, but he has reason to believe that it was
also wiped clean with something just in case He was not able
10 bring out so much as a partial latent We have not been
able to come up with a lead to any suspicious person Or per-
SOns 1 the vicimty of the Benedict property on the night of
the murder The detadled pm reports no addinons to the
prelim report Death was definitely caused by the blows to the
head, and there was no sign of toxic or other foreign sub-
stances in the intermal organs except traces of alcohol ac-
counted for by the drinks Benedict 1s reported to bave drunl

dunng the evening before he vent to bed And that's about 1t
I hope you're having better luck at your end.

Ansclm Nev by,
Chief of Police
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PSS+ Have you had any success tracing Laura? What does

Ellery say? I haven’t heard a word from hum since you both
left Wrnightsville.

AN

Enc - Photocopies_of fingerprint, bloodstamn analysis, and au-
topsy reports.

MEMORANDUM

T0* Chief A. Newby, Wrightsviile
FROM R Queen, Inspector, NY P D.

I am sorry to report that the Laura investigation is at 8
standstill.

We will keep at it, but of course you understand that
we carry a very heavy load of our own these days which of
course has to take prionity over courtesy cases such as our
current assistance with the Wrightsville murder

Ellery has said very little to me about the case My feel-
ing is he is as hung up on 1t as the rest of us

R Queen,
Inspector, NY P.D.

MeMoORANDUM

TO TInspector Richard Queen, NY PD
FROM: Anselm Newby, Chief of Police, Wrightsville,

I understand your position about the Benedict case, and I
am sorry that your vacation in Wrightsville got you and your
son involved mn it. In all fawness that was none of my domg

and 1if my recollection 1s correct the original suggestion that the
NY PD helpus out on the case came from Ellery

If your case load is too heavy to enable you to assist 8
fellow police officer in the mvestigation of a prominent Man-
hattan multimillionaire nternational playboy, let me know by
return mad and I will personally wnite to your immedate Su-
perior and take you and the NY P.D off the hook.

In the above case I should appreciate your sending me all
reports you have 2accumulated thus far, the orniginals 1f possi-
ble, photocopies if not, especially reports concernmng Audrey
Weston, Marcia Kemp, and Al Marsh

1 am very grateful for your assistance.

A Newby,
Chief, Wrightsvilje p D.
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TO Chief Anselm Newby, Wrightsville Police Department
FROM R Queen, Inspector, N Y.P.D .
_ 1 dd not mntend anything 1 my last note to give you the
Impression that I was trymng to go back on my promise. I was
merely pointing out that we could not afford to put as much
time, effort, and man-hours into an out-of-city (and state) case
as if the homicide was within the N.Y P D.’s direct junisdiction.
I have shown your memorandum to my superiors and they
ve agreed to allow me and my staff to continue assishing you
in the Benedict mnvestigation, especially since—as I pointed out
n a conference just concluded with certain high officers of the
Department—ramifications of the case lead directly into New
York City and two of the three prime suspects are residents of
Manhattan.
As a routine matter we have cheched out Leslie Carpen-
ter’s whereabouts on the night of Saturday-Sunday, March 28—
29 She has an airtight alibi for the general time-period of the
cnme She was in Washington, D C, from late afternoon of
Friday, March 27, to the evening of Sunday, March 29, attend-
Ing 2 two-day Urban Corps conference. Every hour of Miss
Carpenter’s time during those two days is accounted for.
There is nothing further to report on Audrey Weston and
arcia Kemp Both are keeping pretty much to theirr Manhat-
tan apartments If they have seen an attorney about the will
Situation we do not have any information I assume there 1s
sm?rly nothing from your end on Alice Tierney

M will soon be sendmg you a background report on Al
arsh, per your request. Best personal regards

Richard Queen,
Inspector, NY P.D.

de‘s;?,n Marsh?” Ellery said, reaching across the Imspector’s
spector Queen 1gnored the hand. “You can look at it
]ater 'rhel.ev

s nothing 1n 1t you don’t know about him except
YOPCInever mentioned that Alisn’t his real name ”

,- Dever mentioned it because, if you were a friend of

S m our Harvard days, you were quickly conditioned not
to I suppose the report notes that he was christened Aubrey,
as n C Aubrey Smith, rest his stiff-upper soul Anyone who
called Al Aubrey like as not wound up with a shiner or a
bloody nose

“According to one source,” the Inspector said, * “Aubrey’
was an inspiration of his mama’s I can’t say I blame him.
It’s a hell of a tag for a grown man to have to tote around.”

“Al once told me that when he was in grammar and prep
school—private, of course, about which he was suprisingly
bitter—he had to lick every kid in his grade before he made
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the ‘Al’ stick ‘Al’ doesn’t stand for dﬁ’s,lbert, or Alfred, or
Aloysius, by the way—for just Al, pertod 7 ] N
‘%113 fancy ancestors must be swinging in their graViS dle
“By the time he got to Harvard he was too big to acI
even m fun He was a varsity back and he won theb Zly
League wrestling title in his weight class I doubt if anybo 5_’
in the Yard knew his name was Aubrey except his l:nostBlltll't
timate pals, and we had more sense than to bring it uPd'dn’t
" I never did learn much about his family background. Al di
talk about 1t .
The Inspector scanned the report “His father came fromlt
line of international bankers and high society. His mother, or
says here, was a Rushington, whatever that is Marsh Semas
was killed in the crash of his private plane just after Al w
born ”
‘“That might explan something,” Ellery said “He used tg
talk about his mother all the time Never about his father.
“Mrs Marsh never remarried, even though she Wai o%
young woman when her husband died She devoted the res N
her active life to Aubrey, and when she became an mv'%}ie
he returned the service—looked after her like a nurse A
feeling among his friends 1s that that's why he never g0
married And by the time his mother kicked off he was 2
confirmed bachelor »
“His mother left everythmg to him, of course ”
“What else?”
“How much?”
“Loads Marsh isn't as rich as Benedict was, but after the
first few mullions is there any difference?”
“Then Al 1s rock-solid financially »
“Like the Chase National Bank.”
“No trouble? Gambling, bad mnvestments, anything like
that?”
“No He’s pretty much a conservative where money 1S
concerned. He doesn’t gamble at all »
“So there’s no motyve
“Not a whimper  He doesn't gan from any of Benedict’s
wills, he wvouldn't need 1t if he did, and every source we've
tapped indicates that he's a topflight attorney with a rcputa-
tion for abeolute personal honesty as well as professional
competence
But Ellcry penisisted  “That kind of conclusion depends on
the rehibality of the source Have you been able to investigate
his handhnr of Joham s affairy?
“Ye, and as [0 as we ean ted! s all legal and above-
taand  Grarted e couldn’t be sure without a plant inside,
st coutd Marsh iope to nccompli-h by diddling with Bepe-

.
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dict’s funds? It could only be for a financial reason, and
we're absolutely positive Marsh has no money WOIT1ES what-
Soever Anyway, most of Benedict’s capital is under the
Management of Brown, Brown, Mattawan, Brown, and Loring,
that old-line law firm, and not under Marsh’s at all

“How about women?”

“How about them?”

“I mean a possible romantic rivalry *

“Nothing,” What we've dug out indicates that Marsh has
Dever been involved with any number on Benedict’s hit parade
CXcept, on occasion, in his legal capacity, when Benedict
Wanted to pay some girl off or make some sort of settlement
on her to close the book when he’d got tired of her.”

“And the ex-wives?” )

ector Queen shook his head ‘Nothing there, either.
arsh got to know them through Benedict, except the Kemp
gul, and his contacts with them were strictly as Benedict’s
friend and, 1 the course of time, as Benedict’s attorney.
yway, Marsh’s preference in women 1s the opposite of
enedict’s, Marsh goes for small, femimine-type females ”
llery grinned “Al once showed me a photo of his mother.
She was a small, feminine-type female ”
His father frowned “Will you clear out of my office and
¢t me do some of my own work?” The Inspector had an
old-fashioned sense of propriety, and cracks about Posmbly
unhealthy mother-son relationships did not amuse him As
ery was opening the door the old man asked, “Where you
off to now?”

“Y thought of Somethlng I want to ask Al about JOhn.D.y.
T'Hl tell you about 1t later.”

Mr Marsh, Miss Smith said, was tied up with a chent and
could not under any circumstances be disturbed. Anyway,
Mr Marsh never saw anyone except by appointment. Unless,
her hostile glance suggested, it was the kind of snoop business
that experience had taught her to associate with the presence
of one Ellery Queen? Miss Smith’s tone and demeanor were
such that, had she been barefoot, love-beaded, and unkempt,
she would have spat the word “pig™ at him, with an appro-
Priatc modifying obscenity; as st was, being a lady and the
product of a no doubt Victorian mother, she could only resort
to the subtleties of eye- and vocal cord-play to ewpress her
loathing

Mr. Queen, ever the gentlemnn 1n the presence of a Tady,
seribbled o fuw words and acthed with utter politesse that Myss

Squth n her <ecrutantd ecapacity comves the note (o Mr.
Muardh chient notwithataudimg
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Miss Snuth: 1 can’t do that ¢

Mr. Queen. You astonish me, Miss Smith It may be ﬂlat
you will not do that, or that you may not do that, but tha
you cannot do it—since you seem normally amlyulatOTY an
otherwise 1n unimpaired possession of your physical faculties
—1I do not for an mstant believe.

Mass Snuth How you do go on You thmnk you'’re smart.
You're the kind who makes fun of people

Mr Queen I'm emphatically nothing of the sort I sumply
feel 1t my duty to the cause of semantic hygiene never to
allow a grammatical slovenliness to go uncleansed

Miss Snuth: You must have a real dandy time all by your-
self listening to the radio and TV commercials pollute the
English language

Mr. Queen Miss Smith, how marvelous! You have a sensé
of humor! Now will you take that note m to Al, hike I asked
you?

Miss Smith You made a booboo! You said ‘hike’ wstead
of ‘as’l

Mr. Queen Alas, so I did Demonstrating the fallibiity of
even the purest purist The note, Miss Smith? ,

Miss Smuth You made that mistake purposely. YouTe
‘pulling my leg

Mr. Queen No, but 1s 1t permitted? I might add that I have
admured your limbs, Miss Smuth, from the moment I laid eyes
on them Ah, you're smiling We advance The note?

. Al Marsh came out for a moment, glancing at Miss Smuth
m a puzzled way

“Miss Smith seems all of a flutter, Ellery Charm, or an
emergency?”

“Hardly the first, and no to the second. It's just that I
wanted to ask you something about Johnny It won’t take
a minute—"

_“1 don’t have a minute The old gent 1 my office takes a
dim enough view of me as 1t 1s His pomnt 1s that keeping 2
man of lus age waiting—he’s ninety—constitutes a felonious
act How about meeting me at my place? Sevenish? Dinner,
if you’ve no other plans Lous used to cook at Le Pavilon.
Miss Smuth will give you my address 1f you don’t know 1t ”

It proved to be a duplex penthouse high over Sutton Place
Above the dismal city—in spite of calendars, not quite out of
winter, not fully mto spring—Filery found himself luxuriating
A houseman named Estéban ushered him mto a man’s huge
habitat of feudal oak, Spanish iron, velvets, brass, copper, a
place of lofty ceilings, hunter’s trophies, and weapons While
he waited for Marsh to appear Ellery strolled about fakinge
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hss pecuhar inventory, totting up the stock that declared the
man

There was not a trace of modernism about the apartment,
swch of it as he could see; it might have come out of an
- exclusive men’s club of the Nineties The small private gym-

nasum off the living room (the door was open) displayed
- Weights, barbells, exercycles, parallel bars, a punching bag

setup, and other paraphernalia of the aging ex-athlete; that
;";Ss to be expected of Marlboro Man. But there were sur-
es

Half a short wall was taken up with stereophonic equipment
for the tugh fidelity reproduction of a large collection of LPs
and cassettes There was a great deal of Tchaikovsky and
B%@ovm, he noted, struck by the romanticism he had not
associated with Marsh. The hi-fi was playing “Prince Gremin’s
A" from Eugen Onegin; Ellery recognized the Russian-
Singing basso as Chaliapin, whose great masculine voice he
often sought for tus own reassurance -

leaded-glass bookstack enchanted him It contained rare
Amer}can, French, and British editions of Melville, Rimbaud,
Verlaine, Henry James, Proust, Wilde, Walt Whitman, Gide,
and Christopher Marlowe, among many others—rank on rank
of hterary giants, many m first editions the sight of which
made Ellery’s wallet itch. There were rare art books of
enormous size jllustrated” with the pamtings and sculptures
chiefly of da Vinci and Michelangelo. A row of niches m the
oak walls held busts of historical figures whom Marsh evi-
dently admired—Socrates, Plato, Alexander, Julus Caesar,
Vugil, Horace, Catullus, Frederick the Great, Lord Kitchener,
Lawrence of Arabia, and Wilhelm von Humboldt,

“I see you're casing my treasury,” Marsh said, turning off
the stereg “Sorry to keep you waiting, but that old fellow
has had me hopping all affernoon Drink?” He had changed
to a lounge suit with an open sik shirt; he wore huaraches.

“Anythmg but bourbon ”

“You don’t go for our native elixir?”

“T once got myself beastly drunk on it. Why do I malign
the beasts? Humanly I haven’t been able to sniff 1t since »

Marsh went behind his taproom-sized bar and began with
energy to make like a bartender “You? Got drunk?”

“You make it sound hke a capital crime I'd just been
extinguished by the then hght of my Iife.”

“You? Had an affair with a girl?”

It certamnly wasn’t with a man. What do you take me for,
M?!i

«well, T don’'t know. Here's your gin on the rocks That's
as far from bourbon and branch as you can get.” Marsh sank
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i i un-
into a chair that dwarfed him, nuzzling 2 concoction of

guessable mgredients, “I've never ﬂéought of you as T
human, Ellery. I must say I'm relicved " )
«Thank you,” Ellery said “1 envy you tbc;se ﬁ;&; editions.
T'm beginning to grasp the full advantages of wealll.
“Amen,” Marsh said “But you didn't drop into m}'v?hﬁ;z
this afternoon, or here tonight, to admire my etchings.
on your mind?” ] ) ) "
“Do you recall that Saturday night in Wrightsville, Al?
“It’s written in acid.”
“As you know, I was eavesdroppng from the.ten'acet V(’)Vgsﬂg
Johnny was delivering that spiel about his new-will intentions:
“Yes?” §
«“Something I overheard him say that night has been bg’;hlg
ing me I'm not clear about what he meant. H? ren; - hat
that his three marriages had been ‘strictly business. Jus
did he mean by that?” .
Marsh settled back with his glass and a menthol Clbg:égff'
“By the terms of his father’s will, contrary to popular e A
the Benedict fortune was left in trust and all Johnny recg e
was three hundred thousand dollars per annum out ot oa
income from the estate. Well, I don’t have to tell you tha e
lad of Johnny’s tastes, upbrmging, and habits three h(‘imd o
thousand a year didn’t begm to provide for his standar
living ”

“He broke his father’s will?”

“Unbreakable But not unshakable.” Marsh shrugged:

“Johnny asked me what, 1f anything, could be done to 1'::uset
the ante. I studied Benedict Senior’s will and found wha
looked like a possible loophole. More in jest than anything
else I pointed it out to Johnny—a looseness of expression n

one of the provisions that might yield an interpretation M.
Benedict had never mtended.”

“Sounds fascinating What was it?"”

“Ope clause in the will gave Johnny the sum of five million

dollars out of the prmecipal estate quote ‘when my son JO
marries’ unquote ”

Bllery laughed.

“Of course you'd see it. Johnny certainly did “When My
son John marries’ could reasonably be construed to meap
4yhenever my son John marries’— in other words, every timé
he married he was entitled to collect another five million from
the estate I actually wasn’t serious when I called the wording
of the clause to Johnny’s attention, and I didn’t dream he
would rearrange his Iife to revolve around it But that’s just
what he did He insisted on going mto court with out argu-
ment about construing the ‘when’ as ‘whenever,’ and it was

w
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typical Johnny-B luck that the court upheld our interpretation.
So then he launched his series of marnages, divorces, and re-
man-iages.n

Hllsﬂlery was shaking his head “ ‘Strictly. business’ is Tight.

marriages were keys to the strongbox. Another key,
another haul *

“Exactly. There was no misrepresentation to the women.
They understood just why he was marrying them and just
What they could expect to get out of it I might add, Ellery,
that I was completely against Johnny’s change of heart about

0se million-dollar settlements * Marsh’s big hand tightened
about his glass, “I suppose 1t's silly of me to admat this, but
the fact 15 I had a considerable row with Johnny about that
Intention of his to change from the muillion to the hundred-
thousand-dollar settlements. I told him 1t would be an act of
bad faith, a cop-out, really, certainly unethical, and I wanted
10 part n jit. In the end we left it unresolved—I mean my
Participation 1 it.”

“When did this row take place?”

“On the jet commg back from England, when he first
broached his plan.” - .

“You sounded pretty much on Johnny’s side that night, Al,

you sure you aren’t trymng to snow me?”

“I'm not snowing you Johnny made it clear to me that
last weekend 1n Wrightsville that, friends or no friends, if
I didn’t do 1t for him he’d get some other lawyer to It forced
e to do some weighing and balancing I'd known Johnny
Since we were teenagers—hell, I loved the guy. And I could
hardly defend the ethical conduct of three girls who’d walked
o a cold-blooded money deal under the guise of romance
With therr eyes wide open. In the end I picked Johnny, as of
course he knew 1 would. Although I confess I've had qualms
since

Ellery sipped his gin. Marsh rose to freshen his drink,
whatever it was vrs

“All right,” Ellery said at last. “I suppose it’s easy to make
value judgments 1n a vacuum About this Laura everybody’s
looking for, Al You really have no notion who she might
be?”

“No I've begun to think—along Wi.th a great many others,
I understand—that Laura existed only in Johnny’s fertile mind.
Although what motive he could have had for writing an imag-
mary beneficiary into a will 1s beyond me ”

“She exists, Al One other thing What was the state of
Johnny’s financial health around the time of his death?”

“He was alng agam. You know, Johnny was the world’s
softest touch. He was a lifelong victim of his guilt for baving
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come into so much money. He especially cpuldn’t turn dovzg
a friend. One of his last exploits—which is tYplcal""g"age a
build a catsup factory in Maryland somewbere to pPro léame
new kind of goo for an old pal, so-called, whose wife e
up with the recipe one might—you won't believe thlsf""e he
dream. Johnny tasted it, pronounced it divine, and befor dm
—and it—were through he sank eight hundred thousan o]
it, an almost total loss Do you want a few hundred ca p
We couldn’t sell any, and the last I heard Johnny was givin
it away, with few takers ” . _dollar
“] meant, Al, was he due for another five-mullion- %mg
marriage deal? Could that have been his reason for inten:
to make this Laura number four?” re-
“Well, according to his own words he was gomg f0 fve
marry,” Marsh said dryly, “and he certainly could use the
million Draw your own conclusion ” ura
“Then you believe that all that talk of his about the L?i
romance being the real thing at last was a lot of self-deluding
nonsense?”’ - able
Marsh shrugged again. “I wish I knew. It's conceiva o
that he may have thought he was m love for the first ﬁms
mn his Iife—for all his knocking about Johnny in some W2y
was still an adolescent Yes, Estéban?” ; ;
“Louis say you and guest come now,” Estéban said in coB
1s:\ide:rable agitation “Louis say you and guest no come now,
e qut”

“My God” Marsh jumped to his feet, looking stricken-
“Ellery, vite, vite!”

Lows’s dinner warranted Marsh’s haste It opened with
an Icre Negre caviar from Romania and a Stolichnaya vodka,
the soup was a petite marmite, served with an 1868 Malmsey
Madeira. Then Estéban brought a heavenly quenelles with
sauce Nantua accompanied by an estate-bottled Montrachet,
Marquis de Laguiche 1966, for the pidce Louis had pI‘ePared
a delectable noisettes de veau sautées, each serving crowneé
with a blackish, toothsome cépe which could only have come
from a French boletus bed (the small round veal steaks
Ellery learned, had been flown in from Paris; the proper cut,
according to the word as transmitted from Louis, was UD-
obtainable 1n the United States and, even assuming 1t could
be procured }ocally somewhere, Louis turned his culmary
thumb down in advance “He has nothing but contempt for
the chefs 1n les Etats-Unis,” Marsh explained, “who substitute

lomn or kidney vgal chops for the noisettes véritables and
them the real thing In fact, Louis has nothin

for practically everything not French.
Ellery pleaded, “for at least at the ran

g but contempt
” “Forglve hlm, A],”
ge your paragon of les
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pots et pans knoweth precisely what he doeth™); with the
nowsettes came, in magnificent simplicity, gatmished new po-
tatoes, a Chéteau Haut Brion of the 1949 vintage, and 2
braised Romaine salad, followed by a delicate fromage de Brie
(ar-maed by Fauchon) and a Chiteau Cheval Blanc St.
Emilion 1949, a Dobos Torta which decided Ellery to make
Bucharest hus next continental port of call; a champagne
sherbet, and finally an espresso with a thirty-year-old private-
stock Monnet cognac
- “This has been one of Louis’s lighter dinners, whipped up
more or less on the spur,” Marsh said slyly. “Nevertheless,
agréable au gofit, non?”
Ellery whispered, “Vive la Francel!”

“It’s a question of professional pride, I guess,” Chief Newby
grumbled, leaning back in his swivel chair and tonguing a
fresh cigar “Have one?”

‘Tm not smoking this week,” Ellery said. “What 1s7”
it',‘,‘fl’ve never had a homicide this important. I'd hate to flub

“I know what you mean.”

“You don’t know what I mean, Ellery. You've got too
blame good a statistical Tecord But I'm a back-country cop
who all of a sudden gets hit with a big-time case, and it’s
g0t me uptight, like the kids say. You know, I've been
thinking »

“’i;ou have company, Anse. What exactly about in your
Case 24}
“We’ve been going on the assumption that the motive for
Benedict’s killing ties m to the will situation and the three
eX'WiVeS.”

*“Yes?” -

“Maybe no » .

“Anse,” Ellery said severely, “1 don’t appreciate anyone’s
cryptic remarks except my own.” ] ]

“I mean, suppose the motive had nothing to do with Bene-
dict’s wills?”

“All right For instance?”

‘I don’t know.”

“Thank you, Chief Newby. You have now joined a very
select group ”

“No kid, there could be something *’

“Of course, but what?”

«you haven't struck anything in New York?”

“We haven’t struck anything anywhere Dad's people have

faled to turn up anything or anyone in Johnny’s life that

provides a possible reason for someone to break into his
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Wrightsville house and kill him. And by the way, Aﬂse’;,l;},
your tech men find any trace—any at all—of a B and E.

“No It was either an ioside job, Iike we've been figunng,
or an outsider who got in and out without leaving @ trace
Go on, Ellery.”

“Go on where? I've just completed my statement. Nobod}g
Not even a theory about anyone. For a whie we fumble
around with a Vegas contract theory, possibly tied in someho‘;
to Marcia Kemp—those boys hit on contract with no reSPeh
for caste or class, true democracy in action. A_dthough t i
whole trend in their set these days 1s away from violence. Bu
we drew a blank No evidence that Johnny-B ever welshed on
a betting loss, in Vegas or anywhere else for that matter,
according to—believe me, Anse—highly reliable 501:!1'015"15e
We've turned up no mvolvement with the Corporation, or b
Combine, or whatever the Mafia’s calling jtself this mont ¢
Anyway, the pro touch is missing in this murder. Contrac
killers come equpped with their own working tools, tbey
certainly don’t depend on picking up a Three Monkeys 01 the
scene to beat their victim’s brams out.” al

“Then it could have been an amateur job for a person
I‘g;clrlen, like somebody had a grudge agamst him for somie-
t g "

“I told you, Anse Nothing like that has turned up ”

“That doesn’t mean 1t couldn’t be ”

Ellery shrugged “I have long had a convenient murderer
for cases that stall I call him, as I pull him out of my hat,
The Man From Missing Forks, Iowa Sure it could be, Anse
Anything could be But you know and I know that most
homicides are commuitted not out of the blue for obscure Of
bizarre reasons by the pop-up gent from Missing Forks, but by
someone connected directly or obliquely to the victim for 2
reason that, to the killer at least, seems perfectly senmble,.lf
not inevitable The problem is to put your finger on
and/or 1t So far we've been surveymg the terram for all the
possibles, with no luck. What you do 1s, you keep plugging
away with the hope that sooner or later, preferably sooner,
your luck is going to change ”

“So 1t still may come down to those three women and the
will,” Newby grunted, emerging from his cloud

“You don’t sound satisfied

“With that theory? It's too—now don’t laugh, Elleryl—too0
damned easy.”

“Who's laughing?”

“You sure you didn’t run up here on something you're
keeping back from me?”

«Anse,” Ellery said, and rose “May I have the key now?”
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“Then why do you want to go back to Benedict’s place?”

AI:S‘Yr;Ju’re not the only one with uneasy feelings The key,
e 2}

“If you don’t mind,” the chief said, rismg also, “I think
1l keep you company
Newby drove Ellery over to the Benedict property in his
1967 unmarked Dodge (to avoid notice, he claimed); he un-
locked the front door and waved Ellery i before him, follow-
Ing on the wisitor’s heels Ellery galloped upstairs and nto
Johnny-B’s bedroom as if he expected to be greeted there by a
miracle, or the answer, which his whole air announced would
ha‘{e been the same thing

‘You act like you forgot something, Ellery,” the Wrights-
ville police chief said “What?”

“I wish T could tell you” He was looking about the room
33 1f he had never laid eyes on it.

“You mean you won’t tell me?” Newby cried

‘I mean I don’t know ”

“Damn 1t, stop answermg me in riddles!” the exasperated
man said “You remind me of that Sam Lloyd puzzle book my
mama used to keep in her parlor ”

“T'm not being coy, Anse I really don’t know It’s simply
a feelng, like yours, that the three women and the will as an
answer 1s too easy

“But what kind of a feeling is it?” o7

“I've had 1t before,” Ellery said slowly, touring the room.
“Often on a case, m fact.” He avoided the chalked outline of
Benedict’s body on the floor “A feeling that I've missed
Something ”

“Missed something?” Newby swung about suddenly as if
he had heard a door creak open “What?”

“That,” Ellery intoned, *is the question. What? I've keel-
hauled my bramn, couldn’t come up with 1t, and decided that
a return to the scene might be what the doctor ordered ” He
Paused at the bed “Here?” Glanced at the mnightstand.
“There?” Into the clothes closet. “There?” At the windows.
Into the bathroom

“You're putting me on,” Newby muttered “By God,
you've got me creepier than a kid m 2 haunted housel!”

“I wish it were that ordimary,” Ellery said with a sigh
“No, Anse, it’s not a put-on, it's a hangup There’s some-
thing here, something I saw—sometbing I'm seeing, damn it
alll—and for the hife of me I can’t latch onto 1t ” He ad-
dressed the chalk outhine on the floor “Well, 1t was a long
shot. Johony. and hike most long shots it didn’t come in.” He

nodded disgustedly at Newby “I'm through here, Anse, if
vyou are”
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The first break m the case came, a?{ breaks usually do, out
of the drudgery of plodding police wor ,

The concgent}ratw% of cffort on the part of Inspector Quég?ei
staff had been on the three ex-wives, notwithstanding i
Newby’s failurc of enthusiasm. Several interesting ’repo o
the women noted that, with the cutoff on Benedict’s dea o
therr $1000 weekly incomes, and with therr cash settlefrilgem
held up if not gone forever by the holograph will, two o "
at least were m financial difficulties Audrey Weston aes
Marcia Kemp had been living up to their alimony mcolr)r;en
(Alice Tierney, Newby reported, had on the contrary "
living frugally m frugal Wrightsville and had saved a cc:inher
erable sum, although the settlement outlook had tuméa hoe!
sullen and uncommunicative ) In fact, both the blonde .
the redhead had been compelled to go back to work, if afg};:_
The Weston girl was making the rounds off-Broadway, 8131 iy
without success, the ex-Vegas chorme was hawking the tfllrn
hattan nightclubs through her agent for a ‘‘starring 1
somewhere But no one was snapping up the Kemp %]a J
either. Apparently times had changed The notoriety they oo
been enjoying as a result of the Wrightsville murder W':lis -
longer the kind of open-sesame that used to break do
golden doors 1n the days of the New York Mirror the

The discovery about Marcia Kemp turned up during -
routine mvestigation of her present and past, and the develop
ment appeared significant. .

Ellery learned about it on Sunday, April 19 On arising
that morning he had found himself alone m the Queen apart-
ment, and a note from his father saying that the Inspector
had had to go down to Centre Street and suggesting that
Ellery follow Which he did so precipitously that he did not
even stop for his cherished Sunday breakfast of Nova Scotia
salmon, sweet butter and cream cheese, cum generous shce of
sweet Spanish onion, all on toasted bagel and accompanied
by freshly brewed coffee in copi

ous quantity
He found Sergeant Velie with the Inspector.

“Tell hum, Velie,” the Inspector said
“I think we got something, Maestro,” the very large ser-

geant saidd “Ever hear of Bernie Faulks?”
“No ”

“He’s a punk m the rackets, a small wheel the pigeons call
the Fox, or Foxy, because he’s got a genws for beating the
rap . He's been collared I don’t know how many times on
charges that didn’t stick—armed robbery, B and E, ADW,
burglary, you name it, his one big rap, a charge of murder
during an attempted felony—armed hold

up—he beat when he
was acquitted through the failure of a key witness to oome

M
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clearly decided not to offer his hand for fear of a rebuff He
had a dark, ntimate voice suitable for a sex movie. F i
next few minutes he kept sneaking glances at the civ

Queen. Mr

“We were just discussing Miss Kemp’s marriage to ol
Faulks,” the Inspector said, settling back in his aged swiv !
chair. “You notice, Ellery, I use her maiden name She pre
fers 1t that way. Don’t you, MiIs. Faulks—I mean,
Kemp?”

“It’s usual n show busmess,” the redhead said 3 The IﬂUSh
on her face seemed too deep for street makeup ,I’Sut S
don’t get . . . Bern, why don’t you say somethmg? had

“Yeah, sweetie” Her husband shifted his feet, l‘l‘%{ :L
refused a charr, as if to be better prepared for flight. cat,
Inspector. We don’t understand—" ed

“Why I asked you two down here?” The Inspector Shcﬁrs
his dentures Lke the Big Bad Wolf “For one thing, ’
Faulks, how come you didn’t tell Chief Newby when he wa;
questioning you up mn Wrightsville that you were mart’
agam? You’d have saved us the trouble of digging the 1
formation out for ourselves ”

“T didn’t think it had anything to do with . . . well, Johnny
and all,” the big showgirl burbled

“No? Mr. Marsh,” the Inspector said, turning his smile OB
the attorney, “has Mrs Faulks—as Marcia Kemp—been ¢
ceiving a thousand dollars a week from Mr Benedict s1ac€
their divorce, and if so has she been cashing or depositing
the checks, according to your records?”

“She certamnly has.” Marsh raised his attaché case. ‘I have
every canceled voucher that went through Miss Kemp’s b
pght here—each made out to ‘Marcia Kemp’ and endorsed

M‘arcm Kemp’ in her verifiable handwriting

“Fhese canceled vouchers cover the whole period since the
daff: of her undisclosed marriage to Faulks?”

‘Yes. Up to and including the week of Johnny’s death.”

“Did she ever notify Benedict, or you as Benedict’s lawyer.
th:zt she was remarryng or had’remZmed an?et:h;i thereforé
under the terms of her agreement with Benedict the thousand-

dollar weekly checks should
legally entitled to them?” stop, smce she was no longer

“She did not.”
“How about that, Mrs. Faulks? That co
. nstitut t
acceptance 1n my book. I think the District ;&ttgf'n%;};déﬂﬁgge

is going to see 1t the same way, if Mr. M
charges on behalf of the Benedict estate arsh decides to press

“If T may put in a word?” Faulks said elegant]
he were a mere bystander. Marcia sent h,mg ; Iﬁhgn‘;’i ;,f

Py
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dangerous look. “I never saw that agreement, so of course I
had no way of knowmg that Marcia’s accepting the grand per
Wweek was 1llegal—*

Eriarcm made the very lightest choking noise.

—but you got to understand, Inspector, my wife doesn’t
know about such things, she can’t hope to cope—hope to
opel Ym a poet and don’t know itl—with a bigshot mouth-
Diece, I mean lawyer, like Mr. Marsh; she’s got no head for
ﬂlle Smart stuff at all, she’d probably forgotten all about that
‘}’1 ause, like you do when Mr Rught comes along—hey, baby?”
h:n fondled her neck, smilmg down. She nodded, and his
0d found 1tself fondling the atmosphere.
Tos ou've got an understanding husband, Mrs Faulks,” the

pector said approvingly. “But I think 1t would be easier
R you if yon talked for yourself. Yowll motice there’s no
Steﬁog,rapher present, none of this is being taped, and you
aven't been charged formally with any crime Our main
Interest 13 the Benedict murder; and while I'm not making
It);oé:mse?, if 1t turns out this marriage of yours had nothing
thmo with the homicide you’ll probably be able to work some-
g out about that money. What’s your feeling, Mr Marsh?”

Of course I can’t promise anything, either I certainly

Can’t commit the estate to overlooking Mrs Faulks’s having
collected money fro

ook d m my late client under circumstances that
chie angerously ke fraud But it’s true, Inspector, that my
Fa Concern is the murder, too. Cooperation on Mrs.

}}]kSS part will naturally influence my attitude
teﬂLOO‘I‘g, bud, who’s bulling who?” Marcia demanded bit-
bl Y. “What are you going to do, Al, take it out of me in
ogOd 2 pmt at a time? I'm dead busted and I haven’t got a
]ba kMY husband’s broke, too So I couldn’t pay that money

¢k if I wanted to. Sure, you can haul me up on criminal
Charges, Inspector, and the way things have been going for
e you know what? I wouldn’t give a hairy hoot m hell if
you did It's also a rap your D.A mught find it tough to make
Su‘f}‘ m court, Bern here knows some real sharpie lawyers

Speaking of Bern here,” Ellery said from the wall he was
Supporting at the rear of the office, “where did you happen
to be, Bern, on the might of Saturday—Sunday, March twenty-
eight—twenty-nine?”

“It's a funny thing you should ask that,” Marcia’s husband
said 1n his sexy voice. “It so happens I'can answer that quck
hke a bunny, which am't—isn't such an easy shmear, as I
don’t have fo tell you gentlemen On the night of Saturday-—
Sunday, March twenty-eight-twenty-mune, 1t so happens I was
one of s fellay picked up 1 a rawd on 2 htde private game
we were engaging in m a hotel room off Times Square. 1
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don’t know what those meathead cops were thinking of, mak-
mg a big deal out of a friendly poker session, just passing the
time, you understand, like the boys do on Saturday night,
have a few beers, a couple pastrami sandwiches—"

“P'm not mterested 1n the menu,” Inspector Queen snarled;
he was glaring at Sergeant Velie, who was attempting the
difficult feat of makimg himself look like a dwarf for having
failed to check out the Fox’s alibi beforehand. “What precinct
did you wind up in?”

«f don’t know the number. It's the one in the West
Forties ”

“You don’t know the number Faulks, you know the num-
bers of the Manhattan precincts better than I do._yop:ve
spent half your hife m them! Velie, what are you waiting
for?” Sergeant Velie nodded hastily and jumped out of the
office “Sergeant Velie’s gone to do a little checking You
don’t mind warting?”

Dad, dad, Ellery said in his head, as an jromist you're stil
pounding a beat. It was a lost cause, he saw, and saw that
the Inspector saw 1t, too Mr. Faulks was breathing without
strain, as confident of the outcome of the sergeant’s telephone
call as a roulette dealer presiding over a fixed wheel. True,
there was a trace of anxiety on his wife’s face, Faulks even
patted her hand, which was larger than his; but this could be
accounted for by a certamn lack of communication between
the recently marrieds. Once, when Marcia said something to
him in a low voice, he made a fist and tapped her affec-
tionately on the chin.

When the sergeant returned to whisper mto the Inspector’s
ear, Bllery detected the twitch m his father’s mustache and
saw his fears confirmed the mustache twitch was an unfallng
sign of inspectorial disappomntment

Okay, Foxy, you can take off with the mussus” Thex
speedy crossing to the Inspector’s door was a thing of antelope
grace Oh, just one thing,” the Inspector said to the ante-
lopes “I don’t want either of you even gomng over to Brook-
lyn without checking with my office first.”

“He was picked up that ni aims?”
when the paﬁ' fled P that night as he cl 7 Ellery asked
“Well, yes,” Sergeant Velie said, trymng to pass the episode
og as immaterial “There’d been atlroyt-ogf hegt from ugstau's
21 out Times Square gambling when that Congressman who’s
ways kicking up a storm sounded off for the TV—seems one
of his campaign contributors got rooked mn a crooked crap
%:xéne and yelled for mamma—so the word came while you
y h;c osn vacation, Inspector, to crack down, which the. Gam-
g Squad did That’s how come Foxy got caught in that

-
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hotel A stool gave the tip-off, but by the time the Squad got
there the lookout had flashed the signal and the boys broke
in to find Foxy and his lodge brothers playing a hot game of
penny ante The lookout must have been their bagman, too,
because the detectives didn’t find any big bills on the players
or the premises Anyway, the six were held for a couple hours
at the station house and let go That included Foxy Faulks.
He was at the precinct between midnight about and two A M.
He couldn’t have gone to Wrightsville by three-o-three without
a spaceship ”

“So there goes our break,” Inspector Queen said glumly.
“Another blasted nothing Just the same, Velie, assign two
men to keep their eyes on Faulks especially I don’t Iike the
smell of him—he’s dangerous Ellery, where you going?”

“For a walk,” Ellery said. “I'll get more action in the
street than I'm getting here ”

“Who conned who mto this, and whose friend got popped?”
his father groused “Go take your walk, and if you’re mugged
in some alley don’t come crying to mel”

“You sure about this, Barl?” Newby asked, tapping the
report with a skeptical forefinger

“You know old Hunker,” Officer Barlowe said “I do
believe he’s been sneaking out there, Chief Keeping an eye
on the place You hire Morris, you've bought yourself Old
Faithful If he says he seen lights 1n the house late at might,
I buy it.”

“Anything missing?”

“Not that I could tell ”

“Then why would anyone pussyfoot around in there in the
middle of the night?”

Officer Barlowe, who was new to the Wrightsville force,
decided that this was a rhetorical question and consequently
kept his mouth shut.

“I’d better take a run out there myself,” Newby decided
“Meantime, Barl, you keep an eye peeled on that-place, and
pass the word along ”

The next day the chief wrote to Inspector Queen “Morrs
Hunker reported seemng lights,on 1 the Benedict main house
Monday might, April 20, past mudnight. The old man clamms
he mvestigated—he wouldl—but by the time he got nto the
house the lights had been turned off and he could not find
anyone there I then went over the premises personally and
found no evidence that anythmg had been taken or even
disturbed  Whoever 1t was either bemng extra-careful or old
Hunker imagined the whole thmg, he is not as quick-minded
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as he used to be I thought, though, I had better let you and
Ellery know about this ”

“She wants to see me,” Al Marsh said over the telephone

“Naturally, I’'m not gomg to see her alone Can you be pres-
ent, Inspector Queen?”

“Hold on a punute,” the Inspector said “Ellery, Audrey
Weston has called Marsh for an oppointment Says she has
something 1mportant to tell hum concerning the Benedict
estate Do you want to sit in?” .

“Tallulah Revisited?” Ellery exclaimed “I certamly do.

“Ellery will come, too,” the Inspector said into his phone.
“You figuring on anycne else, Mr Marsh?”

“Leshie Carpenter. If it concerns the estate 1t concerns her.”
“When’s this for?”

“Wednesday at two thirty, my office.”
“Tomorrow?”
‘CY eS bR

“We’ll be there ” The Inspector hung up “I wonder what
the blonde’s got up her sleeve ”

“I'm glad somebody has somethmg up something,” Ellery
said “It’s been a most unsatisfactory case ”

Marsh’s office was off Park Row, in an old set of builldmngs
that reeked of musty estates and quill pens

On his original visit, Ellery had nearly expected to see old
gentlemen in Prince Alberts stalking along the corridors, and
bewhiskered clerks in leather cuff protectors, and green eye-
shades toiling away on high stools in Marsh’s office Instead,
he had found sharp-looking young mods 1 a stainless-steel
interior, the latest indirect lighting, and a strictly functional
office Miss Smith, of course, was for all seasons

“They’re in Mr. Marsh’s office waiting for you, Mr. Queen,”
she said, smffing twice 1n the course of the sentence

Mr Queen’s only reference to Manhattan’s constipated traffic
was by indirection “How did they get here on time,” he
asked, “by B-52?”, and allowed himself to be ushered into
Al Marsh’s private office Miss Smith immediately sat down in
a corner of the room, crossed her formidable legs, and opened
a notebook

Ellery found one stranger in the assemblage, a man in his
forties with eyes like steak knives and a complexion resem-
bling barbecued beef, in the general getup of an habitué
of the Playboy Club. This man glanced accusingly at his

wiistwatch as Ellery entered, by which Ellery knew that he
was present m the interests of

. Audrey Weston, at whose taut
side he stood

“I believe the only one you don’t know is this gentleman,
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Ellery,” Marsh said. “Ellery Queen, Sanford Effing, repre-
senting Miss Weston ”

Ellery was about to offer his hand when Audrey’s attorney
said, staccato, “Can we get down to 1t?”

Marsh waved Ellery to a chair and reseated himself, to
gght one of his menthol cigarets “All right, Mr Effing. You

o that.” .
- Ellery began to pay the strictest attention after a smile at
little Leslie Carpenter and a nod to his father.

“From what Miss Weston’s told me about John Benedict’s
will,” the lawyer said, *“there’s a rather queer phrasing of a
key clause I'd like you to quote me the exact language, Mr.
Marsh, of the clause that refers to this Laura ”

Marsh opened the top drawer of his steel desk and withdrew
a Xerox copy of the Benedict holograph will. He handed it
to Effing

“Your recollection was correct, Miss Weston,” Effing said
with satisfaction “Benedict left his residuary estate quote
‘to Laura and any children’ unquote Mr Marsh, the phrase
‘and any children’—what exactly do you take that to mean?”

“Any children by Laura,” Marsh said.

“Ah, but 1t doesn’t say that, does 1t?”

“What do you mean?” Marsh said, startled.

“I mean it doesn’t say that, period If Benedict had meant
‘any children by Laura’ 1t’s our perfectly reasonable contention
that he would have written ‘any children by Laura’”

“But that’s nonsense,” Marsh protested “What other chil-
dren could Johnny have been referring to but children pre-
sLuémably resulting from his contemplated marriage to this

ura?”

“To any children,” and Effing bared his large and shiny
teeth, “that Benedict may have fathered by any mother what-
soever.”

“We know of no such children,” Marsh said firmly, but
be%mnmg to look doubtful

You're gomg to find out about one of them, Mr Marsh,
m three seconds Miss Weston, tell these people what you
told me »

“I have a child,” the blond girl said, speaking for the first
time. The stagey voice quivered a little “Johnny’s child ”

She had been sitting with hands clasped and head lowered,
but at this statement she made fists and looked up defiantly,
her colorless

eyes taking on a gray sparkle, like jellyfish
suddenly touched by the sun. “And you don’t have to look at
It?lihél, as if I were a monster from outer space! It's the

“Your unsupported statement to that effect means less than
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nothing to me as a lawyer, as Effing will tell you,” Marsh salfi
sharply “For a claim as jmportant as this, the sprrogate is
going to demand mdisputable proof And even if you can
prove your allegation, in view of the rest of tpat paragraph 1n
the will I'm not at all sure your interpretation would stand
up m court As far as my considerable knowledge goes—
speaking not only as John Benedict’s attorney but as his close
friend as well—he never so much as hmted to me that he
was the father of a child by you ”
“He didn’t know about it,” Audrey said. “He died not
knowng Besides, Davy was born after the divorce.”
“Johnny didn’t notice you were pregnant?”’
“We separated before 1t showed ”
“You never notified him you were carrying his child?”
“Davy was conceived the last time Johnny and I were
intimate,” Audrey said. “Right after that we separated and he
divorced me. I had my pride, Al, and—okay—I wanted re-
venge, too I was goddam mad at the way he treated me,
tossing me out of his life like I was—Ilike I was a pair of old
shoes! I wanted to be able to tell him later in his Iife—when
he wasn’t a cocky stud any more—tell him that all these years
he’d had a son he didn’t know a thing about . . . and wasn'’t
gomng to”

“Indeed, Mr Congreve, Heav'n has no rage, and so forth,”
Ellery muttered, but nobody heard him

“Now, of course,” Effing said smoothly, “with the father
dead, the situation 1s quite different Why should the son of
the father be demied his birthright, and all that jazz? I don’t
have to go through the routine, Marsh You know how sur-
rogates feel about the rights of infants. Regular old mammy-

tigers, they are I'd say Miss Carpenter's got something to
worry about ”

Ellery glanced at Leslie, but aside from a certamn pallor
she seemed serene

“Tell us more about this child,” Inspector Queen said
abruptly. “What’s his full name? When and where was he

born? Do you have custody of him? If not, where and with
whom 1s he living? That’s for openers ”

“Hold it, Miss Weston,” Effing said, making like a traffic
cop “I don’t think I'm going to let my client answer those
questions right now, Inspector I'll merely state for the record
that the boy 1s known as Davy Wilkinson, Wilkmson being my

?ﬁcnt’s legal maiden name, Arlene Wilkinson—she took
Audrey Weston’ as her stage name—"

“Johnny didn’t know that, either,” Marsh said. “How
come, Audrey?”
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“He never asked me” Her hands were back m her lap
and her blond head was lowered again.
Marsh pursed his lips

“Miss Weston felt she couldn’t adequately bring up he};
child and at the same time pursue a theatrical career, too,

Effing went on. “So she gave the baby out for adoption im-
mediately~—1n fact, the arrangements were settled before the
birth—but she knows where Davy 1s and she can produce
i on reasonable notice when necessary The people who
adopted hum are certainly as interested m securing h,l,S legal
rights and nsuring his future as the natural mother 1s

“The fact that she can produce the chlld,”’Marsh said, “is
a far cry from proving Benedict was its father.”

“Then you're going to fight this?” Effing asked with an un-
pleasant smile

“Fight? You have a peculiar idea of an attorney’s responsi-
bilittes 1 have an estate to protect. Anyway, in the long
Tun 1t's the surrogate you’re going to have to satisfy. So worry
about impressing him, Effing, not me Y11 have my secretary
send you a transcript of this meeting

“Don’t bother ” Sanford Effing unbuttoned the three but-
tons of his sharp suit coat. A lhittle black box hung there.
“T've recorded the entire conversation.”

When Audrey and her lawyer were gone, Marsh relaxed.
“Don’t worry about this, Leshie. I don’t see how they can
prove the boy 1s Johnny’s especially now that she’s admitted
before witnesses that she never told Johnny about this Davy.
That’s why 1 was careful to pinpoint that part of her testi-
mony. The will 1s perfectly clear about Johnny’s mtentions. if
he was not married to Laura at the time of his death, his
estate was to go to you, Leslie, period Unless this Laura
comes forward with proof of a marriage to Johnny, which
seems very unlikely now, it’s my opmion you’re 1n the clear ”

“That’s one of the difficulties 2 mere layman runs into,”
Leshe said, “dealing with lawyers ”

“‘What is?”

. lrying o get a meeting of minds that 1sn’t all fouled up
111; Q{}ldnuntcs and quiddities, or whatever your jabberwocky
m no

> the least bit interested in the law of this, Al. If

m Conymced the Weston woman had a child by Johnny, as
at as 'm concerned that's it. In my lawbook the boy would
be entitled to his father's estate, not me 1It's true I've been
;n;kmg plans for the mone

y——a certam project in East Harlem
ad my heart specially set on—but I'm not going to break

down and boohoo about it. T

largely disappointed all my lif

ve been churchmouse poor and
¢, s0 I can put all this down to a
and go back to washing out my nylons and hanging
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them up to dry on the shower rail Nice secing you again,

Inspector, Mr Queen. And Miss Somth Just let me know
how 1t all comes out, Al.”

And with a smile Leslie left, .

“Now there is a gal,” Inspector Queen said “—if I were,
say, th ears younger—"' .

jf‘Ahlnff)ys’cytoo good to be true,” Ellery fretted When his
father said, “What did you say, son?”, he shook his head,
said, “Nothing of importance,” and began to fumble with his
pipe and the tobacco discovery he had just made by mail 1n
a Vermont country store Everybody knew there was no par-
ticular harm n smokmg a mild pipe tobacco if you didn’t
inhale He got the briar fired up and drew a deep lungful of
the aromatic smoke.

“That’s all, Miss Smith, thank you,” Marsh was saymng; and
Miss Smith stalked past the Queens to the office door Ellery
thought he detected a certain twitch of her hip as she passed
him “You know, there’s an wrony m this development Bene-
dict Senior’s will, as I told you, contained an ambiguity that
allowed Johnny to draw another five million every tiume he
contracted a new marriage Now Johnny’s will—I wish peo-
ple would take lawyers’ advice about not trying to write their
own willsl—also contams an ambiguity ke didn’t intend . . .
I wonder about this Davy.”

“We can be all-fired certam Audrey Weston has a kid
farmed out somewhere,” the Inspector said in the quaint slang
of his youth “She’d have to be an idiot to try to pull a stunt
ke this based on nothing but hot air. And Effing doesn't

strike me as the kind of lawyer to take on a tough case that
could drag along m the courts for years without something

good and solid behind it. If Effing’s in on 1t, there’s a child,
all right But that the child was Benedict’s, that Audrey never
told him about 1t . .

. .” The old man shook his head ‘I
don’t know how this claim ties in, Mr Marsh, if it ties in at
all, but one thing’s for sure we have to start with the fact.

Hog/ do you plan to establish that the boy 1s or 1sn’t Benedict’s
Son 3}

I don’t have to establish either,” Marsh said “Proving the
child 18 JOhnny’s 1S Emﬂg’s PI'Oblem.”

“Efﬁn.g,” Ellery repeated with distaste. He unfolded from
the Célaéfl “Un type, defimitely. What—or who—next? Com-
mg, a ”

In these days of wuniversal holdups, muggings, assaults,
rapes, homicides, and ot

her public indecencies 1t 1s a seldom-
noticed fact of urban life

that there 1s one class of citizen for
whom late-night strolls 1n ILittle-frequented places of the city
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hold no terrors; to the contrary, he positively looks forward
to lus midnight meander 1 the park

And who 1s this hero, this paragon of courage? Some holder
of the black belt? A just-returned Congressional Medal of
Honor winner, schooled to the wiliest tricks of Charlie? Alas,
no He 1s the robber, mugger, assailant, rapist, or man-
slaughterer umself, who, like the vampure bat hanging m its
cave, finds warmth and security where simpler creatures feel
a shivering fear

Which explains why, in an early hour of Friday, April 24—
“estimated as on or about 2 00 AM,” was the way a de-
tective noted 1t Jater in his report—Bernie Faulks walked mnto
Central Park (East) by the Fifth Avenue entrance immedi-
ately south of the Museum of Art, and made his way with
confidence to a certain clump of bushes behind the building,
where he settled himself mn the tallest one and at once merged
with the shrubbery and the night.

If Marcia Kemp’s husband felt any fears, they were cer-
tamly not of the dark or of mightmarish things like switch-
blades at his throat, that side of the street had been
thoroughly explored territory to him since his boyhood

Still, there was tension 1n the way he stood and waited

The moon was well down m the overcast sky; there was
hittle ight 10 the shadow of the museum, the air insmuated a
sneaky chill

Faulks wore no topcoat. He began to shiver.

And wait

He shivered and waited for what seemed to him an hour.
It was really ten minutes later that he saw something take
shape on the lamplit walk he was watching It held its form
for 2 moment, then ghded into the shadow of the museum and
headed his way Faulks stood quite stil now.

“You there?” its voice whispered

The tension left him at once “You bring the bread?”
“Yes Where are you? It’s so dark—"
F,aulks stepped unhesitatingly out of his bush “Give 1t to
me ”

He extended his hand

ere are soundless shrieks in the darkness of such mo-
ments, a dread implosion of more than mortal swiftness, that
inform and alarm Faulks experienced these even as the new-
comer did indeed give it to him—a bulbous envelope and
)mmediately something else  For the Fox made as if to turn
and run .

But he was too late, the knife had already sunk into his
belly, blade up

Faulks groaned, his knees collapsed.
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The knifer held the weapon steady as the dying man fell.
The weight of his body helped 1t slice down on the blade

With the other hand Faulks’s assailant took back the
envelope

The knife landed almost carelessly on the body

The murderer of Marcia’s husband stripped off rubber
gloves, thrust gloves and envelope deeply away, then fled in
a stroll northward toward an exit different from the place of
entry to a hurrisome eye just another foolhardy New
Yorker defymng the statistics of Central Park’s mighttime crime.

“Bllery? I'm over here.”

Ellery went through the police line, blinking in the spot-
lights, to where his father was talking to a uniformed man.
The man saluted and left to jom the group of technicians,
scooter men, and other officers around the body. .

“That was the Park patrolman who found the body,” the
Inspector said “You took your time getting here ”

“I'm not exactly full of zap at four o’clock in the morning.
Ally’[hmg?”

“Not yet ” And the Inspector went mto a song and dance
—a song of profanity and a dance of rage—and 1t was as if
he had been saving 1t all up for his son’s arrmval, preferring
the thickness of blood to the thm edge of bureaucratic pro-
tocol. “Somebody’s going to catch it for this! I gave orders
Bernie Faulks was to be staked out around the clock!”

“How did he get away from his tail, and when?”

“Who knows when 1f we don’t know how? Probably over
the roofs of next-door apartment buildings Velie had mer,l’
posted back and front Roof—nobody I'll have his hidel

“Aren’t you the one who’s always beefing about the man-

power shortage m your department?” Ellery said. “Velie’s
too old a hand to slip up on a routme thing like that unless
he simply had no one to assign to the roof »

The Inspector confided m his mustache So all right That
was the case. Helping that cow-pasture chief out. And at
half-rations personnelwise The truth was—he almost said 1t

m audible accusation—it was all Ellery’s fault. For dragging
him up to Wrightsville m the first place
“What?" the Inspector said

:'I said,” Ellery Iepeated, “that this could be a coincidence ”
‘How’s that agamn?”

“Faulks was one of the bad guys from puberty Who
knows what enemies he’s made? I'm betting you’ll find them

crawling back under every second rock My pomt 15, dad,
I;SS murder tonight could have nothing to do with the Benedict
c
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“That’s right ”
“But you don’t buy it.”

“That’s right,” the Inspector said again. “Any more than
you 13

There was a flurry of sorts just beyond the lighted area.
The bulk of Sergeant Velie emerged suddenly mto the glare
with s right hand decorously anchored on Marcia Kemp
Fauks’s Jeft elboow She made the sergeant look like a normal-
sized man,

The Inspector hurred over, followed at a 4 A.M. pace
by Ellery

“Has Sergeant Velie told you what’s happened, Mrs.
Faulks”

“Just that Bern is dead.” She was mner-directed rather
than shattered by grief, Ellery thought, or she was in shock.
He did not thimk she was m shock She had got into wide-
bottomed slacks and a nautical shirt and thrown a short
leather coat over her shoulders She had not stopped to make
Up There were traces of cream on her cheeks and a towel
Was wrapped turban-fashion about her head She was trymg
not to look over toward the group of officers “How did it
happen, Inspector Queen?”

“He was knifed »

4 ‘imfed ” The redhead blinked. “Murdered? . . . Mur-
er b}

“It could be hara-kiri,” the Inspector said flatly “If he
was Japanese, that 1s Yes, Mrs Faulks, murdered, with a
switchblade his killer had the nerve to drop on the body, it’s
And you can bet without finger-
prnts  Are you up to identifying your husband?”

“Yes” It was almost as if Marcia had said, Of course,
what a silly question,

They walked over to the group—detectives from Homicide,
Manhattan North, the Park

precmct—the officers stepped
back, and the widow looked down at her late spouse without
hesitation or fear or an

guish or revulsion or anything else
Visibly human, so far as Ellery and his father could determine

erhaps 1t was because she was emotionally disciplined, or
%1; vieim was not gruesome The doctor from the Medical

“That’s Bern, t

turn immediately away, which was odd, because they almost
always did-—one look and let me out~—but not Marcia Kemp,
apparently she was made of crushed rock, she looked down
2t him for a full thirty seconds more, almost with curiosity,

y
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then turned abruptly and finally away. “Do I go now, In-
spector Queen?”

“Are you up to answering a couple of questions, Mrs.
Faulks?” he asked, very kindly

“Not really. I'm pooped, if you don’t mind.”
“Just a couple ”
She shrugged

“When did you see your husband last?”

“We had dmner around seven thirty, eight o’cloclf’. At
home I wasn’t feeling well, so I went right to bed—
“Oh? Didn’t have to call a doctor?”

“It 1sn’t that kind of unwell, Inspector. I get clobbered once
a month.”

“So you didn’t see him agam?”

“That’s right I dropped off to sleep I'd taken a pﬂl, ’”
“Did you happen to hear him leave your apartment?
G‘No ”

“So you have no i1dea what time he left?”

“No Please, Inspector That’s more than a couple, and
I've got cramps
“Just a couple more, and you’re through Did Bern say
anything to you last night about having to meet somebody,
or “hflvmg to go out, anything like that?”
0 ”
“Was he 1n trouble of some kind?”

“I don’t know Bern was pretty uptight about his affamrs ”
“Even with you?”

“Especially with me He says to me—he used to say to me
—the less you know the less you’ll worry ”

Ellery said, “Who wanted to kill him, Marcia?”
She had for

gotten he was there, or perhaps she had not
lénown. It was he rather than his question that startled her.
E}‘lery. T don’t know of anybody. I really don’t ”

Could 1t be he welshed on a gambling debt?” the Inspector
suggested. “Or got 1 bad some other way with one or another
of his playmates?”

§he shook her head «I really don’t.”
Do you have any 1dea why he was knifed? Any at all?”
““None at all

Okay, Mrs Faulks Vele, take her home—just a minute
Doc?” He took Dr Prouty’s brisk young staff doctor aside.
Ell‘c‘:ry strolled along “What’s the verdict?”

I set the time of death on a prelim estunate as around
tw?‘ A M, give or take a half hour ”

Any reason to suspect the knifing might not have been
the cause of death?”

“Didn't you see that belly of his?” the young man from
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the M B’ office said “Though of course we’ll find out for
Sure on the p.m ”

“Nothing else?”

“Not a thing, Anything here?”

“Not so far, If you ask me, Doc, we won’t find so much

as a bruised blade of grass An operator cool enough to leave
€ sticker on the body for us isn’t gomng to lose his mono-

grammed cigaret case on his way out.”

“Okay, Inspector?” asked Sergent Velie

e Inspector nodded, and Velie marched the big widow
away The young doctor waved and trudged off

Ellery said, “She lied m her capped teeth ”

our manly ntuition?” his father inquired
tgl’m the son of my old man You didn't believe her,
either,”

“You said it, I didn’t. She knows something, Ellery

“We’re communicating agam after a gap i the generations

at led you to your conclusion, Inspector Queen?”

“Marcia’s not the type gal to know so litfle about her
hubby’s -affairs She worked Vegas a long time She knows
;hese bums, and she’d make mighty sure she kept tabs on

Oxy ?»

“Bxactly my reasonmng The only puzzle about Marcia 15
Why she married him in the first place ” Ellery looked after
the departed couple “Could love possibly go so far?”

“I wouldn’t know Or 1f I ever did T've forgotten ”

“I'd keep her on a short leash, dad ”

“Velie will. We'll know everything she does and everybody
she says hello to ”

“How about Audrey? Alice? Marsh?”

“They'll be checked right off ” The Inspector shivered.
“I'm cold and tired, son Getting old ”

“He had two hours’ sleep and he’s cold and tired,” Ellery
Proclaimed to Central Park. “How decrepit can you get?

™me on, grandpa, I'll take you home and tuck you mto bed ”

“With a toddy,” hus father said, hopefully
“With a toddy.”

By Friday mornmng the autopsy report was in from the
edical Examuner’s office, and by Friday evening the little
Standing army of suspects had been checked off Audrey
eston had landed a part m an off-Broadway production the
Previous week-—it was tentatively called 4, B, C, D, E,'F
0rGy—and she had been home alone Thursday night, she said.
hard at work studying her five sides No confirmation Alce
Ictney, 1t turned out, had been 1n New York, not Wrights-
¢ She had dnven down on Thursday and registered at a
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i Al
hotel, she was in Manhattan, she said, to scc

nh}llfrts?’t:vgn a matter connected with Johnny-,I’B, an estate matt:)tt?;i
“It's a long drive and I was tuckered out, the"rcporthqléi o
Miss Tierney “So I went to bed very carly.” She ha e
tempted to reach Marsh by telephone before tummgdm,f o
stated. but had been unsuccessful (There was a recor g)ban :
call at the hotel, and it was also confirmed by Est &)
Marsh had gone out Thursday evening for a big mghthondau3
town, he said (he was 1 bad shape, the report said), ;]s que
was a stunning showgirl whose career had been launc ih "
the centerfold of Playboy and who had zoomed from eds
mto millionaire dates, however, 1n the course of their rounho
she had ditched him for a certamn Italian movie director Wﬂs
had muscled in on Marsh at a notorious disco—the detator
were 1 the Friday morning newspapers, featuring the dlrecu
with his ample bottom esconced 1n a bass drum, throwlclllg I_OIZ
from a right to the solar plexus—after which Marsh ha Pcre
ceeded to go solo pub-crawling Subsequent details Wbed
vague in his memory Estéban had poured him 1nto hed
about 3 30 AM An attempt to log his course through g
bars of after-midnight Manhattan proved spotty and unsatis
factory.

“It’s just like in one of your books,” Inspector Qgeig
grumbled. “You’d think once one of the suspects would ha
an alibi that could be proved and eliminate her Or hlm,l
damn 1t But no, Foxy Fauks was knifed between one thlrg;
and two thirty, and not one of the three can prove whe
they were—"

“He was,” Ellery corrected automatically. e -
“—so we’re back where we started from. Maybe you we
right, Ellery.”

“I was? About what? I can’t think of anything recently’
“About Faulks’s mu

rder having nothing to do with the,
Benedict case ”
“Nonsense »

“You brought 1t up yourself]”
“One has to cover everything,”

he went back to pulling his nose He was actually engaged
in his favorite exerc

ise 1n futidity these days, trymg to solve
the mystery of the clothmg thefts from Audrey Weston,
Marcia Kemp, and Alice Tierney. It all seemed like ancient
history by now, and he was beginning to feel like an 1o~
adequately funded archeologist, but the dig went on, secretly,
m his head, where no one else could trespass

“You know,”
hadn’t met you

Ellery said stiffly, and

Ellery said to little Leshie Carpenter, “if I
In a case I'd ask you for a date ™
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“What a horrid thing to say.”

“Horrid?”

“You imply that I'm a suspect in Johnny's dedth >

“I was only stating a prnciple,” Ellery said, bathing
sybaritically in the blue warm pools of her extraordinary eyes.
“It's bad policy to enter into a personal relationship with
someone you’ve met in the course of a continuing mvestiga-
tion. Muddies the thinking Makes waves where dead calm is
called for By the way, do you consider yourself a suspect in
Johnny’s death?”

“Certaimnly not! I was talking about you ”

“Let’s talk about you You know, I never thought I could
go for a halfpint, speaking femalewise.”

“You are not a groove, Ellery Queen!”

They were in Al Marsh’s outer office, waiting for Audrey
Weston Marsh was trying to get tid of a client who was
overstaying his appointment Inspector Queen sat restively

nearby, munching Indian nuts m lieu of lunch

Ellery was about to launch himself splash into the pools
when the client reluctantly departed Marsh beckoned Leslie
and the Queens mnto his private office

“What’s this one all about, Mr Marsh?” the Inspector
demanded *“Seems to me I spend more time in your office
than in mine ”

“I's Audrey, as I told Ellery over the phone” Marsh
swung a tier of law books out and it became a bar “Proving
that the law 1sn’t always as dry as it sometimes seems Drink,
anyone? Don't usually imndulge during office hours—Miss
Smith doesn’t approve—but I think I'll make an exception
this afternoon P’m still not over that hairy night last Thurs-
day, and I have a feeling I'm going to need it ” He poured a
long one “I can recommend the Inish, Inspector ”

“Pm working,” the Inspector said bitterly

((IQm not,i’ Euery Said

“LBS?”

“No, thanks,” Benedict’s herr said with a shudder

“l mean,” Ellery went on, “there are no regulations on
my job  Sorry, dad Irsh and soda, Al Did you know that
the Irish mvented whiskey? The English didn’t find out about
it tll the twelfth century, when Henry the Second’s boys
lovaded the sod and came back with a few stolen hogsheads
Thank you, sir To Henry the Second’s boys ” When he had

drunk a healthful draught Ellery said, “What does Tallulah
want?n

“If you mean Audrey, she didn’t call this meeting, I did”
Marsh 11t a menthol cigaret. “I've dug out some nformation
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on this paternity claim of hers. W‘];,l’le we're warting—did
know that Alice Tierney’s 1n town ) 3}
ym‘l‘Weoknow,” the Inspector said, sourly ﬂ;’l’s time, “Is it a
t she’s visitmg New York to see you .
fa%ljgc?s ssee, this 1s I%Ionday . . . I saw her Friday, Inspecto‘;.‘,I
the lawyer said “I didn’t tell you people about 1t becaus
knew I'd be seemg you today.”

“I hope you aren’t gomg to pllllll one dof those ‘this 1s a
r-client confidence’ things,” Ellery sa1
lavg&t at all Miss Tierney has come up with what the thﬂefz
Flower used to call a ‘beaut’ She had the gall to clamn———tgh .
this—that Johnny promised her the Wrightsville property,
buildings and the land, as a gift.”

“Oh, dear,” Leshie said “She sounds desperate.”
“No proof, I take 1t,”

kind
“You're so right, Ellery She has no evidence of any
to back up her %Itlory It 1sn’t plausible on the face of 1t—i;<:£
she expect me to swallow 1t? Anyway, I told her as Posts
as I could to stop wasting my time and hers. Yes,
Smith?” . blonde
Miss Weston and Sanford Effing had arrived, the e
nervous, Effing narrow-eyed and smiffy, searching for chad
Like a bloodhound When they were seated and everyone "
got over the stram of being polite, Marsh (who had re‘s‘toijrlk "
his wall before their entrance to its lawbook look) said, “T :
this all down, Miss Smuth, Is your tape recorder on, Eﬂingn
Good T've done some poking mto your client’s allegatio

that she had a child by John Levermg Benedict the Third
whom she placed for adoption.”

“And found that her allegation 1s true,” Audrey’s lawyer
said severely

“And found that her
disposition of the Bene
“There was and 15 a chil

allegation—as 1t legally affects thcf
dict estate-—s false,” Marsh sai
d, 2 male child named Davy Wﬂk(lil}’
son—I have his adoptive surname as well, but in the child’s
protection I am keeping 1t confidential—but Davy 1s not John
Benedict’s son ”

“He is, he 151" Audrey cried

“Miss Weston, may I handle this?”
way. “My chent says that he is,
know »

“She ought to, but 1n this
I have the date of birth fro

Effing asked mn a pamed
Marsh, and she ought tO

case Miss Weston seems confused

m the records of the hospital where
Davy was born That date 15 eleven months and three days

after the date of the divorce Manifestly we have a marital
tmpossibility. I think, Mr. Effing, you'll have to agree that
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there’s no point {o pursuing this further. Unless Inspector
Queen wishes to do s07”

“If you're implyimng that there’s attempted fraud here, Coun-
selor,” Sanford Effing stated 1cily, “I not only resent the im-
phication on Miss Weston's behalf, but on my own as an attor-
tey I wouldn’t have taken this case if I didn’t have every
Ieason to believe my client’s claim to be the substantive truth,
I'do think she’s been unwise to insist—"

“Ah, we get down to the old bippy,” Marsh said, smiling.
“To msist what, Bffing?”

“About the dates Please clear up that date situation, Miss
Weston, here and now You have no choice ”

Audrey went mto an elaborate hand-twisting routine I
didn’t want anyone to know . . . I mean, it was like—like
Stripping myself naked in public ...”

“Come on, Miss Weston,” Effing said sternly, “4t’s too late
for modesty.”

“T said we were intimate for the last time before the di-
vorce because I was ashamed to admut that Johnny and I had
SeX on a number of occasions after the—after the decree.”

e North Sea-water eyes began to look stormy. “But that’s
the truth, Al, so help me Almighty God We did. It happened
mostly at my apartment, but once m his car . . . oh, it’s too
embarrassing] Anyway, on one of those mfime ocecasions hit-
tle Davy was conceived. My poor, poor ...” And the seas
heaved and sloshed, drowning Ellery’s hopes that the blonde
would mnsert before the noun “baby” the traditional adjectrve
“fatherless

A general cloud of discomposure moved 1 to overhang the
office EBven Miss South, whose mouth had been imitating
a fish while she stenographed the proceedings, shut 1t and
kept it shut with considerable compression.

Marsh permutted the nor'easter to blow itself out.

“Audrey. If your attorney won't tell you this I'll have to,
for old times’ sake if for no other reason Even if you can
show that you and J ohnny engaged in sexual intercourse after
your divorce, that would not 1n itself prove that he was the
father of your child. You know that, or, if you don’t, Mr.

fiing certamnly does

“I's my belef that you've made up the whole story, post-
marital cortus and all I'm reasonably sure I'd have known
from Johnny if you and he were sleeping together after the
divorce From some things he confided 1n me—which I won’t
divulge publicly unless you foree me to—your story 1s highly
suspect. Tt simply doesn’t tally with his feelings about you—
do I have to say it?—especially sexually.”



106 THE LAST WOMAN IN HIS LIFE

“You have no right to make a judgment before all the facts
are 1n!” her lawyer shouted.

“I have every right to my personal opinion, Effing. ’ At any
time. However, I see no pomnt in denymng 1t that’s gomg
to be my professional opmnion as well, unless you come up
with legal proof of your client’s claim that Mr. Benedict was
the father of her chiid.”

Audrey howled, “You haven't heard the end of this, you
shyster!” She was all the way off-stage now, being Arlene
Wilkinson.

Effing rushed her out

“Bad,” Ellery said “Very bad ”

“I thought it turned out very well myself,” Marsh said.
“Certamly for old Les here *

“I'm speaking of Audrey’s performance »

“Oh, I can’t help feeling sorry for the poor thing,” Lesle
saild  “Call me a square, but she 1s a mother—" .
“A mother,” Marsh said dryly, “who’s trying a con game.

“You don’t know that, Al Johnny might have—"

“Not a chance, dear heart. See here, do you want this
estate or don’t you? I thought you had all sorts of socially
progressive plans for the money.”

“I do' And the pools blazed from therr depths “What
I want to do first—>

“Excuse me, Miss Carpenter,” Inspector Queen said, jump-
Ing up “The New York City police department has all sorts
of progressive plans for my services Mr. Marsh, from now
on how about you don’t call me, I'll call you? Okay? Ellery,
you commng?”

“You go on ahead, dad,” Ellery said “I have all sorts of

socially progressive plans myself May I see you home, Les-
lie? Or wherever you’re bound?”

But Inspector Queen’s anxiety to get the Benedict case off
his back was not yet to b

¢ relieved Nothing was gomng any-
where~—his staff wag bogged down 1n the Faulks mnvestigation,
weltering m leads to enemies of Marcra Kemp’s late husband
whose names (as predicted) proved to be legion—and the old
sleuth had hopes that there it would exhauct itself, so that he
could get back to carnmg his salary for legitimate services
rendered the City of New York
Besides, it was impossible to Irve with Ellery these days
;ic :c(igt};xb%ut with g fci]xcd. almost wild, look, something bike
¢1d on a bad trip, : that
conveyed Tntle but ooos p. frequently making noises

wl usion  When his father asked him
“1 U as upsetting him, he would shake his hcad and become

Mite Onee he delvered himself of an mtelligible reply, or
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at least a reply composed of intelligible components “It’s the
women’s clothes, and something else Why can’t I remember
that something else? How do you rcmember what you've for-

gotten? Or did I forget 1t? You saw i, too, dad. Why can't
you remember?”

But the Inspector had stopped listening “And why don't
you take that Carpenter girl out again?” the Inspector said.
She seems like good medicine for you.”

“That's one hell of a reason to take a girl out,” Ellery said,
glaring, “As if she were a prescription!”

ere matters stood when the call came nto Centre Street
from Chief of Police Newby. Inspector Queen immediately
dialed his home number

:‘Eﬂery? We have to run up to Wrightsville

‘What for? What's happened?” Ellery asked, yawning

e had spent a rousmg night with Leslie at a series of semi-
Dars on the subject of “Economic Solutions to the Problems
of ‘Urban Obsolescence.”

‘Newby just phoned from up there He says he's solved
g’:usmystery of those lights old Hunker saw in the Benedict

e kl ]

“Yes? What’s the answer? Mice in the wirmng?”

The Inspector snorted. “He wouldn’t say. Sounds muffed
by what’s gomg on down here Or rather what isn’t. He
Seems to feel that we're neglecting lim He just said if we
Wanted to find out what he’s turned up, we know where he 15.”

‘Doesn’t sound like Anse,” Ellery said, but perhaps 1t did.
What did he know about Anselm Newby, or anyone else, for
that matter? Life was but a dream, and so forth
They got off the plane at a late evenmng hour of Sunday,
?}1’33, and no Wrightsville police car awaited them.

dn’t you notify Newby’s office what plane we’d be on?”
pector Queen demanded

“1 thought you did.”
At least Newby didn’t ignore us deliberately. Cab!”
The chief was off duty, the desk man buzzed him at home,
and the Inspector thought~—aloud—that he took his sweet
¢ getting to headquarters The chief’s greeting was cOTI-
Tect, but unmistakably on the cool side '
I haven’t made up my mind yet what to do about her,
ewby said. “On the one hand, I can’t see the advantage
Chfl‘l‘lgm gbher—” ked. “Charge who?”
0 about who?” ector Queen asked. °
“Didn’t T tel you?’I’nIS\Ipewby asked calmly “It’s Alice T;er;
Bey my man Barlowe caught n the Benedict house late agt
tught. She’s the one who’s been makmng with the mdght
bights, It’s a cockamamie story she tells, just ¥
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make me wonder if i1t mightn’t be true Fran};:ly, 1 don't
know whether she’s gone off her rocker, or what

“What story, Anse?” Ellery asked “You're being damned
enmigmatic.”

» -style “Maybe
“Didn’t mean to be,” the chief said, Yankee-sty
you better hear 1t from her direct Jqe, buzz Miss T1ernley§
place and if she’s home ask her to come down to HQ rig

off, the Queens want to talk to her If she's out, try and find
out where we can reach her ”

“Why don’t we go to her?” Ellery suggested *“It might be
better tactics ”

“She’ll come,” Newby said grimly. “After that yarn of
hers, she owes me ”

Alice stalked m fifteen minutes later

“When the Queens command, hittle old commoneg All;:de
obeys,” she said coldly. It seemed to Eller,y that s etand
been drmking “It’s all right, Chief, you don’t have to 5
up with the royalty and be polite Not after last might ate

“Miss Tierney, you were caught trespassing on Pfl‘;ﬂss
property What did you expect Officer Barlowe to dO,d o
your hand? I could have charged you with breaking an
tering I still canl” 4 (Bl

Of the two, Newby was the more obviously agitate .
lery guessed why i a moment Alice Tierney was a 131 .
Wrightsville girl from a nice Wrightsville family IC

Wrightsville girls from nice Wrightsville famlies were Itll(:;
caught prowling about other people’s empty houses m
middle of the

night TLike most small-town police Chl%fsi
Newby was a defender of the middleclass faith ) Not tha

Alice was serene Her normally unheated eyes had acquired
a glow not far from

ignition She radiated hostility "

“Sit down, Alice,” Ellery said “No reason:why we can
talk this over without fireworks Why have you been going
through Johnny’s ho

use when you thought you wouldn’t be
seen? What have yo

u been looking for?”
“Didn’t Chief New

by tell you?”

“We just got here Sit down, Alice Please?”

She sniffed, then tossed her head and took the chair he
offered “You know by this time, I suppose, that I told Al
Marsh about Johnny’s solemn promise to me? That he wanted
me to have the Wrightsville property?”

“Marsh told us,” the Inspector said

“D1d he tell you

that he laughed 1n my face, practically?”
“Miss Tierney,”
attorney i charge

the Inspector saxd “Dyd you expect the
of an estate to take a claim like that seri-
ously, backed up b

Y nothing but your unsupported word?”
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“T won't argue with you, Inspector Queen. With anybody.
I'm convinced there’s proof!”
“What kind?”

“A note, some paper or other signed by Johnny leaving
the property to me We got along beautifully during our
marriage—Ilots better, he told me, than he got along with
Audrey and Marcia I really don’t understand why he di-
vorced me! He'd keep telling me how much he appreciated
the nursing care I gave him after his automobile accident, how
—entirely aside from our original agreement—he was going
to leave the Wrightsville real estate to me I naturally ex-
pected he would do it in his will But he didn’t, so I’'m con-
vinced he must have done it 1n some other paper, something
he tucked away in the main house somewhere I knew nobody
would believe me—I appealed to Al Marsh against my better
judgment That’s why I said nothing about 1t at the will ses-
sion, and why I’ve been looking for the paper by myself late
at mght ”

For the first time her voice rose.

“l want it My weekly mcome is stopped, I haven’t in-
herited that lump sum from Johnny—I'm entitled to salvage
Something! He meant that property for me, it’s mine, and
I'm going to have 1t!” .

In a blink 1t occurred to Ellery—in the way a film shifts

om scene to scene—that Alice Tierney was not the starched
and stable angel of mercy of his comfortable characterization.
The people who held feelings in as a matter of traming and
even nature were the ones who had most, under stress, to let
out, and Alice was not far from the bursting pomt.

“My men and I went all through that house,” Chief Newby
§lgud wearlly “You’re not gomg to find what we couldn’t, Miss

lerney.”

“How about the guest cottage?’ Ellery suggested. “Any
chance that Johnny left something there, Anse?”

Newby shook his head “Barl—Barlowe—and I searched
the cottage today Nothing domg "

“And if Marsh had found anything like that in Benedict’s
papers,” Inspector Queen remarked, “he’d have to have men-
tioned 1t »

“I suppose I ought to check with him . maybe you ought
to do i, Inspector ” Newby added, not without a gleam 1n
his eye, “New York, yknow,” as if Manhattan Island were
Richard Queen’s personal property

The Inspector found Marsh at home entertaining, from
the background sounds of revelry Ellery gathered from his
father’s end of the conversation that Marsh was not exacily



110 THE LAST WOMAN IN HIS LIFL

overjoyed at the interruption. The Inspector hung up scowl-

in . e
g“He says no such paper exists anywhere in ?CDCdICtS :fl

fects or he’d have let us know right away He's sore tha

even questioned him about it Awfully touchy all of a sud-
den”

“That doesn’t sound like the Al Marsh I knew,” Ellery
said “Could he have fallen 1n love?”

“Then some gul is lucky,” Alice said bitterly. “Outside of
his damned sense of professional ethics Al 1s a pretty wonder-
ful guy. He'd never promise a gul something and then for-
get.” e 1

“Forget 1s the word, Miss Tierney,” Newby said. “Thats
what I'm gomg to do Why don’t you do hkewse and l't‘éﬂ
along? I'm not charging you with anything, so you’re in :
clear ” He rose “Do you have your own car, or do you wag
one of my boys to run you home?”

“I'll manage, thank you.”

When she was gone Inspector Queen remarked, “That was
a big nothing.”

“Well,” the chief said, “I'm sorry I dragged you gentlemen
up here »

“I dudn’t mean it that way! Look, Newby, we seem tO
have got off on the wrong four feet—"

“It just seemed to me you ought to talk to her yourselves,
Inspector, that’s all.”

“You were perfectly right. If police work was a success 2
hundred percent of the time, what fun would it be?”

“Plenty!” Newby said, and he grinned and they shook hands
all around

It was too late to book a flight back to Boston and New
York, so the Queens plodded across the Sunday-might-deserted
Square (which was round) and checked mto the Hollis for
the nmight. They bought toothbrushes and toothpaste at the
cigar counter, washed up, and went down to the mam dining
room It was late, the restaurant held about six other peqple,
the Chef’s Special (which from experience Ellery maintain
was the only dish on the menu that was ever edible) was all
gone, and they had to settle for two almost snorting steaks,
which the Inspector’s dentures could not negotiate. They got
back to their room scarcely on speaking terms

They were just taking their shoes off 1 the silence when

the phone rang Ellery said, “Big deduction coming up:
Newby Who else knows where we are?” and answered 1it.
It was Newby.

“If you're undressed, dress, If you're still dressed, stay

e
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that way Tl pick you up in front of the Hollis m two and a
half mnutes ”

“What now, Anse?”

“Tierney Rides Agam. Barlowe just spotted her sneaking
into the Benedict grounds He radiophoned in ”

“You know what that kook 1s domg?” the young officer
exclaimed when they pulled up at the Benedict house, he had
been waiting for them m a rhododendron bush “She'’s trying
to break mto the whozis—that little stone house where Bene-
dict 1s burted I'd@ have stopped her, Chief, but you said not
to do anything till you got here—"

“The mausoleum?” Ellery said, and they all ran, led by
Barlowe with his oversized flashlight .

It was like something out of Wuthering Heights in the
cloudy might

She had pried the heavy mausoleum door open with a
crowbar, and she was inside, in the light of a kerosene lan-
tern, among the withered flowers, strugglmg with the hd of the
bronze casket It took Barlowe and Ellery to wrench her
away, and Newby had to jump in to help hold her.

“Alice, please, you mustn’t do anything like this,” Ellery
panted “Why don’t you be a good girl and calm down? We
Can go outside and talk this over—"

“Let—go—of me!” she screeched “I know my rights! He

 promised me! The note has got to be in the coffin. It’s the
only other place it could be .. .”

Her face was migid, a mask of flesh, the eyes hardly human.

Officer Barlowe stripped off his blue coat and they wrapped
it about her as a makeshift restramning sheet, lashing the
sleeves at her back.

The four men carried her from the mausoleum on the top
of the hill, across the meadow m the dappled dark, to the
Tadio car The chief relayed a call for an ambulance from
Wrightsville General through the headquarters switchboard,
and they held her down and waited.

There was Ittle conversation, Her screams were too de-
manding

May dragged by, going nowhere
€ hunt for the elusive Laura lIimped, hesitated, and
ally came to a halt Whoever the mysterious woman named
In Johnny Benedict’s will was, she had erther taken refuge
M a mountaintop cave or decided she wanted no truck with
2 murder case
“In which event,” Ellery said, “Johnny never married her,
a5 we've mantamed all along So she gets nothing out of
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revealing herself except publicity, which she evidently wants
none of ”

“Unless . . . ,” and Inspector Queen stopped.
“Unless what, dad?”

“Nothing What thoughts I get these days are pretty wild " ‘
“You mean unless Laura killed Johnny for a motive Wé
have no lead to yet?”

“I told you 1t was wild *

“Maybe not so wild. It would explain why she hasn’t turned
up . . . I wish I knew,” Ellery groaned “Then I could get
some work done ” His novel-in-being felt like the cliffhanger
of the old movie-serial days; it was tied helplessly to the track
while his deadline came hurtling down on 1t like Old 77

4, B, C, D, E, F orGy opened in a converted pizzeria 01
Bleecker Street to a scathing review in the Post, a series O
witticisms 1 the News, silence from the Times, and a rave
notice in the Village Voice. All went into detail about the
third-act nude scene (the Voice’s description was matter-of-
factly explicit about Miss Audrey Weston’s blond charms,
which apparently overshadowed those of the rest of the ladies
of the cast out of sheer volume) The play began to do an
SRO busmess Miss Weston, mterviewed by one of the East
Village papers, said “Until now I have as a matter of pro-
fessional as well as personal mtegrity rejected any role that
called on me to appear 1n the nude But Ali-Bababa’s produc-
tion 15 a different kettle of fish, dahlmg (Sure, the mter-
» 1t stinks ) It positively shines mn this dull
: (That's what stinking fish do, all right, the
mterviewer interpolated ) T’'m proud to be a part of 1t, clothes
Or no clothes ” (Stay w1 your pad and have your chick do a
Striptease, the interviewer advised Ifs cheaper )

Marsh heard nothing more from Miss Weston, nee Atlene
Wilkinson, or from her attorney, Sanford Effing, about the
alleged Paternity

- : nt
ather (1] thaAttorma_',r Effing must have advised his clie
ité:ll of the courts, or, (2) regardless of the juridical odds,

at she did not have the scratch to finance what could only
: a long-drawn-out Iitigation (meaning chiefly the attorney’s
ce). For Miss Weston’s sole source of icome these days, 1t
appeared, wag her salary from 4, B, C, D, E, F orGy
e The case of Alice Tierney took an unexpected turn for the
citer Fro’m her action and appearance that Sunday night
:}:t c}l’cncd:cts mausoleum, Ellery would have sworn that she
ad gone off the deep end beyond rescue, he had seen psychot-
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ics 1 the “dilapidated” cells of mental hospitals with the same
livensh hips and wild-animal glare But she made a remark-
able recovery in the psychiatric ward of the Wrightsville Gen-~
eral Hospital. She was a patient there, behind bars, for two
weeks under the care of Dr. P. Langston Minikin, chief of
the hospital’s psychiatric service, after which he had her
transferred to a nursing home 1 Connhaven, where she re-
mamned for another two weeks and was then discharged in
the custody of her parents and elder sister Margaret, who
was also a registered nurse Dr. Mmikin diagnosed Alice as a
schizophrenic personality, but the episode itself, he said, was
2 hysteric seizure, probably isolated, and not likely to be re-
Peated except under very extreme pressure.

Dr Minikin told Chief Newby, “She seems resigned now
to the fact that Benedict either forgot his promise or changed
his mind—at any rate, that he left no written authorization or
other record for the transfer of the property at his death
She's a bit withdrawn over what she considers the raw deal
he gave her, but my opinion she’s already managed a good
adjustment, and in amazingly fast time I don’t believe Alice
Will do any more prowling, Anse ” He hedged his bet “She

M2y do other things, but not that.” It was not conducive to

Newby’s peace of mmd

thBut the really astonishing development of the month was
¢ ann

ouncement that Marcia Kemp Benedict Faulks was

g unto herself a fourth surname,

Was not so much the fact 1self that was to be marveled
al m this age of multiple marriages as the identity of the
lucky man Ellery hardly believed the evidence of his eyes as
cz read the daily reports of his father’s detectives and their

ation in the gossip and society columns
Tomance

was burgeoning between the ex-Vegas redhead
and Al Marsh & s

“Not that 1t’s any of my affair,” Ellery said at a three-way
dinner 1n a hideaway Bast Side restaurant one night toward
the end of May, “but how in Cupid’s name did 1t happen?
I never caught even a glimpse between you and Marcia of

a0y romantic interest. On the contrary, I thought you disked
each other * -

Marcia’s hand groped, and Marsh engulfed it.

"You learn to hude things,” the lawyer smiled. “ESPt’-CiﬁY
ihen you're the attorney in the triangle, and more especially
den what you have to cover up is the McCoy ” ,
b;{{;angle?” Ellery said. “You and Marcia—behind Jobnoy's

ck?”

Marsh’s smile widened. be
“Hardly,” Marcia sad. “I found out that Al ought 10
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ing an Bquity card. I thought he detested me That’s
c;%;y 1 glways gneg to give him a hard time You know how
are ”
br?‘?fl;ok,” Marsh said. “I couldn’t cut in on Johnny either
for personal or professional reasons I had to suppress I;ng
feelings I shoved them so deep I was hardly aware I ad
them, or I'd have married Marcia soon after J ohnny d:vorc.cih
her He met her through me, you know. I was i love wi 1
her when to Johnny all she was was a marriage of con
venience ” ' 5 fow
The redhead squeezed his hand “I know it’s only a i
weeks since Bernie died, but that marriage was from hullgee
—1 was on the rebound from Johnny, I'd known Bermi

Faulks in the Vegas crowd, and you've got to admit Bern was
loaded with S A »

“You don’t have to apologize, dear heart,” Marsh saxgo
“It was a mustake, Ellery, and Marcia and I see no reasonh 0
waste any more of our lives Dessert, baby?” he asked he
as the waiter hovered.

“Gawd, no!l A bride has to think of her architecture, es-
pecially when she’s built

like the George Washington Bridge
to start with »
Further prying was obviously futide Ellery gave up
It

was to be a private wedding 1n Marsh’s Sutton Pl:c;l;

duplex, even the date was kept from the press. The 31 f
friends Marsh nvited—Marcia said she had none she co 1
trust—were pledged to secrecy and asked to come quzle y
to the apartment at two o’clock on the afternoon of Sunday,
June 7 "At the last moment Marcia decided to ask Audrey
Weston and Alice Tierney—*“I know 1t’s bitchy of mg,I
Marcia said, “but I do want to see theiwr faces when Al an
are hitched!” (To her chagrin Alice declined on the excuse
of her recent illness, Audrey did not bother even to respond.)
The only other wedding guests were Leslie Carpenter, Miss
South, and the Queens

The knot was tied by Mr Justice Marascogni of the State
Supreme Court, an old friend of the Marsh family (Ellery
felt an ¢xtraordmary relief on being introduced to the judge,
hie had been half expecting—when he heard that a judge was
to perform the ceremony-—the appearance of old Judge Mc-

€, whose similar role 1n the nuptials that chimaxed his last
mvestigation had concluded on such a cataclysmic note ) But
this time the marriage-maker came, performed, and left with
no cataclysm at aji

Untid, of course, about forty-five minutes later

It was curious how 1t happened, the accumulating clichés

of all such affairs—*Isn’t 3t June today? She’s a June bridel”
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—the June bride’s hilarity when someone exclaimed over the
first champagne toast after the man-and-wife pronouncement,
“Why, now your name 1s Marcia Marsh How quaint!”—and
the acting out of the small roles Judge Marascognr’s unfor-
tunate hisp, through which “Marcia” sounded uncomfortably
like “Martha,” as if the groom were marrying another woman
entirely, and the sibilants 1n the marriage service seemed 1n-
Creased a hundredfold, making everyone nervous anticipating
the next one; the peaceful, almost imperceptible, way m which
Miss Smith got smashed on her boss’s champagne and even-
tually salted her glass over the death of her hopes (was there
ever a homely secretary to a man as Marlboro-handsome as
Al Marsh who did not secretly cherish such hopes?)— col-
lapsing 1n Ellery’s arms weeping her lost love, having to be
laid on the groom’s bed (by the bride) making Ellery wonder
Just how smashed she really was, the merriment over the
wedding cake (not a creation of the great Lows, who was not
a baker but a chef, an ex-colleague of his, who was a baker,
had created it at Louis’s command), the traditional awk-
wardness of the first bride-and-groom two-handed slice, and
the bride’s quite expert subsequent solo performance with the
cake knife . until, as 1t has been noted, some forty-five mn-
utes later, when the cake was one-third gone and Ellery found

elf, through no conscious design he could recall, alone
with 1t. Alone with it, the others having eaten therr fill and
scattered throughout the duplex

The slices had all been taken from the two lowest tiers of
the cake, leaving the upper tiers intact.

Highest of all, on the eminence, like triumphant mountain-
climbers, stood the stiff little plastic figures of the bride and
groom 1n their sugar-frosted canopy

The little couple stared up at him crookedly In slicing the
cake Marcia had accidentally touched them and the canopy
had shpped; they stood a bit askew.

Something popped in Ellery’s head

Like a tiny smoke-bomb

The smoke drifted about, brushing his thoughts, dissipating,
vanishing—the same elusive thmg he had failed to grasp in
Benedict’s Wrightsville bedroom and elsewhere, later, 1n an-
noymng retrospect. The something he had scen but failed to
nolice The something he had not been able to grasp

But this time he grasped 1t

He grasped 1t when 1n an act not really of volition, Eflery
reached out in an absent way to straighten the surrogate bride
and proom n therr canopy Perhnps he was thinking teo hard,
oF not thinking at all, or alicrnating between deeporitien and
despur, In anv event, the plastic couple pagled out of thew
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base and the little groom fell to the rug
Leaving the bride alone in the canopy.
Ellery frowned his displeasure

This is wrong, he thought. He hoped, for Al Marsh’s Sak;;,
‘that the fall was not symbolic. There had been marnage fail-
ures enough in this case

That was Ellery’s first thought

His second was to bring the couple together again., Nat-
urally. Was there ever a more sinful moment for separation
and disruption? The little bride stood so bravely forlorn 13
her canopy. And the Iittle groom looked so doleful an
deserted lying on the fioor, so out of things, so robbed of the
spirit of nuptial joy.

Therefore Ellery stooped to pick up the groom and restore
him to his rightful place,

That was when the hightning struck; the lightning that—

a3 on past occasions, if he was lucky—rpped through the
Overcast of the long dry spell and shattered the amr clear.

“We've got to go up to Wrghtsville right away,’,’, he said
to Inspector Queen “Or I've got to go 1if you can’t.

He had drawn the Inspector onto Marsh’s terrace, away
from the others, New York sparkled in the sun It was ong
of the city’s rarely beautiful days Marsh—or Marcia—ha
picked a good one, all right

“T'll go, too,” Inspector Queen said.

“No questions?”

His father shrugged.

“Am I that fransparent?”

“P'm your old man_”

“It’s a wise father What did J ohnny call her?”

“What did Johnny call who?”

His failure to correct the Inspector’s grammar was sig-
nificant. “Laura Th 4

e last woman 1 his life, wasn’t that how
he put 1t? No, you didn’t hear him Poor Johnny ” ,
“I suppose you'll tell me what you’re talking about,” the
IHSPECtQI‘ said, “m your own sweet time, as usual.”
“I think T can suggest a lead,” Ellery said. i
The old man®

) an’s ears twitched “To Laura?” .
“At least I can tell you what her last name is Or may be
Ellery, don’t play

games! How could you possibly know
her last name? Alj of a sudden like this?”
“Try Mann—M-a-n-n It mught be a longer name, dad—
Manning, Manners, Mannheim, Mandeville, Manmx Some-
thing like that »

The Inspector squinted at him mn absolute disbelief. Then,
shaking his head,

he went off to find a phone,
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€y no go, }\/Ir Queen.” The houseman looked around
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They dropped into Wrightsville with the setting sun Inspector
Queen telephoned Newby from the tiny airport lounge

“Meet us at the Benedict house,” the Inspector told him.
“Don’t bother with a police car—I mean for us We'll take
a cab PIRN

Chief Newby was waiting for them at the door He had
1t unlocked and waiting

“What's up, Inspector?”

“Ask him Maybe yowll have better luck than I've had
I couldn’t get a word out of bhim, and I still can’t ™

The chief looked at Ellery reproachfully .

“I'm not being coy,” Ellery grumbled. “I've had consid-
erable to think through Shall we go mn?” ]

ey went mn The house was musty-smelling, and Newby

Wwent about throwing windows open. “Anybody want a drink?”
Ellery asked When the older men refused he said, “Well,
I' do,” and he took an Insh neat, and another, then set the
bottle down and said, “Let’s go upstairs ” ]

He vaulted up to Benedict’s bedroom, and waited im-
Patiently n the doorway

“The answer was here from the start,” he said “That Sat-
urday might. March twenty-eight, wasn’t it? Almost two and
2 half months ago I could have saved us 2 lot of wear and
tear And Faulks his muserable Iife . . well, 1t’s all slops
under the bridge Come 1n, gents, and be seated Don’t worry
about disturbing the evidence It isn’t the kind you can dis-
turb 1

“What?” Newby said, vague as a fish

“Don’t try to make anything out of 1t,” Inspector Queen ad-
vised him “Not just yet, anyway He always starts this way.
You sit down and you listen That’s what I'm gomng to do,
Newby. I've had to do 1t a hundred times ” And the Inspector
scated himself on the bedroom's only chair, leaving the edge
of the Idead man’s bed to the chicf, who perched himself on it
gingerly

with an uneasy eye on the door, as if to orient him-
<clf to the nearest exit.

121



122 THE LAST WOMAN IN HIS LIFE

“You weren’t there, Anse,” Ellery sad “I mean in Marsh's
apartment today, when he and Marcia were married After
the ceremony I found myself with the wedding cake, just the
three of us—"

“The three of you?”

“The little plastic bride and groom and me.”

“Oh Oh?”

“They were, as usual, under a canopy at the top of the
caﬂce];I And the groom fell off. Do you see?”

114 0 19

“It left the bride alone up there”

“Well, sure So what?”

“So that was wrong, wasn’t it?”

“Wrong?” Chief Newby repeated “What was?”

“I mean, you look at the bride standing up there by her-
self, and 1t’s obvious there’s a missing element ”

“Oh Well, naturally The groom Anybody would know
that. Is that what you flew up from New York to tell me?’

“That 1s correct,” Bllery said “To tell you that there was
something missing

“From the beginning I've felt that there was a crucial clu,e
in this room, a vital element of the murder, only I couldn’t
get my finger on it Of course, when you think you can’t re-
member something you take it for granted that it’s somethmg
you saw, something that was there but shpped your mind.
That lone little bride today told me my mistake The clue 18
Johnny’s bédroom here wasn’t something I'd seen and for-
gotten, 1t was something I had not seen—something that
should have been here but wasn’t. Something which my mind
unconsciously groped for, failed to find, and whose omuission
1t registered. )

“Dad ”

‘“Yes, son?”

Ellery was at the clothes closet. “The room is exactly as
it was on the night of the murder except that Johnny’s body,
the contents of the nightstand, and the three women’s stolen
articles of clothing aren’t here now Correct?”

“No,” the Inspector said ‘“The weapon ”

“And the Three Monkeys, yes Everything else in the bed-
room 1s as 1t was. That would include this wardrobe closet
of Johnny's~and its contents, wouldn’t 5t?”

“Yes?” His father was mtent

«So what’s 1 the wardrobe closet now is what we inspected
on the might of the murder. Very thoroughly, I might add
Garment by garment, Remember? Even Johnny's hats, shoeg

—everything ”
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“Yes?” the old man said agamn In the same way. Newby
was still imitating a fish
“Let’s do a repeat Go through the closet and call out what-

ever you see As you did that might Listen hard, Anse. Sece if
you catch 1it. It 1sn’t easy.”

. Inspector Queen began with the accessory items, enumerat-
Ing' neckties, four-in-hands, ascots, bow ties, scarves, m all
basic colors and combinations—

“Including browns?” Ellery mterrupted

“Sure including browns Didn’t I say ‘all’?”
“Go on.”
“Ten hats and caps—"

“Is any of them brown?"

“This brown fedora *
“Shoes?”

“Cordovans, alligators, suedes—"

“Never mind the leather How about the colors?”

“Blacks, browns, grays, tans—"

“Browns and tans noted Overcoats?”

“Navy blue double-breasted, black with a velvet collar,
cashmere—"

“Which color cashmere?”

“Tan ?”»

“Brown family Topcoats?”

“Charcoal, tan, chocolate—"

“Brown family again That’s enough to make my pomnt Step
out of the closet, dad, and go through the drawers of the
bureau there, as we did on the night of the murder Take the
shurt drawers first. Do you find any shirts m shades of brown?”

“SuIe—,,

“How about the hose drawer? That one. Any brown socks?”
“Plenty »

“You left out his suits ¥ Newby was fascinated—puzzled,
but fascinated

“We did, didn’t we?” Ellery said As usual at such times,
there was something of the actor about him, enjoying his per-
formance “All right, dad, start with Johnny’s conventional
suits Which colors are they?”

The Inspector said sharply, “They’re all m shades of blue
and gray Period!”

“Yes,” Ellery said “No browns or tans That’s what kept
bugging me, Anse, even though I couldn’t identify 1t the
basic fashion color brown that wasn’t represented mn Johnny’s

suits, in spite of the fact that practically everything else in
his wardrobe included articles in brown and/or tan ”

“Maybe he just didn’t bring a brown swt up here ”
“Unthinkable Johnny regularly made the Ten Best-Dressed
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Men's list. He wouldn’t have worn brown shoes, or a brown
hat, or a brown topcoat, or certamly a brown or tan shiut,
with anything but a smit in some shade of brown If he had
brown accessories here, they had to be intended for at Jeast
one brown or tan suit.

“But I didn’t have to make a deduction about 1t,” Ellery
continued. “Johnny did have a brown suit on the premises
saw 1t with my own eyes. On him. The night he was mur-
dered He was wearing 1t when I was skulking on the terracé
domng my Peeping Tom act while he held forth to his ex
wives about his plans for a new will. He was wearmng the
brown suit when he left them for the night and went upstairs
10 go to bed That means he took the brown suit off up here,
mn this room, when he undressed and got nto his pajamas.
But when he phoned us at the guest cottage and we dashed
over here and found him dead—no brown st No brown
suit 1 his closet, as we've noted; no brown suit thrown Over
a chair or deposited anywhere else 1n the bedroom as you
would expect after he’d undressed to go to bed—dad, you
actually remarked on the neatness of the room, how no
clothes were strewn about. You even specified what Johnny
had deposited 1n the laundry hamper of the clothing he’d been
wearmg socks, you said, underwear, shirt ” "

Newby muttered “Then what happened to his brown suit?

“That, Anse, is the question To answer 1t you obviously
must ask yourself first who do we know was in this room
later that night besides Johnny?”

“Who? His killer ” .
Q ;Algsi?ver. Johnny’s killer took away Johnny's brown suit.

Newby threw an irritated glance at the Inspector But
Richard Queen was peering mto the past. Or perhaps it was
the future.

“QED my Aunt Martha’s hind leg,” Newby said crossly.
“It doesn’t QED a damned thing to me Why? Why would
his killer take Benedict’s suit away?”’

“You’ve just hit pay dirt, Anse Let’s go back What do we
know the murderer did after he entered the bedroom? He did
three things we’re now sure of He killed Johnny He left
Audrey’s gown, Marcia’s wig, and Alice’s gloves on the floor.
And he made his escape with the suit Johnny had taken off
1n undressing for bed

“Let’s concentrate on number three—your question, Anse
why did Murderer, 1n escaping after his crime, take Johnny’s
suit with him?

“Was 1t because the suit contamed something he wanted?
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No, because if that were the case he had only to take 1t from
the suit and leave the suit behind

“Or was the theft of the man’s suit meant to symbolize ‘a
man? That is, to point suspicion to the only other male 1n
the house that might, Al Marsh? All the others were women
—Audrey, Marcia, Alice, Miss Smith ”

“Then why would the killer also leave the three articles of
women’s clothing?” the Inspector objected. “Those seemed to
pomt to women.”

“Disposing of that theory—right, dad And there’s another
Ob]ec_:tlon to that we didnit even realize a man’s suit was
Tussing If that had been Murderer’s mtention, he would have
Managed to call the fact of the missing suit to our attention.
But he didn’t.”

“Can either of you think of still another reason?”

I a barren interlude Newby said, “You'd think there’d
a dc;zen possible reasons for a thing like that. But I can’t
of one ”

Inspector Queen confessed, “Neither can I, Ellery.”

“That’s because 1t’s obvious.”

“Obvious?”

“What was it,” Ellery asked, “that the murderer took
away?”

“Benedict’s brown suit.”

“A man’s smit. What are men’s suits used for?”

“What are they used for? What do you mean, son? To
wear, But—> .

“To wear,” Ellery said “As clothing The common, every-

Y Teason. But why should Murderer need clothing in leay-
Ing Johnny’s room after the murder? Surely he came there
Wearing something Had he been splashed with blood—wasg
that the reason he had to have a change of clothes? But
Johnny’s head bled remarkably Iitttle—we noted that on the
Scene, dad. Or even if some blood had got on Murderer’s
original clothing, that would hardly have necessitated an en-
tre change—pants as well as jacket—m the middle of the
night, 1n a darkened house No, it must have been something
else about what Murderer was wearing when he came to
Johnny’s room that compelled him to discard 1t and dress jn
Johnny’s suit as a substitute Do you see 1t now?”

Chief Newby looked helpless

Inspector Queen exploded, “Hell, nol”

“But it’s so clear,” Ellery cried “What was Murderer wear-
ing when he came into Johnny’s room that he might have
feit he could not wear in leaving after the crime? You still

don’t see 1t? Well, what clothing definitely not Jo ’
we find on the floor—dropped there?” y hnny’s did
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“Those women’s things ™ The Inspector was gaping.

“That is right If Murderer came to Johnny's bedroom wear
ing Audrey's evening gown, Marcia's wig, and Alice’s gloves,
and for some reason decided to Jeave them behind,
Murderer would have required other clothes to leave in.”

Chief Newby cxclaimed, “One of those three gals, wearing
the gown, the wig, and the ploves, came 1o Benedict’s 100D,
stripped, left them as clues to spread the guilt, and put oD
the suit Benedict’d been wearing to get bach to her owa room
in” His face darkened. “That makes no sense at all She'd
have come 1 a dress or a kimono or something and just
carricd the three clues 1o her hand *

The Inspector asked slowly, “Are you saying jt wasn't one
of his ex-wives, Ellery?”

“You've answered your own question, dad Audrey, Mar-
cia, Alice—none of them would have planned to go to
Johnny’s room to kil hum under such circumstances as 0
leave herself without clothes for her getaway.”

“But Ellery, they were the only women there!” Newby said

“No, Chief, wait a minute,” the Inspector said ‘“‘There
was a fourth woman on the premises Marsh's secretary, Miss
Sml?th.” But when he looked at Ellery he said, “Not her,
son?”

Ellery was shaking his head “You're forgetting, dad, that
we’ve postulated Murderer’s gong to Johnny’s room wearing
the stolen women’s clothing That means Murderer was the
one who stole them m the first place But when were they
stolen? Audrey reported to us that her gown was missing as
early as noon that Saturday Marcia told us that her wig was
gone not an hour later. And when I talked to Alice and she
couldn’t find her gloves, it was only mudafternoon In fact, it
was durmng that conversation that Alice told me the others
were preparing to drive over to the amrport to meet Miss
Smith’s plane, which was due 1n, Alice said, at five thirty

“So Miss Smith couldn’t have been the one who stole the
gown, wig, and gloves Therefore she wasn’t the one who
went to Johnny’s room that night wearmng them »

“But there was no other woman i the house,” the In-
spector protested.

“BExactly ”

Pauses have shades, Iike colors This pause was unrelieved
‘black.

The Inspector fumbled for some light “But Ellery, there
was only one other person there ” ’

“Exactly ”

“«Al Marsh. .. ."”

“Rxactly ”
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And there was the pause again, less dark, more hke a
hg}]tnmg-stmck sky
0 you mean to say,” Inspector Queen yipped, “do you
mean 1o say 1t was Marsh—A! Marsh—who went to Bene-
dict’s bedroom that might all rigged out 1n a woman’s cve-
g;g%e gow;x, wearing a woman's wig and a woman's
S 1’

“It's where the argument led us”

Lmez?]u{ Jthat would mean,” Newby fretted, “that would

that we're mvestigating a case,” Ellery said in a somber
VOLCE, the real nature of which we didn't suspect until now

Al Marsh went to Johnny’s bedroom that might in full
and what happened there forced him to leave the
tmmine clothing behind He put on Johnny’s suit to get
safely back to his own room Johnny's brown suit . . when
we find 1t, we'll have him

nd 1t?” the Inspector mumbled “Fat chance. He'll have
g0t rid of 1t long ago »

“I don't think s0,” Ellery said *“No, there’s a good chance
€ may not have Shall we go see?”

drag,

There was no flight out at that hour, and Ellery would not

:Tttl Newby said grimly, “Take my car I wish I could go
+ WIth you

The Queens drove all night, alternating at the wheel They
had breakfast ;n an all-night cafeteria on 1st Avenue and
W’ere at the door of Marsh’s duplex a few minutes past eight
o'clock 1n the morning.

“Mr Marsh he’s asleep, Mr Queen,” the houseman said,
Ulilkmg m the entrance hall “No can wake him up—"

“Is Mrs Marsh with him?”

‘She no move 1n here yet.”

‘Then you go on about your business, Estéban,” Ellery
said “I’Hl take the responsibility of waking Mr Marsh.”

They barged into Marsh’s bedroom without knocking It
Was a spacious place of massive woods, hand-hewn and mas--
Culine An eight-foot reproduction 1n marble of Michelangelo’s
David graced the room

" The lawyer turned over in bed suddenly and opened his
eyes

“Basy, Marsh,” Inspector Queen said -

Marsh remained that way, m a half twisted posture, ar-
rested im mid-movement He looked formidable His torso
was naked and full of muscles and, surprisingly, hairless, as

if he used a depilatory
“What do you want?”
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He sat up then But he made no move to get out of bed
He drew his legs up under the red silk sheet and folded his
heavy foreams over them, as if to hold them m check.

“What do you want?" he asked again

“Johnny's swit,” Ellery said gently, “You know, Al The
brown one he was wearing the night he was schlogged,”

“You must be insane ”

“Is 1t what I am, Al? Or what you are?”

Marsh shut his eyes for the bricfest moment, Iike a child
When he opened them Ellery saw that they were old, bitter,
and retreating .

“I don’t know what you're talking about,” he said 1o 3
mechanical way. “I have nothing of Johnny’s here Go ahead
and look And be damned to you” ,

His wardrobe closet was a roomy walk-in, Iike Benedicts
in Wrightsville Among the many garments on the racks they
found two suits that, to Ellery’s recollection, were approxr-
mately the same shade of brown as the missing Benedict suit

“What size do you wear, Marsh?” Inspector Queen asked
“Never mind According to the labels these are forty-four
longs, Ellery. Benedict couldn’t have worn more than a thJI,TY,‘,
eight regular—maybe even a thirty-six So these are Marsh's
None of the other suits was the color of Benedict’s “Any
other suits in the apartment, Marsh?”

“This 1s your party ” Marsh’s throat sounded dry He licked
his Iips “I don’t have to tell you, ncidentally, Inspector, that
I've seen no sign of a search warrant ”

“There’s one on the way,” the Inspector said “Sorry wé
jumped the gun a bit, Marsh Would you rather we held up
till the warrant gets here?”

The lawyer shrugged his heavy shoulders.

“I won’t make an issue of it. I've got nothing to hide”

The Inspector looked the least bit worried He glanced at
Ellery But if Ellery felt misgivings he did not betray them
He was gomng through the suitcases that were piled up mn a
corner of the wardrobe room. The cases were empty

Ellery straightened up suddenly and stepped out of the
closet “I’'m still partly 1n shock,” he said, and drew his father
aside, out of earshot of Marsh “Of course 1t wouldn’t be out
mn the open He’s hidden 1t m his clothes-hiding place ”

“His what?”

“Marsh leads a secret Iife, doesn’t he? That follows from
what we've found out about hnn During the day he acts the
part of a normal man But nights—some nights—and week-
ends—some weekends—he lives his other hfe That means he
has to have a liding place for the clothes he wears when he’s

on the prowl”
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to watch myself, to pretend, cost me dear, It had to find an
outlet somewhere Inevitably there was an epwode 1 a bar,
well away from the Yard . . . then another, and another It
became an addiction, like herom. I fought it with all my
strength, feehng such shame and gwilt afterward that 1 threw
myself mto college sports, especially wresting. Until I real-
1zed why I had gone into contact sports. And gave them up.
Marsh went to the wall besude s bed and pressed some-
thing A section of the wall siid away to disclose a fully
stocked bar. He seized a bottle of bourbon and filled a water
glass. He downed half its contents without lowering s head.
It wasn’t only Johnny who never suspected. You didn',
Ellery—no one did. I was ludicrously careful I never cruise
anyone connected with the college, even the ones I knew
would be approachable All my pickups were made far off
campus, like the first one, mostly in downtown Boston. My
great fear was that I'd be found out I suffered more than

can describe . . . from the agony of alienation . . the effort
to disguise my real wants . . . the need, the craving, to be
the life.

Oh, God, Marsh said, you can’t imagine what it’s like, the
nervous tension, the inner turmoil, the loneliness—particu-
larly the lonelmess when I was puttng on my act mn the
straight world And the persistent overdrinking—it’s a wonder
I didn’t become an alcoholic, but I suppose my fear of self-
betrayal acted as a brake .. I never considered for a moment
going to a psychiatrist . I know I should have adjusted, as
other people have, accepted what I was But I couldn’t, I
just couldn’t For every hour of peace—why do I call 1t
peace? it was merely a truce—I fought an etermity of all-out
war

When my mother died and I came mto the family fortune,
I was even worse off. I now had the independence and the
means to widen the area of my secret life, but the dangers
of discovery were also multiplied, therefore the fears and
shames and guilts Also, no matter how much I engaged m
the lLife, I felt incomplete—what someone has termed “un-
fulfilled and unfulfillable * It’s like compulsive eating, or any
other sympton of something wrong  the disgust I felt cruis-
mg for a trick, the demeaning deals with hustlers, the sordid
hanging around public washrooms m hotels, railroad stations,
arport terminals, bus depots, angling for a pickup . . . a
marine, a drunken sailor, offering money for an hour in some
cheap hotel . . and the greatest dread of all, that while I was

cruising at a gay bar or beach or in some park—wherever
people 1n the life congregated—someone I knew m the straight
world would run mto me and spread the word . . . most
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hideous thought of all, some reporter who'd recognize me.
e PO you know what the first commandment 1 the gay
: stanzis “Thou shalt not be found out.” You've got to under-

that. I musta’t be found out. I could bear almost any-

t%lh”g but exposure . . . I said a reporter would be the worst.

Sqat’s not true. The worst would be a detective from the Vice
ﬁd, playing the role of pickup. ..

arsk’s delwvery, which had begun n halting fashion, began

t; pick up smoothness and speed, hke a partially clogged

rawn that had cleared. The purge of confession reddened and

convulsed his face, his fists fla ]
lled away almost joyously at the
pain of cleansing I;zmself. ” e

he (r)rgwe me for going nto such detail, he said, and downed
B Se;“ zl‘ his drink. T1l get right to what you want to hear.
theme the glass down on the bar quetly and turned to face

Loi?om tIhe moment Johnny and I flew to that art auction i
my secn’ had the,exmtmg feeling that he'd suddenly guessed
Now ﬂ];et It wasn’t for any reason I could put my finger on.
brou ghtat I have some perspective on it, it was an ilusion
myself on by the intensity of my deswre for him I talked
g whmto believing that all these years, while T’d been hid-
that 1 at I was from him, Johnny had been hiding from me
Is € was secretly in the life, too.
sounds absurd to me now, when I say it, there was

Ieﬁuy no basis for it. But, so powerful was the need, that’s

:'a:t I convinced myself of I convinced myself that Johnny
giving me suggestive looks

vanc S . . mviting me to make ad-
€8 . ., cruising me to come to his bedroom that weekend

m Wrightsville afte
make love, ¢ r everyone else was asleep so that we could

denrm the start of the weekend I felt a kind of criss in
entity that turned physiological with great rapidity. It sapped
my usual control. That Friday night, when Audrey, Marcia,
and Alice came downstamrs all dressed up, somethng hap-
Pened to me Audrey’s stunning eveming gown with the
sequins, Marcia’s silly “fun” wig, Alice’s elbow-length gloves
. all of a sudden I was madly attracted to them. I had to
have them . put them on . .. parade around 1n them. If
we'd been 1 the city I could have used one of my own drag
outfits, but we were m that damned pbackwoods town. ..
there was my beloved Jobhnny—the satisfied passion of my .
hfe—practically 1o my arms . . . signaling 10 me, as 1 thought,
giving me the come-on. . . .
1 slept hardly a wink that night.
By Saturday mormng 1 was beyond reason or‘cautlon.
While the women were out of fhe bouse or downstairs some-

“
A



132 THE LAST WOMAN IN HIS LIFE

where, I stole the gown, the wig, the gloves from thewr bed-
rooms

I hid the gown and the gloves under the mattress of my bed,
and the wig in the bottom of my wastebasket under a cam-
ouflage of crumpled tissues.

Marsh seemed scarcely conscious of them now, and the
Queens settled themselves with great caution for the next few
crucial minutes |

By late Saturday night I had no defenses left. My will
power was gone All I could think of was Johnny and how
much I wanted him I don’t know how I got through that
endless evening, Johnny’s dreary spiel to those three It was
especially bad after he went to bed 1 thought the women
would never go up to thewr rooms Finally, the last one did.

You have to realize I'd had a great deal to drink I'd tried
to hold the drinking down, but 1t had got to me. Maybe it
was because of the excitement building up

Marsh began striding again. Hands clasped, at one time
wringing, another knuckle-cracking. Head lowered, rushing
toward his denouement like a lemnung

I warted till I thought everyone must be asleep Then I
got the gown and gloves out from under my mattress, and
the wig from the wastebasket I opened the secret pocket m
my two-suiter bag—I'd had it specially made—and took out
the supply of makeup I keep handy there—a lhiquid powder
base, rouge, face and body powder, false eyelashes, lipstick,
mascara The works And I. .. changed

His voice faltered before the last word. After he uttered it
he was silent for so long that the Queens disciplined their
breathing Fnally, he shook himself like a dog

It wasn’t a bad fit—you know how big they are, with
Johnny’s yen for women twice his size Though I had to pass
up shoes Their shoes wouldn’t have gone on my feet, and of

course I couldn’t put on my men’s shoes, I'd have looked
ridiculous

Marsh paused again, and Ellery thought how bright Emstein
had been to nsist on relatwvity Marsh said he would have
looked ridiculous in men’s shoes True, but how did he think
he looked in a woman’s dress? For the first ime, as a result
of Marsh’s comment, Ellery truly saw hum as not the Marl-
boro man but the transvestite.

I opened my door and listened Marsh said 1t hturgically,
as if he were in commumion with some deep, meffable force
The house was so still 1t sang—you know how they are some-
tumes 10 the middle of the night I can remember my throat
how there was a gong pounding at the base of it It was aI:
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most pleasant I could even see pretty well, there was a good
nightlight burning 1n the upper hall.

Nobody 1 could see.

Nothing

I felt wonderful.

So alive

T walked up the hall to Johnny’s bedroom I half expected
the door to open for me as I came up and Johnny to be
standing there waiting

But it didn’t, and he wasn’t 1 tried the knob and it turned
and the door swung with a creak like a haunted house, and
I went in and shut 1t and 1t creaked again, and Johnny’s voice
said, “Who's that? Who'’s there?” m a mumble, and I felt
around on the wall for the switch and then the room lit up
and there was my darhng sitting up m bed all sleepy and
blinky, not naked as I had imagmed he’d be, but m lis
pajamas

Marsh’s rhapsodic monotone, which had had the devotional
quality, fell so low it became a mutter. They had to strain to
hear him

1'think at first he thought I was Audrey, or Marcia, be-

cause he rolled out of bed and snatched his robe and put it
on

But then his pupis must have adjusted, because he recog-
nized me You could see his eyes do it. -

They scarcely_heard him at all now. He was clenching air
with his fists and, feeling nothing, opening his big hands in
a curiously supplhicating way

Could you speak a little louder? Inspector Queen asked
softly. Marsh looked at him, frowning

T've seen his eyes many times since, he said with more vol-
ume At might. Even daytumes I could read them like a neon
sign Recognition Comprehension And then shock

They stayed shocked just long enough for me to compound
my mistake That stupid mustake I wasn’t thinking at all at
that moment. It was sheer feeling

The flowermg, you might say The bursting point.

1 stripped off the gloves and wig I tore the gown off Stood
there naked And I took a step toward him and held out my
arms, and that was when I saw the shock 1n his eyes turn to
revulsion, absolute revulsion.

He said to me, “You filthy, filthy pig Get out of my
house.”

Marsh turned his back to them and made Iittle throat-
clearing noises When he spoke again it was to unoccupied

space, as if he had wished them away and they had obediently
disappeared
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I found myself saying some things to him then ... I re-
member . about my love ... my years of fighung to hide
1t from him

1 knew 1t was worse than useless—his eyes told me that—
but I couldn’t stop myself, it all came out, everything, and
all the time I knew 1t was a fatal mistake . . that he wasn't
capable of understanding . . . any more than you . . although
I hope ..Ihoped..

He never raised his voice It was brutal. He was cruel,
viciously so The things he called me . . unforgivable things
from an mtelligent, civilized man . . . even if he couldn’t
share my feelings, he’d known me so long, we’d been such
friends If I’d been a leper and deliberately infected hum out
of malice he couldn’t have shown more hate, as if I were
his enemy . .. All the time he was cutting me to buts, the
shame, the guilt, the fear—the pamic—grew All my years of
bemng careful-—successfully—thrown away in one uncon-
trollable act In one night

He was threatening to expose me.

I don’t know why Johnny reacted so violently to what he’'d
found out about me I hadn’t really done anything to him
except reveal myself for what I was He couldn’t handle the
revelation Maybe he had a deep-seated hangup about 1n-
version A lot of men do . . . as if they're afraid the same
thing is buried m them, and by attacking it 1o others . . . I

don’t know.

I bad no time to analyze Johnny then I was too busy
panicking )

He was threatening to expose me; and that would be the
end of me At that moment that was all I could think of—
that, and shutting his mouth. The cast-iron Three Monkeys
thing was on his bureau and the next thing I knew I found
myself smashing him over the head with it It was like a
reflex No rational thought behind it. He mustn’t tell. I must
keep him from talking

That’s all I knew

Marsh turned around and they, saw the surprise in his eyes
at the sight of them, and then the distaste, almost the con-
tempt, as 1f he had caught them eavesdropping But even that
drained rapidly out of his eyes, leaving them empty

It never occurred to me that Johnny wasn’t dead I sumply
took 1t for granted He looked dead sprawled there . . .
his pale, almost green, face . . , the blood . .

I opened the door a crack and looked out anc my heart
jumped There was a tall girl on the landing mn a dressing
gown, about to go downstaurs. She turned her head a bit, and
I saw it was Andrey Weston.
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Paralyzed, 1 watched her go down.

She was down there only a couple of minutes. She came
back up with a book and went to her room

I looked down at myself. I was naked. I'd forgotten. I began
to shake. Suppose she’d seen me?

I’d bardly had time to feel relieved when Marcia came
out of her bedroom—I knew instantly it was Marcia, because
I saw her red hair as she passed under the nightlight—and
she headed for downstaurs, too.

I suppose desperation calmed me down. I hadn’t dreamed
that people would be wandermg about the house in the mid-
dle of the night.

All T could think of now was getting safely back to my
room Marcia was downstairs—she might come back at any
moment, as Audrey had I didn’t dare go the way I was,
without a stitch on—that would be a dead giveaway if I were
seen . . and the thought of getting back into drag, the way
I had come, was even worse Suppose one of the women saw
me in women’s clothes? In their clothes?

Yet I had to get out of Johnny’s bedroom.

There was only one thing I could think of, and that was
to put on something of Johnny's The brown suit he’d been
wearing was lying on the chawr. I managed to squeeze into
it .

Ellery nodded Both shoulder seams of Benedict's suit were
splhit open, a fact the District Aftorney was going to appre-
ciate.

At the last moment it came to me—fingerprints My brain
was working independently; it wasn’t mimme No panic now I’
felt nothing I used the handkerchief I found i Johnny’s
pocket—it’s still there—and wiped off everything I'd touched

. the Three Monkeys where I'd held it, the door-knob,
whatever I'd come in contact with

I ran back to my own room

I locked the door, took off the suit and packed it at the
bottom of my suitcase And washed. .

Marsh shut his eyes again

He said in an exhausted, final way, There was Johnny's
blood on me

That was the body of it

T‘;lere were appendages Why had he hung onto Benedict’s
suit

::%Vas 1t because 1t had belonged to Johnny?” Ellery asked
es ”

Queen fils regarded ere.
chake b to s garded Queen pere. The Inspector could only
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“You realize, Al, there’s blood inside the jacket? Un-
doubtedly Johnny’s, which got on your bare hide when you
struck him and then smeared the lining when you put the
. jacket on for your escape. Didn’t it occur to you that, with
the blood types matching—Johnny’s and the stains’—and the
suit found 1n your possession, it was the most damaging kind
of evidence aganst you?”

“l didn’t think 1t would be found. Nobody, not even
Estéban, knew about the hidden closet. Anyway, I couldn’t
brmng myself to part with the suit. It was Johnny’s.”

Ellery found himself turning away

Inspector Queen wanted to know about the marriage. “It
doesn’t add up, Marsh. Not i view of what you've just told
us about yourself.”

But it did

On the night of the murder Marcia, who was occupying the
room next to Marsh’s, heard his door open and peeped out
He was 1n the full flight of his obsession and he neither heard -
nor saw her. As Marsh passed under the nighthight in the hall,
bound for Benedict’s room, Marcia got a full view of his face
and, m spite of the woman’s outfit and makeup he was wear-

g, she recognmized him. -

“Marcia’s the only one I know of who for a long time had
had suspicions about me,” the lawyer said “She’s very shrewd
and perceptive about such things, with her show business
background and the years she’s knocked about places like
Las Vegas At any rate, what she saw mn the hall that night,
she told me later, confirmed what she’d always suspected If
she had testified what she’d seen when Chief Newby and you
people were questioning us, she’d have blown the case sky
high the night of the murder.”

But Marcia had foreseen an advantage in silence, and _
events soon repaid her perspicacity The death of Benedict
cut off her weekly income, and his failure to specify the ex-
pected lump-sum settlement in his holograph will left her
without a penny She confided Marsh’s secret to the petty
hood she had married after her divorce from Benedict, and
Foxy Faulks grabbed the opportunity.

“Sweet setup for blackmail,” Inspector Queen said, nod-
ding. “She’d spotted you in drag, she certamnly guessed that
you were the one who had murdered Benedict, and you're a
rich? man. No wonder you killed Faulks You did, didn’t

ou' p3)

Y “What else could I do?” Marsh said, and he shrugged “I

don't have to tell you people how blackmailers operate.

They'd have bled me white, and I'd never have been out of

danger of exposure.” He had arranged to meet Faulks behind
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the Museum of Arf in Central Park late at night, presumably
for a payoff, and instead had given Marcia’s busband a knife
m the abdomen.

“T figured that would scare Marcia off my back,” Marsh
went on, “out of just plain self-preservation She’d have to
realize that if I was willing to kil Faulks, I wouldn’t shrink

from kitling her as well. Therefore she’d fade out of the pic-
ture

“But Marcia came up with a very smart counter-ploy. She
proposed that we get married She pleaded a persuasive case

Our marriage would give her the financial security she wanted,
and it would give me the smokescreen I needed to hide what
I was A lot of us, by the way, marry for precisely that rea-
son. And she didn’t have to remind me that a wife can’t be
made to testify against her husband, if it ever came to that
Well, we never got really started, thanks to you, Ellery. She’s
stil preparing to move in here.”

Ellery said nothing

To which Marsh said a curious thing “I wonder what
you're thinking ”

- “Not what you think I'm thinking, Al,” Ellery said.

“Then you're an exception If only people stopped regard-
ing us as some sort of monsters . . let us live our lives out
as we'’re constituted, m decent privacy and without prejudice,
I don’t believe this would have happened It would have been
possible for me to propose, and Johnny to reject, without
disgust and vitriol on his part or panic on mine He wouldn’t
have castigated or threatened me I wouldn’t have lost my

head We mught even have remamed friends Certamnly he’d
still be alive.

“Poor Johnny,” Marsh said, and was silent
The Queens were quiet, too A great change had come over

Marsh in the past few munutes He looked juiceless, squeezed
dry of his vital constituents, he looked old.

Fmally Inspector Queen cleared his throat

“You'd better get dressed, Marsh Youwll have to come
downtown with us ”

The lawyer nodded, almost agreeably
“Pll wash up.”

He went into the bathroom.

They had to break through the door

Marsh was lying on the tiled floor.
He had swallowed cyamde
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In the middle of the might after Marsh’s suicide Ellery
popped up out of sleep like a smoking piece of toast, groped -

for the nighthight, kicked the sheet, and ran to his father’s
‘bedroom.

“Dad!”

The Inspector stopped snoring to open one eye. “Unnh?”
“Vincentine Astor!”

“Wha'?”?

“Vincentine Astor!”

“Unnh 1"

“Nobody would have a name like that legitimately It’s got
to be a take-on, a phony—somebody’s idea of class. I'm bet-
ting she’s Laural Laura Man-something!” .

“Go back to sleep, son ” The old man took his own advice

But Laura Man-something the vanished hatcheck gl of
Manhattan’s Boy-Girl Club turned out to be They found Miss
Manzont in her native Chillicothe, Ohio, 1n the shadow of .
Mt Logan among the mysterious mounds, putting books back
mn the stacks of the Carnegie Library She was Living with
her father, stepmother, and a mixed brood of original and
acquired Manzonis m a pleasant frame house on a street of
dying elms. Her father, Burton Stevenson Manzomi, had been
employed 1n one of Chillicothe’s paper mills for twenty-seven
years

Laura Manzom1 was a surprise. She was not the bold,
platinum-and-enamel gum-chewer they had expected Pretty
and stacked she was, but otherwise Laura was softly chestnut-
haired, soft-eyed, soft-spoken, and a gentleman’s lady She
had majored in drama at Oberlin, and she had gone off to
N?ZV York for the predictable reason, with the predictable re-
su

For eating and sleeping money, when her grubstake ran
out, she had dyed her hair, bought a mmi-miniskirt and
peekaboo stockings, applied a thick coat of theatrical makeup
to her fresh Midwestern face, and bluffed her way mto the
hatcheck job at the mightclub. There she had met Johnny
Benedict

He claimed, Laura said, to have seen through her mas-
querade “to the essential me” immediately She resisted his
invitations for three weeks Then they began to meet after
hours, discreetly, this was as much, she said, at Benedict’s
insistence as at hers

“Finally he told me he was serious about me,” Laura said,
“and then that he Joved me Of course I didn’t believe him;
I knew his reputation But Johnny was such a charmer He
really was. He knew how to make a woman feel she was the
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center of everything, And the most he ever tried to do was
kiss me Still, something about hum held me back. . ..

“T suppose I wanted very much to be convinced, but I kept
putting him off. It’s hard for a girl like me to believe what a
man like Johnny tells her—a young and handsome multimil-
lionaire—even, or maybe especially, if he doesn’t make passes
or propositions What made it harder . . he kept talking
about our getting married As if it were all settled Johnny
couldn’t believe any girl he was rushing would turn him down.
I kept telling him I wasn’t sure, I needed time, and he kept
saying that time was for clock punchers, that we were going
to be married right away, that he’d made all his plans, and
that sort of thing >

“Did Mr Benedict ask you to sign any sort of agreement?”
asked the plamclothesman whom Chief Newby had sent to
Chillicothe to question her.

“Agreement?” Laura shook her head “I wouldn’t even if
be had, regardless of what it was As I say, I just wasn’t sure
of myself. Or, for that matter, of Johnny. In fact, when he
told me he had to go up to Wrightsville—"

“Then you knew about Mr. Benedict’s get-together with his
ex-wives the weekend of March twenty-eighth?”

“He didn’t say why he was going especially, or who’d be
there Just that he had some unfinished business, as he called
it, to clean up That was the trouble.”

“Trouble, Miss Manzoni? What trouble?”

It then came out Laura’s uncertainty about Benedict’s
sincerity and motives trapped her into an act that had preyed
on her conscience ever since. His vagueness about the purpose

_of his Wrightsville weekend bad fed her misgivings, with
Laura’s middleclass, Midwestern upbringing—in spite of what

" she had always considered her emancipation from it—all she
could think of was a “love nest” and “another woman ”
Hating her suspicious, but telling herself that i1t was a test
that would decide the issue of Johnny Benedict for her one
way or the other, she had rented a car that Saturday and
driven up to Wrightsville.

“T don’t believe I'd even thought through what I was going

. to do when I got there,” the girl said. “Maybe some grandiose
visions of finding him there with a chick, telling him off m a
“curtain speech, and making a glorious exit. When I did get
there—I was actually turning into Johnny’s driveway—I was
suddenly overwhelmed with shame I saw how wrong the
whole thing was m a kind of reverse rush of feeling, the way
you do sometimes I hadn’t trusted Johnny, I didn't trust him
then, and I knew I never would or could So I turned the car

around and drove right back to New York And that Sunday
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morning—I was too upset to go to bed—I h:aard”over the
radio that Johnny’d been murdered during the night.

Fear—that she mght have been seen outside the house or
mn Wrightsville or the vicinity and at once involved in the mur-
der—sent Laura fleeing to Chillicothe and home. She had
never told her family about her link to the young society matl1
whose name and photograph were mn the newspapers an
newscasts, When the story broke about the mysterious Laura
named as Benedict’s beneficiary in his holograph will in th]e‘:I
event of their marriage, she had needed no attorney to te
her that she had no claim on the Benedict estate, since the
event had never taken place. .

She would have fought identification as the missing Laura,
Laura said, with tooth and nail if Benedict’s murder had not
been solved.

“I've had a boy friend here in Chillicothe—on the next
block, in fact—since childhood,” Laura Manzoni said to New-
by’s emissary, “who’s wanted to marry me since we graduated
from high school. We're on the verge of setting the date. But
his folks are real hardshell Baptists and, while Buell would
stick by me if I were dragged through the papers and TV,
they’d make things very unpleasant for us. Can you keep my
name out of this? Please?”

They kept her name out of it . . . “the last woman 1m
Benedict’s life,” Inspector Queen repeated. “Isn’t that what he
called her that Saturday night?”

“He was wrong,” Ellery said dourly. “Laura Manzoni
wasn’t the last woman in Johnny’s hife.”

“She wasn’t?”

“She wasn’t.”

“But then who was?”

Ellery held his drmk up to the hght and squinted at it. It

was straight sour-mash bourbon. He made a face and tossed
it down like medicne.

“Al Marsh.”

“Marsh,” Inspector Queen said, dropping the news maga-
zine. He had been reading about Marsh’s funeral, and the
recapitulation of the events that had let up to it. In the new
freedom of expression enjoyed by the press, the story was
explicit, too much so to the Inspector’s old-fashioned taste. “I
still can’t get a feeling of reahty about 1t.”

“Why not?” Ellery demanded. “In your time you've in-
vestigated whole botanical gardens of men like Marsh, dad.
Every police officer has. You know that ”

“But it’s the first time I was nvolved in a case with one on
a personal basis. Marsh looked and acted like such a man
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of a man, if you know what I mean. Maybe if he'd been the
obvious kind—"

“In his own way he was ”

The old man stared.

“His apartment,” Ellery said. “He practically threw his
secret in your face.”

“If so, I didn't get it.”

“There’s an excuse for you. You weren’t entertained there.”

“You mean all that manly type furmiture, and the athletic
equipment and so forth? Coverups?”

Ellery smiled faintly, ‘“They were coverups mn Marsh’s
case, certainly, but hardly clues, or society would really have
a problem! No, it was a clue like a sequoia—so tall and broad
I missed 1t entirely. His music library—more Tchaikovsky and
Beethoven than anyone else. His rare and first editions—
Proust, Melville, Chris Marlowe, Gide, Verlame, Henry James,
Wilde, Rimbaud, Walt Whitman His art books—chiefly da
Vine: and Michelangelo. The busts he had on display—
Alexander the Great, Plato, Socrates, Lawrence of Arabia,
Virgil, Julius Caesar, Catullus, Horace, Frederick the Great,
von Humboldt, Lord Kitchener.” t

“So what?” his father said, bewildered.

“You Victorian mnocent!” All those historic gentlemen
had, or are reputed to have had, one thing in common . .,
along with Aubrey alias Al Marsh.”

The Inspector was silent. Then he said feebly, “Julius
Caesar? I didn’t know 1t about him ”

“We don’t know it about most. An Englishman named
Bryan Magee wrote a book a few years ago that he called
One in Twenty In it he makes the statement that the idea
that deviates can necessarily be recognized as such is a myth.
The overwhelming majority of them, of both sexes, Magee
says—and he did a vast job of research in preparation for
two TV documentaries he presented on the subject—are out-
wardly indistinguishable from normally sexed people. It can
be anybody—the brawny fellow working beside you in the
office, your bartender, the guy next door, the friend you play
_ bridge with every Thursday might, the cop on your beat, or

your mousy Cousin Horace One in twenty, dad—that’s the
current statistic And that figure may be far too conservative
Kinsey claimed it was one in ten . Anyway, there it was,
the clue in Marsh’s living room. Staring me in the mandibles.
Like the figleafless David he enshrined m his bedroom, eight
feet tall and naked as the day Michelangelo lovingly made the

original I can’t say I'm proud of my role n this caper
dad And not only for that reason.” pes

“You mean there was another clue, too?”
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“Clue is hardly the word It was—excuse the pun—almost
a dead giveaway. Johnny told me who’d done it ”

“Told you?” Inspector Queen scratched his mustache
angrily “Told you, Ellery? How? When?”’ .

“As he was dymg When he came to from the beating,
after Marsh left him for dead, Johnny realized he had only
a short time to live In those last few moments preceding
death he experienced one of those infinities of clarity, when
time stretches beyond its ordmary limits and the dying brain
performs prodigies of thought in what we three-dimensional
air-breathers call seconds ,

“He knew there were no writing materials handy—you’ll
recall you and I searched when we got there and failed to
find any Yet he wanted desperately to let us know who had
attacked him, and why. So he managed somehow to use the
extension phone to the cottage ”

Ellery frowned into the past “Johnny knew my first ques-
tion—anyone’s first question under the circumstances—would
be who did it? But n that timeless flash of brilliance, as he
was groping for the phone, he found himself 1n a fantastic
situation ”

“Fantastic situation?” The Inspector frowned mto the
present. “What do you mean?”

“What I mean 13,” Ellery said, “how could he tell me who
had murdered him?”

“How could he tell you? What are you talkmg about,
Ellery? All he had to do was say the killer’s name ”

::ﬁlll”nght,” Ellery said “Say it ”

“Oh, but that could have been an uncompleted attempt to
say ‘Alice” How would we have known 1t wasn’t?”

“Oh,” the Inspector said “Well, then Marsh ”

“Could have been the unfinished start of ‘Marcia *»

The old man began to look mmterested *“I see what you

mean! . .  Then Marsh’s christening name, Aubrey Youd
have understood that ”

“Would 1, dad? In light of Johnny’s speech impediment?
How could I ever hav

How coul e been sure he hadn’t meant to say
‘Audrey’?’

“Huh” The Inspector thought deeply “Huh!” he said
“Funny problem, at that .  How about the word ‘lawyer’?
No possible mixup there Marsh was the only lawyer Benedict
could have meant

“Johnny was probably thinking in terms of names only
But assuming he thought of ‘lawyer,” see what a bind he
found himself in. He was intending to marry Laura, a girl he
loved, her name was 1n the will he’d given you to put 1 your
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pocket. If he said ‘lawyer,” we might have mistaken the word
for the name—‘lawyer’ for ‘Laura’! Remember, he had great
difficulty pronouncing the letter » Between the impediment
and his dying diction, it was too great a sk to take ”

“Then the word ‘attorney’!”

“Might have sounded like ‘Tierney,” ” Ellery said, “because
of the same difficulty with his r’s.” He shook his head “An
extraordmary situation that wouldn't occur once m a million
cases But it did in this one ”

“Wait—a—minute,” the Inspector articulated “Hold your
horses, Professor! There’s one thing Benedict could have said
that you wouldn’t—you couldn’t—have misunderstood Same
as if he’d put his finger on Marsh in front of witnesses! Marsh
was the only man besides himself in the house—all the rest
were women Why didn’t Benedict simply say the word ‘man’
and take the chance you’d understand he meant Marsh?”

“Just what I asked myself, dad But he didn’t, and naturally
I wondered why Of course, he might not have thought of it
But suppose he had? The possibility raised a fascmating line
of speculation. If he thought of saying ‘man’ and rejected it
in those endless few seconds, then—as in the case of the
names—there must have been a basis for similar confusion—"

“But no name in the case sounded like ‘man,’ ” the Inspector
objected.

“Yes, but did we know all the names in the case? We did
not. There was one conspicuous omission We didn’t know
Laura’s last name! That what suggested to me that Laura’s
surname might be M-a-n-n or might begmm with M-a-n or
M-a-double n—Manners, Mannheimer, something like that
It turned out to be Manzoni That must have been, then, why
Johnny didn’t say it. He was afraid that, if he could get out
only the first syllable before he died or became unconscious,
we’'d believe—when we discovered Laura’s family name—that
he’d been accusing her of killing him ”

The old man was shaking his head. “I never heard any-
think Iike this in my whole hife! But Ellery, you said Benedict
did identify his killer to you. The old dymng-message thing
you’re so crazy about ”

“Could it be premature senilty?” Ellery made a face “At
the time I didn’t even realize it was a dying message! And
then I dismussed it from my alleged mind Dad, what was it

Johnny said to
brapend him?"me over the phone when I asked hum who had

“He said som
thing hike that,”

“It wasn’t stupid, and he didn
uttered the one gwi'd,

e stupid thing Iike he was home, or some-

5 ; t say fie was home He
home.’ In fact, he repeated it three
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times. I thought he meant he was calling from home, that 1s,
from the mam house, 1n his muddled dymng condition answer-
ing a “who’ question with a ‘where’ answer. I should have
taken into account at least the possibihty that when I asked
‘who’ he’d answered ‘who ’ ”

“Who—Home’? ‘Home’ isn’t a who, Ellery. Unless it was
somebody’s name But there wasn’t anybody named—" The
Inspector looked startled “He didn’t finish,” he said slowly
“It was a longer word—begimmng with ‘home ’”

“Yes,” Ellery said, muffled, out of a well of self-disgust
“If Johnny had finished the word, or I’d had the mother wit
I was presumably born with—we’d have solved the mystery of
this case actually before the victim drew his last breath.”

“Then, Ellery, what Benedict meant to say was the word—"
“Homosexual.”






